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A206

Landmarks Preservation Comission
March 19, 1974, Number 3

Park West, Borough of Manhattan. Built 1896-97; architects Brunner § Tryon.

Landmark Site: Borough of Manhattan Tax Map Block 13122, Lot 36 in part, con-
sisting of the land on which the described building is situated. b

On November 27, 1973, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public
hearing on the proposed d351gnat10n as a Landmark of Congregaticn Shearith Israel
(the Spanish and Portuguese Synogogue) and the proposed designation of the related
Landmark Site (Item No. 4). The hearing had been duly advertised in accordance * .
with the provisions of law. One witness spcke in faver of designation. There
were no speakers in opposition to designation. Congregation Shearith Israel has
indicated its support of the proposed designation of its main bullding. It
opposed the designation of its Parsonage building next to the main building,

and the Commission has decided not to consider the Parsonage for designation,

&
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COMNGREGATION SHEARITH ISRAEL (the Spanish and Portuguess Synagogue), 99 Central ~
A
<
L,

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

The synagogue of the Congregation Shearith Israel was bhuilt in 1896-97 from
plans by the architectural firm of Brunner & Tryon. This masonry building,
referred to as the Spanish and Portuguese Synagogue, is the fourth synagogue
erected by the Congregation since 1729. The first building, located on what is
today South William Street, provided a permanent house of worship for the Jewish
Settlers who had been mecting tosether for nearly a hundred years. Prior to the
erection of the present building, the Congregation had built two other synagogues;
one at 56 Crosby Street in 1833-34 and another at 5 West 19th Street in 1859-50.

The synagogue architects, Arnold ¥. Brunner and Thomas Tryon, had also
designed the Chemistry Bullding of New York City College, among other importont
projects. This synagogue is a striking example of the ménumental neo-Glassical
style,popular at the turn of the century for public and ecclesiastical architec-
ture. The imposing front facade facing Central Park West iIs composed of four
large, engaged Composite columns that embrace three round-arched operings,
enclosed by elaborate bronzie gates, and three round-arched windows with balus-
trades. The openings, which produce the effect of 2 loggia, lead into a porch
containing the two primary entrances which are located at either side. The front
columns are surmounted by an entablature with a modillioned cornice, which is
also found above the two smooth ashlar surfaces flanking this central area.

Above the entablature 1s a high attic with smooth-faced pilasters, positioned
to correspond with the columns. They enframe panels with classical wreath
notifs and support a handsome low pediment with foliate detail in the tyapanum,
crowned by the conventional anthemion-shaped acroteria.

The 70th Street facade has ond pavilions, the easternmost of which forms a
part of the main massing of the trront, further unificd by the continuation of the
front entablature along this side and the paneled attic treatment above the two
pavilions, The recessed centrzl portion has three large arched windows separated
by Compusite pilasters and is crowned by a handsome balustrade. The end pavilion
nearest Central Park West is pierced by two windows; a square-headed window with
projecting cornice and a window above it of similar proportion surmounted by
swags and a pediment. An identical window with pedimented enframement appears
above the side entrance at the rear pavilion. This 70th Street entrance is
composed of large double doors and a transom with a handscme grille surmounted
by a full entablature with foliate consoles.
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FINDINGS AND DESIGNATIONS

On the basis of a careful considerztion of the history, the architecture
and other features of this building, the Landmarks Preservation Commission finds
that the Congregation Shearith Israel has a special character, special historical
and aesthetic interest and value as part of the development, heritage and cultur-
al characteristics of New York City.

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, thj1
synagogue of the Congregation Shearith Israel is a handsome example of th
monumental neo-Classical style of architecture popular at the turn of the .
century, that it is a distinpguishing feature of the Central Park West street-
scape and that it symbolizes the three centuries of religiocus activity of the
Congregation. :

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 63 of the Charter of the
City of New York and Chapter B-A of the Administrative Code of the City of New
York, the Landmarks Preservation Commission designates as a Landmark the Congre-
gation Shearith Israel, 99 Central Park West, Borough of Manhattan and designates
as its related Landmark Site that part of Borough of Manhattan Tax Map Block 1122,
Lot 36 which contains the land on which the described building is situated.
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Avermle [North Side]

1-7 West 70th Street

Tax Map Block/iot: 1123/29
See:; 101 Central Park West

9, 11, 15, 17, 19, 21 West 70th Street

Tax Map Block/Lots: 1123/26, 25, 24, 123, 23, 22
CRIGINATL, ROW DATA

DATE; 1893-94 [NB 295-1893)

TYPE: Rowhouses (6 of 6)

ARCHTTECT: Thom & Wilson

CWNER/DEVELOPER: Michael Brennan

STYIE/ORNAMENT: Renaissance Revival

ROW CONFIGURATION: ABCC'CB

Facade(s): Brick and stone

Number of Stories: 4 with basement

Window Type/Material: One-cver-one double-hung/Wood

Basement Type: Raised

Stoop Type: Bow

Methcd of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

ALTERATION (s)

No. 9 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 11 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 17 West 70th Street

First two stories stripped.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 19 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Avenue [North Side]

23, 25, 27, 29, 31 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1123/21, 20, 19, 118, 18

ORIGINAL ROW DATA
DATE: 1891-92 [NB 1483-1891}
TYPE: Rowhouses (5 of 5)
ARCHITECT: Gilbert A. Schellenger
OWNER/DEVELCPER: Jchn D. Taylor
STYIE/ORNZMENT: Renaissance Revival
ROW CONFIGURATION: APRAPA
Facade(s): Brownstone
Nurber of Stories: 4 with basement
Window Type/Material: One-over-one double-hung/Wood
Basement Type: Raised
Stoop Type: Box
Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

ALTERATION(S)

No. 25 West 70th street

Facade stripped/resurfaced.

No. 27 wWest 70th Street

Ground story resurfaced.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 29 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 31 West 70th Street

Stocp removed; basement entrance created.
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Colunkus Avenue [North sSide]

33, 35, 37, 39, 41 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1123/17, 16, 15, 114, 14

ORIGINAL ROW DATA
DATE: 189192 (N8 1192-1891]
TYPE: Rowhcuses (5 of &)
ARCHITECT: Gilbert A. Schellerger
OWNER/DEVELOPER: John & George Ruddell
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Renaissance Revival
ROW CONFIGURATION: ARARA
Facade(s): Brownstone
Number of Stories: 4 with basement
Window Type/Material: One-over-cne double-hung/Wood
Basement Type: Raised
Stoop Type: Straight and box
Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

ALTERATION (s)

No. 41 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

43, 45, 47, 49, 51 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iots: 1123713, 12, 111, 11, 10

ORIGINAL ROW DATA
DATE: 1890-91 [NB 1851-1890]
TYPE: Rowhouses (5 of 5)
ARCHITECT: Gilbert A. Schellenger
OWNER/DEVELOPER: George Ruddell
STYLE/CRNAMENT: Renaissance Revival with Romanesque Revival elements

ROW CONFIGURATTION: ABABA
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WEST 70Tt STREET

Between Central Park West and Columbus Avenue [North Side)

43, 45, 47, 49, 51 West 70th Stareet
Tax Map Block/Iots: 1123/13, 12, 111, 11, 10

ORIGINAL ROW DATA (continued)

Facade(s): Brownstone
Number of Stories: 4 with basement

Window Type/Material: COne—over-one double-hung/Wood

Basement Type! Raised
Stoop Type: Straight and box

Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

ALTERATION (s)

No. 43 West 70th Strest

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 51 West 70th Street

Stocp removed; basement entrance created.

53, 55 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iots: 1123/9, 8

CRIGINAL ROW DATA
DATE: 1890-81 [NB 1257-1890]
TYPE: Rovhouses (2 of 2)
ARCHITECT: Charles Buek & Co.
CWNER/DEVELOPER: Charles Buek & Co.
STYIE/ORNAMENT: Renaissance Revival
ROW CONFYGURATION: Mirror image

Facade(s): Brownstone
Number of Stories: 4 with basement

Window Type/Material: One-over-one double-hurg/Wocd

Basement Type: Ralsed
Stoop Type: Unknown

Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

224
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Avenue {North Side]

53, 55 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1123/9, 8

ALTERATION (s)

No. 53 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created, ornament stripped.
1959: Alt 1258-1959 [Source: Alteration Application]
Architect — ¥Frank S. 1i
Owners -~ Samuel Pugatch & Benjamin Hackel

Cornice removed.

Projecting bay extended and joined with No. 55; facade
resurfaced amd ground story refaced.

No. 55 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created, ornmament stripped.
1959: Alt 1259-1959 [Scurce: Alteration Application)
Architect -- Frank S. Lindgren
Owners — Samuel Pugatch & Benjamin Hackel

Cornice removed.

Projecting bay extended and joined with No. 53; facade
resurfaced and ground story refaced.

57, 59, 61, 63 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iots: 1123/7, 6, 105, 5

ORIGTNAL ROW DATA
DATE: 1850-91 [NB B845-1850])
TYPE: Rowhouses (4 of 4)
ARCHITECT: Charles Buek & Co.
OWNER/DEVELOPER: Charies Buek & Co.
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Renaissance Revival with Queen Anne elements

ROW CONFIGURATION: ABAC

225
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Avenue [North Side}

57, 59, 61, 63 West 70th Street
Tax Map Black/Iots: 1123/7, 6, 105, 5

ORIGINAL ROW DATA (continued)

Facade(s): Brick, stone, and lrorwork

Nurber of Stories: 4 with basement

window Type/Material: One-over-one double-hung/Wood
Arched transoms/Wood

Basement Type: Raised

Stoop Type: Unknown

Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

ATTERATION (s)

No. 57 West 70th Street

Cornice removed. GCround story refaced, facade resurfaced,
and one transom filled in.
1959: Alt 1069-1959 [Source: Alteration Application)
Architect — Frank S. Lindgren
Owners —— Samiel Pugatch & Benjamin Hackel

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 59 West 70th Street

GCrourd story refaced.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 61 West 70th Street

Ground story refaced.
Stoop removed: basement entrance created.

No. 63 West 70th Street

Stoop removed: bascement entrance ¢reated.
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Fark West and Columbus Avenue [North Side)

65 West 70th Street

Tax Map Block/Iot: 1123/1
Seg: 221-223 Columbus Avenue

WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Avenue (South Side]

2~4 West 70th Streect

Tax Map Block/Iot: 1122/36
See: 99 Central Park West

8 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1122/37 in part

ORIGINAL BUILDING DATA
BUTIDING NAME(s): Polonies Talmud Torah School
DATE: 1949 {NB 160-1949)
TYPE: School
ARCHMITECT: FKahn & Jaccbhs
CGWNER/DEVELOFER: Trustees of Cong. Shearith Israel
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Modern
Facade(s): Stone
Number of Stories: 4
Window Type/Material: Two-over-two/Steel
Methed of Construction: Steel frame construction

Fireproof
Site formerly occupied by: Two five-story brick-fronted rowhouses

227
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Avenue [{South Side}

8 West 70th Street

Tax Map Block/ILot: 1122/37 in part
ALTERATION (s)

Cast-stone facade installed.

1953: Alt 679-1953 [Source: Alteration Application]
Architect — Cole & Liebman Owner —— Congregation Shearith Israel

10 West 70th Street
Tex Map Block/Iot: 1122/37 in part
DATE: 1970
VACANT ICT
Site formerly occupied by: One rowhouse
ATTERATION(sS)
One rowhouse demolished {NB 351-92, Buchman & Deisler)
1970: Demo 467-1970 [Scurce: Demolition Application)

Owner —— Congregation Shearith Israel Wrecker — Demex Corp.
Demolition

12-18 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1122/40
CRIGINAL BUIIDING DATA
DATE: 1926 [NB 590-1%25]
TYPE: Apartment Building
ARCHTTECT: George F. Pelham
OWNER/DEVEIOPER: 16 West 70th Street Corp.
STYIE/ORNAMENT: Neo-Renaissance with neo-Romanesgue elements

228
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Coclumbus Avenue [South Side]

12-18 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1122/40

ORIGINAL: BUIIDING DATA (continued)

Facade(s): Brick and limestone

Number of Stories: 9

Window Type/Material: Six—over-six double-hungg/Wood

Method of Construction: Steel frame construction
Fireproof

000780

Site formerly occupied by: Four stone-fromted rowhouses of four stories with

basements

20 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iot: 1122/43

ORIGINAL BUILDING DATA
DATE: 1892 [NB 351-1892)
TYFE: Rowhouse (1 of 6}
ARCHITECT: Buchman & Deisler
OWNER/DEVELOPER: Mary A. Colleran
STYLE/CRNAMENT: Renaissance Revival
Facade(s): Brownstone
Murber of Stories: 4 with basement
Window Type/Material: One-over-one double-hurxg/Wood
Basement Type: Raised
Stoop Type: Unknewn
Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

ALTERATION(s)

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Avenue [South Side)

22, 24, 26, 28 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1122/44, 45, 145, 46

ORIGINAL ROW DATA
DATE: 1892 [NB 736-1852]
TYPE: Rowhouses (4 of 4)
ARCHITECT: Them & Wilson
OWNER/DEVELOPER: Bernard Kavanagh
STYIF/ORNAMENT: Renaissance Revival with Romanesgue elements
ROW COONFTIGURATION: AEBBA
Facade(s): Brownstone
Number of Stories: ¢ with basement
Window Type/Material: One-over-one double-hung/Wood
Basement Type: Ralsed
Stocp Type: Box ard straight
Roof Type/Material: Flat and pitched/Tin and slate
Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls
ALTERATTON(s)

No. 26 West 70th Street

Basement and parlor stories stripped/resurfaced, cornice amd
pitched roof removed, and one fourth-story window filled in.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

230
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Avenue [South Side]

30-36 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iot: 1122/47

CRIGINAI, BUILDING DATA

%

1916 [NB 15-1916]

TYPE: Apartment Building

ARCHTITECT: Schwartz & Gross

OWNER/DEVELOPER: Jullus Fishman & Sons, Inc.

STYLE/ORNAMENT: Neo—-Renalssance

Facade(s): Prick, stone, and terra cotta

Number of Stories: 9

Window Type/Materlal: Paired nine-over-nine deuble-hung/Wood
Tripartite nine-over-nine/Wood
(with six-over-six sidelights)

Method of Construction: Steel frame construction

Fireproof
Site formerly occupied by: Four brick-fronted rowhouses of four stories with
basements

38 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iot: 1122/50

ORIGINAL BUIIDING DATA
DATE: 1888-89 [NB 1397-1888]
TYPE: Rowhouse (1 of 5)
ARCHITECT: Charles W. Clinton
CWNER/DEVELOPER: Addraetta Goodwin

STYLE/ORNAMENT: Renaissance/Romanesqgue Revival

231
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Avenue [South Side]

38 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1122/50

ORIGINAL BUTIDING DATA (continued)

Facade{s): Brick and stone

Nurber of Stories: 4 with basement

window Type/Material: One-over-one double-hung/Wood
Ieaded~glass transoms/Wood

Basement Type: Raised

Stoop Type: Box

Roof Type/Material: Gabled & pitched/Tile

Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

40, 42, 44, 46, 48, S0, 52, 54, 56, 58 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/lots: 1122/51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 157, 58, 59

ORIGINAL ROW DATA
DATE: 1891-92 [NB 937-1891)
TYPE: Rowhouses (10 of 10}
ARCHITECT: Thom & wilson
CWNER/DEVEIOPER: J.T. & J.A. Farley
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Renaissance Revival with Neo-Grec elements
ROW CONFIGURATION: ABRABABABAR
Facade(s): Brick and stone
Nunber of Stories:; 4 with basement
window Type/Material: One~over-cne double-hung/Wood
Basement Type: Raised
Stoop Type: Straight and boxed
Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls
ATTERATION (=)

No. 40 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; bhasement entrance created.

No. 54 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basament entrance created.,

232
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park west and Columbus Averue [South Sidel

40, 42, 44, 46, 48, 50, 52, 54, 56, 58 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1122/51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 157, 58, 59

AITERATICN(s) continued

No. 56 West 70th Street

Groungd story refaced.
Stoop removed; baseament entrance created.

No. 58 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

60, 62, 64 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1122/60, 160, 61

ORIGINAL RCOW DATA
DATE: 1886-89 [NB 904-1886]
TYPE: Rowhouses (3 of 3)
ARCHITECT: Hubert & Pirssch
CWNER/DEVEIOFER: Sarah J. Doying
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Queen Anne
ROW QONFIGURATION: ABA
Facade(s): Brick, stone and iromwork
Murber of Stories: 4 with basement
Window Type/Material: One-over-one double-hurxy/Wood
Basement. Type: Raised
Stoop Type: Unknown
Roof Type/Material: Pitched and gabled/Slate
Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

ALTERATTON(S)

No. 60 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 62 West 70th Street

Stoop removed: basement entrance created.
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Averue [South Side]

60, 62, 64 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1122/60, 160, 61

ALTERATION(s) continued

No. 64 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entranhce created.

68 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1122/62
See: 219 Columbus Avernue

WEST 70TH STREET
Betweah Columbus Averme and Broadway [North Side}

101 West 70th Strect

Tax Map Block/Iot: 1142/32
See: 220-228 Columbus Avenue

103, 105, 107, 109 West 70th Street

Tax Map Block/Iots: 1142/31, 30, 129, 29
ORIGINAL ROW DATA

DATE: 1885=-86 [NB 1186-1885)

TYPE: Rowhouses (4 of 4)

ARCHMITECT: Thom & Wilson

G@ER/DEVELOPER: John Farley & Son

STYLE/ORNAMENT: Queen Amne/Renaissance Revival

FOW QONFIGURATION: ABBC

Facade(s): Brownstone

Number of Stories: 4 with basement

Window Type/Material: One-over-one double—hung/Wood

Basement Type: Raised

Stoop Type: Unknown
Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Columbus Avernue and Broadway [North Side]

103, 105, 107, 109 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1142/31, 30, 129, 29

ATTERATION(S)

No. 103 West 70th Street

First two stories extended to building line; storefront installed.
No. 105 West 7Cth Street

Ground story resurfaced.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 107 West 70th Street

Ground story resurfaced.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 109 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

111, 113 West 70th Streest
Tax Map Block/ILots: 1142/28, 27

ORIGINAL ROW DATA

5

1885 [NB 593-1885]

TYPE: Rowhouses (2 of 4)

ARCHITECT: Gilbert A. Schellenger

OWNER/DEVEIOPER: George C. Edgar & Son
STYIE/ORNAMENT: Renaissance Revival

POW OONFIGURATION: AR

Facade(s): Brownstone

Number of Stories: 4 with basement

Window Type/Material: One-over-one double-~hung/Wood
Basement Type: Raised

Stocp Type: UnKknown
Method of Constructicn: Masonry bearing walls

235



Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003 ~ 000787
www.protectwest70.org

WEST 70TH STREET
Between Columbus Averne and Broadway [North Side)

111, 113 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iots: 1142/28, 27

ALTERATION(s)

No. 111 West 70th Street

Ground story partially stripped/resurfaced.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 113 West 70th Street

First two stories partially stripped/resurfaced.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

115-~123 West 70th Streest
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1142/24

ORIGINAL BUIIDTNG DATA
BUIIDING NAME(s): The Stratford Arms
DATE: 1928 [NB 414-1927]
TYPE: Hotel
ARCHITECT: C. Howard Crane & ASSOCS.
CWNER/DEVELOPER: N.C.H. Security Co.
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Neo-Renaissance with Gothic elements
Facade(s): Brick, stone, and terra cotta
Number of Stories: 10
Window Type/Material: Six-over-six double-~hung/Wood
Two—over-two double—hung/Wood
Method of Construction: Steel frame construction

Site formerly occupied by: Five stone-fronted rowhouses of four stories with
basements
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Columbus Aveénue ard Broadway [North Side]

125, 127 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1142/23, 22

CRIGINAL RCW DATA
DATE: 1886 [NB 222-1886]
TYPE: Rowhouses (2 of 5)
ARCHITECT: Gilbert A. Schellenger
CWNER/DEVELOPER: George C. Edgar & Son
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Renaissance Revival
ROW CONFIGURATION: AB
Facade(s): Brownstone and iromork
Number of Stories: 4 with basement
Window Type/Material: One-over-one double-hung/Wood
Basement Type: Raised
Stoop Type: Unknown
Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

ALTERATTON (S)

No. 125 West 70th Street

Ground story refaced.
Stoop removed: basement entrance created.

No. 127 West 70th Street

Ground story refaced.
Stoop removed: basement entrance created.
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Columbus Avenue and Broadway [North Side)

129, 131, 133 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iots: 1142/21, 120, 20

ORIGINAL ROW DATA
CATE: 1884-86 [NB 600-13884]
TYPE: Rowhouses {3 of 8)
ARCHTITECT: Thom & Wilscon
OWNER/DEVEIOPER: George W. Hamilton
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Queen Anne with Neo—Grec clements
ROW CONFIGURATION: ABB
Facade(s): Brownstone
Nurber of Stories: 4 with basement
Window Type/Material: One—over-one double-hung/Wood
Basement Type: Raised
Stoop Type: Straight
Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls
ALTERATION (s)

No. 131 West 70th Street

Stocp removed: basement entrance created.

No. 132 West 70th Street

Building raised one story and mansard roof added.
1902: Alt 1142-1902 [Source: Alteration Application]
Architect -- Ross & Mcheil Owner — Iafflin L. Kellogy
Former entrance at parlor story sealed, area resurfaced.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.
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WEST 70TH STREET ,
Between Colunbus Avenue and Broadway [North Side]

135-145 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iots: 1142/1001-1087

ORIGINAL BUILDING DATA

BUTIDING NAME(s): (former} Pythian Temple

DATE: 1926-27 [NB 204-1926)

TYPE: Club Building

ARCHITECT: Thomas White Lamb

OWNER/DEVEIOPER: Pythian Temple Association

STYLE/ORNAMENT: Exotic/Neo-Babylenian

Facade(s): Stone, brick, and terra cotta

Number of Stories: 8

Window Type/Material: Multipane/Steel

Method of Construction: Steel frame construction
Fireproof

Site formerly occupied by: 8ix four-story rowhouses

ALTERATION(S)
Building converted to apartment building; windows cut into facade, terra
cotta removed.

1979: Alt 1311-1979 [Source: Alteration Application)
Architect —- David Gura
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Columbus Averme and Amsterdam Avemue [North Side]

147-153 West 70th Street

Tax Map Block/Lot: 1142/61
See: 146-150 West 71st Strest

155-157 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1142/1
See: 2040-2052 Broadway

WEST 70TH STREET
Between Columbus Averue and Amsterdam Avenue [Scuth Sided.

100~106 West 70th Street

Tax Map Block/Iots: 1141/1001-1084
See: 210-216 Columbus Averile

112-116 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iot: 1141/37

CRIGIMAL BUIIIDING DATA
DATE: 1922 [NB 44-1922]
TYPE: Apartment Building
ARCHITECT: Sommerfeld & Steckler
OWNER/DEVEIOPER: 114 West 70th Street Corp.
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Neo—-Renaissance
Facade(s): Brick, stone, anxi terra cotta
Nunber of Stories: 8 with basement
Window Type/Material: Paired six~over-six double-hung/Wood
Method of Construction: Steel frame construction

Fireproof
Site formerly cccupied by: Three rowhouses of four stories with basements
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Columbus Avernue and Broadway [South Side]

118-126 West 70th Strest
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1141/3%8

ORIGINAL, BUIIDING DATA
DATE: 1917 [NB 429-1916)
TYPE: Apartment Bailding
ARCHITECT: Rouse & Goldstone
OWNER/DEVELOFPER: Brixton Realty Corp.
STYIE/ORNAMENT: Neo—Georgian
Facade(s): Brick, stone, and terra cotta
Number of Stories: 8 with basement
Window Type/Material: Paired six-over-six double-hung/Wood
Four—over-four double-hung/Wood
Method of Construction: Steel frame construction
Fireproof
Site formerly occupied by: Five rowhouses of four stories with basements
ALTERATTON (s)
Parapet wall and peortions of facade repointed.
128, 130, 132, 134, 136, 138, 140 & 142 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/lots: 1141/43, 44, 144, 45, 46, 47, 48
ORIGINAL ROW DATA
DATE: 1881-83 [NB 953-1881])
TYPE: Rowhouses (8 of 16)
ARCHITECT: Charles H. Lindsley
OWNER/DEVELQOPER: Charles H. Lindsley
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Neo-Grec/Queen Anne

ROW CONFIGURATTON: AAA’BEEBC
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Columbus Averue and Broadway [South Side)

128, 130, 132, 134, 136, 138, 140 & 142 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1141/43, 44, 144, 45, 46, 47, 48

ORIGINAL ROW DATA (continued)

Facade(s): Brownstone and brick

Nurber of Stories: 4 with basement

Window Type/Material: One-over-one double-hung/Wood
Basement Type: Raised

Stoop Type: Straight

Roof Type/Material: Mansard and flat/Slate and tin
Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

ALTERATION (S)

No. 134 West 70th Street

Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 136 West 70th Street

Lintels resurfaced.

NMo. 138 West 70th Street

Lintels resurfaced.
Parlor-story ornament stripped.
Stoop removed:; basement entrance created.

No. 140 West 70th Street

Facade partially stripped/resurfaced.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.

No. 142 West 70th Street

Cornice removed, facade partially stripped/resurfaced.
Stoop removed; basement entrance created.
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WEST 70TH STREET
Between Columbus Avernue and Broadway [South Side)

144, 146, 148 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Lots: 1141/49, 149, 50

ORIGINAL RCOW DATA
DATE: 1888-89 [NB 31-1888]
TYPE: Rowhouses (3 of 3)
ARCHITECT: Christian Steirmetz
OWNER/DEVELOPER: Christian Steirmetz
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Queen Anne
ROW CONFIGURATION: ABB/
Facade(s): Brownstone
Number of Stories: 4 with basement
Window Type/Material: One-over-cne double-hung/Wood
Basement Type: Raised
Stoop Type: Straigl:lt .
Methoed of Construction: Masomry bearing walls

ALTERATION (5)

No. 146 West 70th Street

Stocp remwed; basement entrance created.

150-154 West 70th Street
Tax Map Block/Iot: 1141/51
Sea; 2028-2032 Bruadway
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WEST 715T STREET
Between Central Park West and Columbus Avermie [North Side)

1-15 West 71st Street

Tax Map Block/Lot: 1124/27
See: 115 Central Park West

17-23 West 71st Street
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1124/21
ORIGINAL BUILDING DATA
DATE: 1923 [NB 607-1922)
TYPE: Apartment Building
ARCHITECT: George F. Pelham
CWNER/DEVELOPER: 17 West 71st Street, Inc.
STYIE/CRNAMENT: Neo-Renaissance
Facade(s): Brick and stone
Nurber of Stories: 9
Wirdow Type/Material: Paired six—over—che double-hung/Wood

Six-over-one double-hung/Wood
Method of Construction: Steel frame construction
Fireproof
Site formerly occupied by: Three rowhouses of four stories with basements
and one vacant lot

25 West 71st Street
Tax Map Block/Iot: 1124/20

ORIGINAL BUILDING DATA
DATE: 1890-91 {NB 636-18%0]
TYPE: Rowhouse (1 of 4)
ARCHTITECT: Cleverdon & Putzel
CWNERS/DEVELOPERS: Belle Levy and Estelle Putzel

STYLE/ORNAMENT: Renaissance Revival
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New York City Landmarks Preservation Commission

UPPER WEST SIDE/CENTRAL PARK WEST
HISTORIC DISTRICT DESIGNATION REPORT
VOLUME I: ESSAYS/ARCHITECTS’ APPENDIX
April 24, 1990
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CENTRAL PARK WEST HISTORIC DISTRICT
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N.Y.C. Landmarks Preservation Commission

UPPER WEST SIDE/CENTRAL PARK WEST
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The study of a potential historic district along Cemtral Park West and
research on the area required the participation of many people over the
corse of many years. In 1981 Comission Chairman Kent Barwick directed the
staff to begin +he process of survey and analysis of the entire Upper West
Side from 59th Street to 110th Street in order to recammend potential
landmarks and historic districts. The Urban Cultural Resources Survey and
then the Bromx-Upper Manhattan staff turmed its efforts to this area in
1981-82; many comnity residents, volunteers, and student interns
participated in this preliminary swvey and research process, which was
carried out at the same time and ocoordinated with a study of the area’s
zoning by the Manhattan office of the Department of City Planning. During
the sumer of 1982 staff member Jay Shockley was assisted by student intern
Lisa Schroeder in completing a building-by-building field survey of the
Upper West Side. Based on this survey, the Bronx-Upper Manhattan staff
(Charles Hashrouck, Bdward Mchylowski, Gina Samtucci, Jay Shockley, Marjorie
Thau, Jeremy Woodoff) made a set of recomendations to the cChairman.
Attention was at first focused on the area west of Broadway in 1983, the
first district designation keing the West End-Collegiate Historic District
in 1984. After the Comuission’s staff was reorganized in July 1984, the
Research Department (Marjorie Pearson, Anthony Robins, Janet Adams, J’amas T.
Dillon, Jay Shockley) made further recammendations which cl.\.lmmated in
public hearings and designations of landmarks and historic districts west of
Broadway and, later, hearings on individual buildings to the east. The
Comissioners began a series of field trips to and discussions on a
potential historic district in the area of the Upper West Side east of
Broadway in 1985,

In 1983 following study by the New York State Historic Preservation
Office, the Central Park West Histeoric District consisting of the buildings
facing on Central Park from 6lst to 96th Streets was listed on the Naticnal
Register of Historic Places.

The Comission wishes to thank its student interns and volunteers of
this period, among them: William Bernstein, Patra Cogan, Evelyn Costa,
Anita Jaccbson, Robert Jaeger, Jonathan Kuhn, Jeanne Martowski, Glenn
Naumowitz, Dennis Pidgeon, Thamas Reynolds, Sarah Williams and Albert Winn.

Assisting in the public hearing and public hearing/designation
notification process were Research Department staff members Marion Cleaver,
Alec Hemer, Lisa Koenigsbery, and Susan Strauss. Alex Herrera, Director of
Preservation, and laura Alaime, Deputy Director of Preservation,
participated in the study of the cammercial architecture of the district.

The Commission expresses its appreciation to the residents of the Upper
West Side who have assisted the Commission in its efforts to identify amd
designate those buildings and districts which have architectural, historic,
cultural and aesthetic significance. 'The Camiission also thanks Landmark
West!, the Historic Districts Council, the New York landmarks Conservancy,
and the New York Landmarks Preservation Faurdation for their support,
particularly Robert Nieweg of Lardmark West! who assisted in the
coordination of the photography of the district,
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ILandmarks Preservation Coomission
April 24, 1990, Designation List 224
ILP- 1647

Umper West Side/Central Park West Histaric District Poundaries

The Upper West Slde/Central Park West Historic District consists of the
property bounded by a line beginning at the southwest corner of the

intersection of Central Park West and West 96th Street, extending southerly -

aleng the western curb line of Central Park West, westerly along the
rnorthern curb line of West 62nd Street, northerly along the westemn
line of 25 Central Park West, northerly across West 63rd Street, westerly
along the northern curb line of West 63rd Street, northerly and easterly
along the western and northern property lines of 13-15 West 63rd Street,
northerly along part of the western property line of 3~11 West 63rd Street,
easterly along the scuthern curb line of West 64th Street, northerly across
West 64th Street, northerly and easterly aloryg the westerm and part of the
northern preperty lines of 41 Central Park West, northerly along the western
property line of 50 Central Park West, easterly along the southern curb
line of West 65th Street, nartherly across West 65th Street, northerly alang
the western property line of 51-53 Central Park West, westerly and northerly
along part of the socuthern and the western property lines of 55 Central Park
West, northerly across West é6th Street, westerly along the northern awb
line of West 66th Street, northerly along part of the western building line
of 8 West 67th Street, westerly along the southern property lines of 26-50
West 67th Street, northerly along the western property line of 42-50 West
67th Street, northerly across West 67th Street, westerly along the northern
curb line of West 67th Street, northerly along the western property line of
39-41 West 67th Street, westerly along part of the southern property line of
60-66 West 68th Street, westerly along the southern property lines of 68-76
West 68th Street and 171-179 Columbus Avenue, northerly along the eastern
orb lire of Columbus Avenue, northerly across West 68th Street to the
northeast corner of Columbus Avenue, westerly across Columbus Avenue,
westerly along the northern curb line of West 68th Street, northerly along
the western property lines of 180-188 Columbus Avenue, westerly along the
southern property 1lines of 108-120 West 69th Street and the irreqular
sarthern property lines of 122-128 West 69th Street and 2016-2018 Broadway
(as determined Ly the City Surveyor’s Map), northwesterly and northerly
along the eastern curb 1ine of Broadway, northerly across West 72nd Street,
northerly along the eastern curb line of Amsterdam Avenue, easterly along
the southern curb line of West 77th Street, northerly across West 77th
Street, northerly and easterly along the western and part of the nerthern
lines of 137 West 77th Street, northerly along the western property
lines of lot 148 and 136 West 78th Street, northerly across West 78th
Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 78th Street, southerly
across West 78th Street, southerly along the eastern property lines of
371-375 Amsterdam Avernie, westerly along the soathern property line of 371
Amsterdam Avenue, northerly along the eastern curb line of Amsterdam Avermie
to the southeast corner of West 79th Strest, westerly across Amsterdam
Avenue, westerly along the southern axrb line of West 79th Street, southerly
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along the eastern property line of 206 West 79th Street, westerly along the
southern property lines of 206-226 West 79th Street, northerly alony the
western property line of 226 West 79th Street, northerly across West 79th
Street, northerly along the western property line of 225 West 75th Street,
easterly along the northern property lines of 225-203 West 79th Street,
northerly along the western property lines of 410-416 Amsterdam Avenue,
northerly across West 80th Street, northerly along the western property
lines of 203 West 80th Street and 428-434 Amsterdam Avernue, northerly across
West 8lst Street, northerly along the western property lines of 440-446
Amsterdam Avenue, easterly along part of the northern property line of
444-446 Amsterdam Avenue, northerly along the western property 'lines of
448-454 Amsterdam Avenue, northerly across West 82nd Street, westerly along
the northern curb line of West 82nd Street, northerly along the western
property lines of 460-466 Amsterdam Averme, northerly alorg part of the
western property line of 208 West 83rd Street, northwesterly along part of
the scuthern property line of 208 West 83rd Street and the southern property
line of 210 West 83rd Street, northerly along the western property line of
210 West 83prd Street, easterly along the southern curb line of West 83rd
Street, northerly across West 83rd Street, northerly along the western
property lines of 480-486 Amsterdam Averme, easterly alorg part of the
northern property line of 486 Amsterdam Avenue, northerly along the western
property lines of 488-494 Amsterdam Avenue, easterly along the southern curb
line of West 84th Street, scutherly along the eastern property lines of
495-489 Amsterdam Avenue, easterly along part of the northern property line
of 487 Amsterdam Avenue, easterly along the northern property lines of
173-167 West 83rd Street, sautherly along the eastern property line of 167
West 83rd Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 83rd Street,
southerly across West 83rd Street, southerly along the eastern property line
of 471-475 Amsterdam Avenue (aka 168 West 83rd Street), southeasterly alorg
part of the northern property line of 159 West 82rnd Street and the northemn
property lines of 157-137 West 82rnd Street, northerly along part of the
western property line of 135 West 82nd Street, easterly along the northern
property lines of 135- 113 West 82rnd Street, northerly along the western
line of 120 West 83rd Strect, easterly along the scuthern amrb line
of West 83rd Street to the southeast cormer of Columbus Averme, northerly
across West 83rd Street, northerly along the eastern curb line of Columbus
Averue to the northeast corner of West 84th Street, westerly across Columbus
Avenue, westerly along the northern curb line of West 84th Street, northerly
along the western property lines of 498-504 Columbus Avenue and 102-104 West
85th Streect, northerly across West 85th Street, westerly along the northern
curb line of West 85th Street, northerly alang the eastern curb line of
Amsterdam Avenue, easterly along the northern property lines of 521-527
Amsterdam Avenue and 173-163 West 85th Street and part of the northern
property line of 159-161 West 85th Street, southerly along part of the
eastern property line of 159-161 West 85th Street, easterly along part of
the northern property line of 159-161 West 85th Street and the northern
property lines of 157-119 West 85th Street, northerly along the western
property line of 124 West 86th Street, northerly across West 86th Street,
westerly along the northern cmrbline of West 86th Street, northerly along
the western property line of 137 West 86th Street, westerly along part of
the southern property line of 140 West 87th Street and the sauthern p
line of 142 West 87th Street, northerly alanxg the western property line of

2

_ Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003

000805



Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003 000806

www.protectwest70.org

142 West 87th Street, northerly across West 87th Street, westerly alorng the
northern curb line of West 87th Street, northerly and westerly along the
western and northern property lines of 169 West 87th Street, northerly along
the western property line of 166 West 88th Street, northerly across West
88th Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 88th Street,
northerly along the western property line of 177 West 88th Street, easterly
along the northern property lines of 177-103 West 88th Street, southerly
along the eastern property line of 103 West 88th Street, southerly across
West 88th Street, easterly along the southern curb line of West 88th Street
and continuing easterly after crossing Columbus Avemie, northerly across
West 88th Street, northerly along the western property line of 61 West 88th—
Street, westerly along part of the southern property line of 64 West 89th
Street, westerly and northerly along the southern and western property lines
of 66 West 89th Street, northerly across West 89th Street, westerly along
the northern curb line of West 89th Street, northerly along the western
property line of 71 West 89th Street, easterly along the northern property
lines of 71-65 West 89th Streect and part of the northern property line of 63
West 89th Street, northerly along the western property line of 52 West g9oth
Street, northerly across West 90th Street, westerly alorxy the northern curb
line of West soth Street, northerly and easterly along the western and part
of the northern property lines of 63 West 90th Street, northerly along the
western property line of 70 West glst Street, easterly along the southemn
anrb line of West 9lst Street, northerly across West 91st Street, northerly
along the western property line of 315 Central Park West, westerly ard
northerly along part of the southern arnd the western property lines of 320
Central Park West, northerly across West 92nd Strect, westerly along the
northern curd line of West 92nd Street, northerly along the western property
line of 49 West 92nd Street, easterly along the northern property lines of
49-35 West 92nd Street, northerly along part of the western property line of
4-36 West 93rd Street (aka 3-33 West 92nd Street), easterly along the
southern curb line of West 93rd Street, northerly across West 93rd Street,
northerly alorxy the westerm property line of 333 Central Park West, westerly
along part of the southern property line 336 Central Park West and the
southern property lines of 20-54 West 94th Street, northerly along the
western property line of 54 West 94th Street, northerly across West 94th
Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 94th Street, northerly
and easterly along the western and part of the northern property lines of 59
West 94th Street, northerly along the western property line of 46-50 West
95th Street, easterly along the southern curb line of West 95th Street,
northerly across West 95th Street, northerly along the western property
lines of 51 West 95th Street and 46-48 West 96th Street, easterly along the
southern curb line of West 96th Strest to the point of beginning.
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Testimony at the public Hearing

On Jarmuary 12-13, 1988, the landmarks Preservation Cammission held a
public hearing on the proposed designation of this historic district (Item
No. 1). The hearing, duly advertised in accordance with the provisions of
law, was held at the Universalist Church, Central Park West and West 76th
Street, and lasted from 10:45 a.m. to 1:17 a.m. One hundred twenty-four
pecple offered testimony; ninety-four spoke in favor of designation, ard
thirty spoke in opposition to the designation of the district in whole or in

part. The Commission has received over 350 letters expressing support for:

the district, approximately two dozen against, ard several expressing
uncertainty.

The Comnission voted to designate the district the day Ilaurie
Beckelman‘’s appointment to the Commission was affirmed by the City Council.
The vote was taken before she took her place on the Commission.
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JNTRODUCTION

The Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, encompassing
same 2000 buildings, extends from 62nd Street to 96th Street alang Central
Park West, from €8th Street to 88th Street along Columbus Avenue, from 69th
Street to 72rd Street along Brdadway, from 72rd Street to 84th Street and
the northeast corner of 85th Street along Amsterdam, and includes side
street blocks comnecting the avemues and portions of two 79th Street
blockfronts west of Amsterdam Avenue. Central Park West with its high wall--
of buildings and dramatic skyline facing Central Park West forms a regular
edge at the eastern bourdary. The lower portion of Amsterdam Averme and
Broadway, also with high walls of buildings, form a similar regular edge at
the western boundary.

The district evokes the distinctive qualities of the Upper West Side,
fram its powerful iconography of twin towers along Central Park West to its
active commerce along Columbus Avenue to its residential side streets. The
initial development of the neighborhood reflects a concentrated boam in the
city’s expansion, supported by transportation improvements on the avenues.
Although later construction, particularly in the 1920s and 1930s, replaced
same of the original buildings, it has enhanced the vibrant quality of the
Upper West Side both socially and architecturally.

The district is defined by its large concentration of architecturally
distinctive ard high quality buildings which characterize the development of
the Upper West Side east of Broadway over a fifty year period from the 1880s
to the 1930s. The district encompasses a nurber of residential building
types, as well as related institutional arnd comercial buildings. The
complex historical and architectural interrelationship among these buildings
is one of the factors which helps to define the character of the district.
Speculatively-built three-, four-, and five-story rowhouses, designed as
harmonious , were constructed within a relatively short span of years
(1880-1910) I that ended in the first decade of the twentieth century. These
rowhouses, the predominant residential building type in the district, are
located on the side streets throughout the district and survive in isolated
groups on Cemntral Park West and the cross streets of West 72rd, West 79th,
and West 86th Streets. Contemporanecus with the rowhouses are five- amd
six-story nec-Grec and Romanesque Revival style tenements amd flats building
which are predominantly located on Columbus and Amsterdam Avermues. Many
were built in comjunction with side street rowhouses, anxd are related to the
rowhouses in height, scale, material, and architechural detail. Somewhat
taller eight to twelve-story apartment hotels and studio buildings, fournd on
both avermes and the streets, began to be built in the 18%0s. Iarger
twelve- to seventeen-story apartment buildings, which are particularly
prevalent along Central Park West and the major cross streets, were
constructed during two phases, before and after World War I. These were

13 few rowhouses were constructed in the early 1870s, prior to the
Panic of 1873.
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designed by a number of prominent architects, among them Rosario Candela,
Mulliken & Moeller, Neville & Bagge, George F. Pelham, and Schwartz & Gross.
Many of the multiple dwellings, particularly the tenements, flats, amd
apartment hotels, were designed with commercial space at street level. A
few specially designed commercial buildings are located on the avermes and
West 72nd Street. Throughout the period of development of the district, a
variety of specialized buildings designmed by same of the city’s most
prestigious architects have been oonstricted to meet the social,
educational, and religious needs of the residents, and these complement the
residential buildings and enhance the architectural character of the area.

The development of the district was affected by several factors. Plans
for Central Park in the 1850s led to the first wave of land speculation on
the Upper West Side, particularly along Central Park West. A small flurry
of rowhouse construction which began in the early 1870s, was halted by the
financial Panic of 1873. The 1880s were the first major decade of
development in the area, signalled by the opening of the Ninth Averwe El1 in
1879 and the opening of a cable car route along Tenth Averue. Development
of both rowhouses and miltiple dwellings tended to cluster around the
stations of the El. By the end of the decade, these two building types,
vhich help define the character of the district, had been firmly
established.

The unusually long side street black which form the heart of the
district were initially built up with long rows of houses which present a
picture of the final years of rowhouse construction in Marhattan. These
rows unify the streetscapes by consistent height, setback, and overall form,
although the rows are stylistically varied and there is often a great deal
of variety in form and ornamental detail within each row, thus producing a
muttiplicity of configurations (for example, ABCDCBA). High stoops and the
earth tones of brick and brownstone facades are other qualities which unify
the rovwhauses. While over 100 architects designed rowhouses within the
district, certain of them made a major impact, including Herry J.
Hardenbergh, Neville & Bagge, Gilbert A. Schellenger, and Thom & Wilson and
the presence of their work is another unifying characteristic. The averue
ends of the side street blockfronts contain flats and tenements vhich relate
to the rowhouses in height, scale, material, and architectural detail, amd
were often designed by the same architects. In the years following World
War, apartment buildings began to interrupt rows of houses on the side
streets. The resultant eight- to ten-story buildings relate to the
rowhouses in materials and architectural details even though twice the
height of the rowhouses.

The 100-foot wide cross streets of the district, West 72nd Street, West
79th Street, and West 86th Street, are individually distinctive. Like the
side streets, the wider cross streets were initially built up with
rowhouses, often grander and more elaborate than those on the narrower side
streets. Isclated groups of these survive on all three streets. ‘The
blockfronts of West 72nd Street and West 79th Street closest to Broadway
began to be transformed for commercial use in the early years of the
twentieth century. In same Iinstances, extensions containing oommercial
storefronts were inserted inte the lower two stories of existing rowhouses
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and brought out to the huilding line. In other instances, particularly on
West 72nd Street, this trancsformation resulted in the replacement of
rawhouses by small commercial buildings or the camplete alteration of
rawhouses with new facades at the building line; both types of alteraticns
maintained the rowhouse scale. Taller apartment hotels, often ten or more
stories, were introduced in the early years of the twentieth century on the
easterly blockfronts of West 72nd Strest, West 79th Street, and along West
86th Street, as well as on the cammercial blockfronts of West 72nd Street.
On the same non-coammercial cross-street blockfronts most of the 1880s
rowhcuses were replaced by tall apartment buildings in the years following

World War I, and these buildings, in many ways similar to those found on_.

Central Park West, play an important part in defining the character of these
cross streets in the district.

Central Park West developed more slowly and unevenly than the side
streets and avemes to the west, although the Dakota (1880-84) at West 72rd
Street was the first major residential building constructed in the area.
The character of Central Park West is enhanced by such major institutional
buildings as the american Museum of Natural History and the New-York
Historical Society, bequn in the nineteenth century, as well as several
turn—of-the-centwry religious buildirgs. The Central Park West that we know
today as one of New York’s grandest residential streets was largely built in
the twentieth century, and its tall apartment buildings fall roughly inte
three stylistic categories: Beaux-Arts inspired fram the first decade of
the century and designed by such architects as Clinton & Russell, Robert T.
Iyons, and Townsernd, Steinle & Haskell:; neo-Renaissance from the 1920 and
designed by such architects as George & Edward Blum, Emery Roth, and
Schwartz & Gross; and Art Deco towers from the late 1920s and early 1930s
designed by such architects as Irwin Chanin, Emery Roth, and Schwartz &
Gross. Among the latter two categories are the highly characteristic miti-
towered uildings, all of which are designated New York City Iandmarks., The
side street facades of the Central Park West apartment buildings impact on
the side street blocks, usually displaying materials and details that are
coampatible with the rawhouses. Built over the entire development span of
the district, the stylistically diverse buildings of Central Park West
create a streetscape and a skyline which is exuberant and varied as to
scale, height, and form. Its silhouette when viewed from Central Park is a
special and unique feature of New York Clity. Incorporated within this
district are two pre—existing districts which focused on Central Park West
and the adjacent side street blocks: Central Park West-West 73rd-74th
Streets and Central Park West-76th Street.

Colunbus Avenue retains a character which reflects its historic nature
as a transportation route. It was largely built up with flats and tenements
which incorporated commercial storefronts at street level cduring the same
years that rowhouses were being constructed on the side streets. This
commercial role has swrvived toc the present, making the avenue a strorg
spine in the district. Little original storefront fabric survives, hut
stretches of facades of relatively uniform height and scale give the avemie
its distinctive character. In some cases, the flats and tenements have been
internpted by twentieth—century apartment buildings, but these buildings
also have storefronts at street level which reinforce the aveme’s

7

000810



Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003

www.protectwest70.org

comercial character.

Amsterdam Avenue shares a mmber of characteristics with Columbus
Avenue. Like that avenue, it was built up with tenements amd flats over a
roughly ten-year period (1885-1895), ard these huildings were designed with
storefronts at street level. These buildings share a relationship with the
rawhouses on the side streets which is similar to that between the flats
buildings on Colurmbus and the side street rowhouses. Along the stretch of
the averme between West 80th and West 84th Streets, this cdharacter is
retained on both sides. On the east side of the averme, south of 79th
Street, the earlier flats buildings have been interrupted by taller
twentieth—century apartment buildings, also with street-level storefrants.
Despite the avenue’s consistent commercial dhwaracter, the storefromt fabric
has undergone a lesser degree of change than storefronts on Columbus, and
shows a greater harmony with the architectural character of the upper
stories of the buildings.

South of West 79th Street on Amsterdam, the wall of apartment buildirgs
on the western boundary of the district may be seen as a counterpart to the
wall along Central Park West on the eastern boundary of the district. Along
both Central Park West and Amsterdam, the apartment buildirgs are similar in
height, scale, and detail, were often designed by the same architects, and
were bullt during the same time period. Here too, the side street facades
of the Amsterdam Avelme apartment buildings interact with the rowhouses on
the side streets. The portion of Broadway within the district, south of
72rd Street, is effectively a southern contimiation of Ansterdam Averme, ard
with 1ts twelve-story apartment buildings and nineteen-story hotel building,
continues the role of Amsterdam in defining the western boundary of the
district.

Thus Central Park West, Broadway, and Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues
are linked by the side street blocks and several cross streets. All have a
rich variety of interrelated buildings which produce a complex wrban area
constituting a distinct section of the city.

Marjorie Pearson
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THE GENERAI HISTORICAL DEVEIOPMENT OF THE
UPPER WEST SIDE/CENTRAL PARK WEST HISTORIC DISTRICT

Prelude to Developsent

The area of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
developed primarily as a residential neighborhood over a roughty fifty-year
period from the 1880s to the 1930s. The appearance of the Upper West Side
is a reflection of econamic and speculative building patterns and the
collaborative efforts of speculators, developers, and architects. The
revhouses within the district, built within a relatively short span of years
that ended in the first decade of the twentieth century, present a picture
of the finmal phase of single~family rowhouse constructicn in Manhattan.
Maltiple dwellings of variocus kinds, beginning with tenements and flats and
followed by apartment hotels, studio buildings, and apartment buildings,
were constructed throughout the period of development in the district. The
result, little changed since the 1930s, is a complexly interwoven urban
neighborhood characterized by a mix of residential building types.

The documented history of the Upper West Side begins soon after the
colenial Dutch settlement of New Amsterdam in the seventeenth century.
Prior to its urbanization, the Upper West Side was known as Bloomingdale, or
"Bloemendaal" to the early Dutch settlers, in recollection of a flower—
growing region of Holland. In the early eighteenth century, Bloamingdale
Road (later renamed the Boulevard and finally Broadway in 1898) was opehed
through the area, following the course of an old Indian trail, and provided
the northerm route out of the city which was then concentrated at the
southern tip of Manhattan Island. Rural lodges and broken-down shanties,
interspersed with large outcroppings of rock, dotted the landscape of
Bloomirkgdale. Working farms and colonial estates were estahlished and small
hamlets, such as Harsenville near West 72nd Street, were settled on or near
Bloamingdale Road during the eighteenth and early-nineteenth centuries.
However, the Upper West Side, including the area within the boundaries of
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, remained largely
urdeveloped until the 1880s.

New York City’s population rapidly increased throughout the colonial
period and into the nineteenth century. As a result, development in the
city expanded northward, with growing commercial interests contimuously
transforming and displacing residential communities. Neighborhoods were
established further uptown away fram spreading commercial developwment. By
the 1850s, the city’s northern urban limits had reached today’s midtown. &As
development continued to push northward, it was largely concentrated on the
East Side, following the transit lines, which included steamboat service on
the East River ard several horse car lines.

The Upper West Side was included in the Randel Swrvey (known as the
Comissioners’ Map of 1811) which outlined a uniform grid plan of broad
avenues and narrow cross streets to be imposed upon the rolling hills of
Manhattan. Many years elapsed, however, before most of the avermes and

9



Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003

www.protectwest70.org

streets in rural Bloomingdale were actually laid out (same streets as late
as the 1870s and 1880s) and the lamd subdivided into standard twenty-five by
100 foot building lots.

The creation of Central Park (a designated New York City Scenic
Landmark) , begun in 1857, spurred qgrowth in areas around the Park’s
perimeter, arﬂsetoffthefimtwaveofrealestatespewlationonthe
Upper West Side. Trading in Upper West Side building lots was active,
particularly on the avenues, cduring an extensive period of New York real
estate speculation which lasted from 1868 until the financial panic of 1873.

Theopenmgcfavem&sarﬂmprwedmblmtmmportatlmtotmwper
West Side (beginning in the 1860s but particularly in the 1870s) contributed
to the first wave of growth in the area., In 1864, the horse car line on
Eighth Averue (renamed Central Parkt-zestinlam)wasexterﬁedfmmidtam
to West 84th Street. In 1865, the Comnissionexs of Central Park were
authorized to complete the laying cut of the streets west of the Park. The
Boulevard (the main artery of the Upper West Side and the route linking the
city to the south with points north) was widened in 1868-71 and designed to
receive central, planted malls from West 55th to 155th Streets.

Transportation improvements that were plarmed and carried out by
private companies at the end of the 1870s further enhanced the potential of
the area. In 1878, horse car service was started on Tenth Avenue (renamed
amsterdam Avenue in 1890} and Broadway, and the horse car lines on Eighth
Everue were replaced by street rail service up to West 125th Street. In
1879 the Elevated Railway on Ninth Avenue (renamed Colurbus Avenue in 1890)
was completed with stations at west 72nd, 81st, 93rd, amd 104th Streets.

The earliest rows of houses in the district were built in the 1870s,
before the panic of 1873, following the initial promise of the great
development prospects in the area. These houses were situated in proximity
to the El stations already proposed at that time. Two long rows, portions
of which still exist, were situated between Central Park West and Columbus
Averme: a thirteen-house row on West 83rd Street (of which six survive) and
a twenty-house row on West 92 Street (two of the surviving seven are
within the district). another five-house row (of which four survive) was
built on West 71st Street near Broadway.

The Ninth Averue El served as the primary impetus to sustained
development in the area of the district. There was a direct response on the
part of speculative huilders to the presernce of the El, and between 1879 and
1887 development clustered within a two-block radius of its stations in the
blocks between Central Park West and Amsterdam Averme. The peak of this
boom came in 1886; architects, developers, and builders active elsewhere in
the city were now focusing their attention on the prime real estate
opportunities of the Upper West Side.

Building Types

Single-family houses, the first choice of upper middle~class families
locating in the area, were only profitable for their developers on the side
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streets, where property prices never rose as high as they did on the avemues
during the era of real estate speculation. Built over a relatively short
span of years, theronhcusesontheUpperWestslde represent the final
years of construction of single-family dmellmgs in Manhattan. Although the
majority of these houses were constructed in the 1880s and 1890s, scattered
groups continued to be built in the area of the district until as late as
1910. Generally, however, the construction of rowhouses declined after 1895
when the cost of owning and maintaining a private hame rose ocut of reach of
the majority of New Yorkers.

developed with private houses. The avenues were also too busy and roisy due
to the transportation lines to be preferred house locations. Columbus
Averue was an unpaved, undeveloped road before 1879, but with the
imtroduction of the El it was transformed into a bustling thoroughfare.
Tenements and flats were built on Ceolumbus and Amsterdam Avenues during the
first phase of development in the district and were also initially clustered
arcund the El stations. ‘These buildings were designed to have commercial
businesses at street level and residential units above, ard catered to less
prosperous families than those who could afford single-family houses. Flats
without storefronts were sometimes built on the side streets, usually in
rows that terminated on the avenue.

Various soluticns were attempted in the effoert by architects and
developers to provide acceptable housing to a growing middle-class
population who could not afford rowhouses but who desired many of the
features of life in rowhouses. Many of these pecple had lived in hotels,
boarding houses, cor subdivided houses and were acoustomed to life in
miltiple dwellings, and all were familiar with the ubiquitous tenements for
the working classes. But for variocus reasons those places did not satisfy
the demand for self-contained private quarters that the mniddle class
considered suitable for family life. Theres were precedents for mutiple-
family living in Europe, especially in London, Paris, and Vienna, but in New
York City its image was tainted by association with overcrowded workirg-
class tenements, and no canpletely satisfactory model existed.

During the period of the construction of miltiple dwellings in the area
of the district developers and architects experimented with existing forms:
"second—class dwellings" for the working class were recast as "French Flats"
for the middle class (called "Frernch Flats™ because of their asssociation
with Parisian prototypes); a new buildirng type, the apartment building, took
various forms including the studio apartment: and the apartment and the
hotel were merged into a new type, the apartment hotel. By the turn of the
century, the standard, accepted form of housing for the middie class on the
Upper West side and throughout the city was the apartment building.

The district is enhanced by several institutional buildings which
display design qualities that complement the residential character of the
area. Religious institutions have played an important role in serving the
population of the Upper West Side from the time that development began in
earnest, and their histories are inextricable from the development of the
district. Other institutions also arrived to address the various
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intellectual, social, and physical needs of Upper West Side families. Some
of these institutions not only provide services to New York City residents,
but are alsc significant on natiomal and intermational levels, such as the
American Museum of Natural History. For more information on the
institutional buildings located within the district, see the sections of
this report which follow.

Zoning and Tenement Iaws

Mmerous, sometimes gverlapping, conditions and sets of regulations
have affected the construction of kuildings since the earliest -surviving
structure in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District was
erected. The street plan, the parcelization of blocks into twenty-five by
100 foot lots, and the roughly northeast-southwest orientation of the
majority of those lots commeon to much of Manhattan produced a narrow range
of possibilities for orienting densely-built wrban dwellings to sunlight and
fresh air. Starting in 1867, a series of Tenement House laws (discussed
more fully below in the section of this report on Multiple Dwellings) sought
to insure wholesome conditiohs in all residential buildings for three or
more households (applicable to all multiple dwellings but primarily aimed at
improving corditions for low and middle income households 1living in
tenements and flats). Two primary concerms of these laws were the provision
of light amd air through light wells, light courts, and rear yards, and the
provision of adequate plumbing.

later, scme of these same concerns were addressed for different types
of buildings in a very different way through the Building Zone Resolution of
1916.2 The Building Zone Resolution, which overlaid but did not supersede
the Tenement House Iaw, was concerned with three issues —-height, use, ard
area of lot coverage —- in order to minimize congestion, increase light and
air, amd segregate incompatible uses, The height regulations, estab)ished
primarily in response to congestion caused by dense construction of office
buildings in lower Manhattan involved "setback" rules for buildings which
exceeded in height a multiple of the street width. The entire area of the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District was within an area where
buildings were allowed to be one and one-half times the width of the street
(the widest street if on a cormer), with an increase in height of three feet
for every foot the building set back from the building line above that
pcint. Provisions of the Tenement House law effectively eliminated setbacks
for residential buildings such as apartment buildings, but did not affect
hotels or apartment hotels. Thus the roughly uniform height of tall
apartment buildings of the 1%920s on such streets as West 79th and West 86th
Streets was the result of building all to the same multiple of the street
width. Throwhout the area the same provisions meant higher walls of
buildings on relatively wide cross streets like 79th and 86th than on the
narrower side streets where some large-scale building also ooccurred. West
67th Street, narrow in width and developed before 1916 with tall studio
buildings which exceed the standards of the Building Zone Resclution, is the

2 Rew York City Board of Estimate and Apportiorment, Building Zone
Rescolution, 1916, with amendments 1920, revised 1927.
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most canyonlike street in the district. At the same time, the Building Zone
Resolution regulated lot coverage, largely through formilas for rear
setbacks from the property line, and use, by restricting commerce to
Oolmbusé Amsterdam, and PBroadway, with only residences on the side
streets.

Building Taws

Parallel to these regulations, which are intended to maintain "gquality
of life" standards, are the building laws whose intent is more with safety
smn:loonstn:cumarﬁresmta:mtoflre At the time that the
flmtbulldugswerecmstmctedintheareaofthedlstnct a basic
provision of the building laws was the requirement that l:uild:mgs within
certain areas could not have exterior walls of wood. By 1882, all such
buildings were excluded below West 140th Street. In 1885 height limits were
established by a separate ordinance? for residential bhuildings for the
purpose of fueprotectlm {seventy feetmxlm.rnonstreetsuptosixty feet
wide and eighty feet maximm on streets over sixty feet wide). Between 1871
and 1885 the principal application of the laws was in the details of the
construction of brick buildings, such as the thickness and bonding of walls,
the spacing of woed floor joists and roof beams, and the design and height
of chimneys. In 1885 the building laws were thoroughly revised; they
included the requirement that hotels over thirty-five feet in height be
fireproof, that other dwellings up to five stories have a fireproof
basement, and that dwellings over five stories (to a maximm of seven
stories or eighty-five feet)} be fireproof at the basement and first two
storles, which meant the substitution of wood floor structures with brick or
terra-cotta arches. In 1892, the 1885 laws were revised, for the first time
specifying the use ¢of iron and steel skeleton construction.

In 1901, a new, still more coamprehensive building law, for the first
time called the "Building Code," took effect. Most new buildings
constructed in the district after this time had fireproof, steel-skeleton
construction and were ecquipped with a variety of modern technologies:
electric light, elevators, gas for light amd cooking, scphisticated and
extensive plumbing systems, mechanical ventilation systems, and boilers for
hot water and steam heat. None of these features were new but now almost
every building would be equipped with all of them, and all were requlated by
the Building Code. By the time the Code was revised in 1916, advances in
fireproofing, the use of new materials arxd the associated adoption of new
technologies, notably reinforced concrete, and the elimination of masonry
bearirgy walls in large buildirgs all had an impact on the way in which the
muitiple dwellings were constructed after that time in the district. Later,
particularly in the 1920s, the Building Code was applied to the design of

3 By 1920, amendments to the Building Zone Resolution permitted
businesses on 68th, 72nd, 83md, and 89th Streets within the area of the
district.

4 New York State, law Limiting the Height of Dwelling Houses (Albany,
1885).
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curtain walls, including their thickness and means of attachment to steel
skeletons.”

Development Patterns®

With the opening of the El in 1879, a pattern of development emerged
with rowhouses on the quiet side streets and multiple dwellings of various
kinde on the avenues. The pattern was, if mot established, given
conspicuous and coherent expression in the building campaign around 1879~
1882 wxlertaken by Singer Sewing Machine Campany president and Upper West
Side promoter, Edward §. Clark, and architect Henry J. Hardenbergh-on West
72nd and West 73rd Streets from Central Park West to Columbus Averme. The
Dakota, a large apartment building occupying about twenty house lots, was
built on the most desirable site facing Central Park between West 72nd and
73rd Streets; rowhouses were built on the north side of West 73rd Street
away from traffic; and less desirable and more densely occupied flats were
puilt on Columbus Averme with its noisy elevated railroad. Most residential
construction in the area followed exactly this patternm through the turn of
the century: five-story flats and tenements on the avenues, larger flats
and apartment buildings on cormer sites, particularly on Central Park West,
and three- to four-story rowhouses on the side streets. The rowhouses and
the multiple dwellings that date from this period of development relate to
one ancther in terms of overall scale, style, and materials, and it is the
interplay between the characteristic building types of the side streets and
avermes that gives the district its cchesive quality.

Professional relationships between lamd-owning speculators, building
developers or builders, and architects — like that of Clark and Hardenbergh
- resulted in the clustering of rowhouses and flats erected by developers
and their associated architects. Elsewhere in the district, businessman and
real estate speculator D. Willis James and his architect John G. Prague
designed multiple dwellings on the avenues anchoring side street blocks of
rovhouses; this can be seen on the north side of West 85th street which is
lined with rowhouses and has the Brockholst, an apartment hotel, on the
Colunbus Avenue corner and the Sunset, a flats building, on the Amsterdam
Avenue corner. Proaminent real estate developer Bermard §. lavy collaborated
with the Spanish architect, Rafael Guastavino, building rows of houses on
opposite sides of West 78th Street between Columbus and Amsterdam Averues in

5 NewYorkState: = i Bujldi ]
the city of New York (Albany, 1332, 1887 1892 1897) New York City Bureau
of Buildings, Building Code (New York, 1801, 1916, 1930). New York City
hilding laws were the province of the State until Consolidation in 1901.

® The analysis of development patterns in the district is primarily
based upon the examination of records of the Department of Buildirgs.
Statistical data — such as date, building type, architect, original owner,
ard style — wers compiled in databases, sorted, and cm::ss—xeferermd The
information campiled in the databases serves as the primary camponent of the
row and building entries which follow iIn this report. (The databases and
computer programs were designed by Marion Cleaver of the IPC staff).
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the 1880s. The houses built by Francis Crawford in the vicinity of West
72nd Street between Columbus and MAmsterdam Avermes (listed in records of the
Department of Buildings as owned by Margaret Crawford, presumably his wife)
are almost exclusively designed by the architect Gilbert A. Schellenger.
This particular architect worked for several developers and his houses and
flats are found throughout the district.

Rowhouses and flats designed by the firm of Thom & Wilson fram the
late-1870s through the 1890s are found in great mmbers in the district.
Although the firm worked for many develcpers, Thom & Wilson were the
exclusive architectural firm for the various members and partnerships of the—
Farleys, a family of developers which included John T., James A., Terence,
and Patrick Farley. Likewise, the Halls, another Upper West sSide real
estate dynasty, often retained the firm of Tham & Wilson, although they also
camissioned the architectural fiym of Welch, Smith & Provot for some of
their later building campaigns.

Although less frequent, the clustering of flats and rowhouses designed
by one architect for different owners ocours in the district. This can be
seen on the block bounded by West 80th and 8lst Streets between Columbus and
Amsterdam Averes. The firm of Neville & Bagye, and George A. Bagge on his
own, designed most of the rowhouses and flats on this block, as well as an
apartment building, all ocnstructed between 1890 and 1913 (a total of
thirty-four buildings are extant). Here, the architects worked with five
different developers.

Development on Central Park West, like Riverside Drive firther to the
west, lagge@ behind that on nearby side streets amd avemies; during the
early years of speculative trading in Upper West Side property, the high
cost of Central Park West lots had reflectad the desirability of being
located on the Park, and ultimately the land was valued too high for
speculative development with rowhouses., 1In addition to the Dakota, there
were scattered flats and rowhouses built on Central Park West in the 1880s
and 1890s (of which only a few remain), but the bulk of the Central Park
West property was not extensively developed until the introduction of
electricity intc the area in 1896 allowed for the construction of Iwaury
elevator apartment buildings.

Manhattan Square was cone of the few parks allocated by the 1811
camissioners’ plan; it is the only park area within the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District boundaries. Iocated between West
77th and 8lst Streets, Central Park West and Columbus Avenue, this eighteen-
acre park was acquired by the city through condemnation and opened in 1840,
and amexed to Central Park in 1864. Its purpose as an open public space
superseded by the creation of Central Park, Marhattan Square was provided as
the site for the American Museum of Natural History (begqun in 1874) and
subsequently was landscaped. The museum itself enhanced property values
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srrounding the square.’ In addition to the block between West 72nd and
73rd Streets near Central Park West where the Clark/Hardenbergh development
was located, the perimeter of Manhattan Square became a fashionable area in
the mid-1880s. Unlike Central Park West, by the late 1880s and 18%0s the
block-lorg nerth amd south frontages of Manhattan Square were built
exclusively with "large and expensive" rowhouses. Except for a single
twenty-five foot wide house at No. 33 West 8lst Street (one of an original
row of three, 1885-86, Henry L. Harris, architect), all of these house - were
later replaced by apartment buildings. Howewver, the miltiple dwellings that
date from a slightly later period, situated across Columbus Averme from

Manhattan Square (the Evelyn, the Hotel Orleans, the Warwick Arms, and the -

Endicott), are still extant.
e— Dewi t and Red

In 1898, the surface transportation lines on Amsterdam Averme and
Broadway were electrified, and finally, in 1904, the Broadway IRT subway
line was campleted with stops at West 72nd, 79th, 86th, glst, and g6th
Streets. These transportation improvements, together with the growing
population and the rising cost of housirg, were factors in bringing about a
mmber of charges in the early years of the twentieth century: the
construction of single-family rowhouses, tenements, and flats ended (housing
for the upper and lower ends of the social spectrum); the construction of
taller elevator hotels and apartment buildings increased, especially on
Broadway, Amsterdam Avenue, and Central Park West; and the first development
of large elevator buildings occurred on a side street — a gqroap of four
studio buildings on West &7th Street — followed after 1910 by the
construction of many large elevator buildings on side streets, including a
group of apartment hotels on West 72nd Street.

Apart from a few notable early exceptions, such as the Dakota,
apartment buildings were not generally constructed on the Upper West Side
before 1900. The erection of most apartment buildings had been postponed
until the running of electrical lines on the Upper West Side was campleted
in 1896, which allowed for elevators (the Dakota had its own power source).
A relatively new type of multiple dwellirng in New York, these buildings were
often plamned arcund light courts or a central courtyard (following the 1901
Tenement House Iaw) and differed fram the flats buildings specifica.lly in
the lwaxry of the appointments and in the mmber of amenities that they
offered. Designed for the upper-middle class, the earliest luwury apartment
buildings were erected primarily on Central Park West, wl'u.d':wasprme for
high-profit development, where they could rise to the maximm allowed height
of twelve stories or fifteen stories, depending on the height of the

7 myarhattan Square has taken on a new significance to the adjacent
property owners since the new wing [of the Museum] was constructed. HNo
uncertainty now attaches to its future. It will be a popular establishment,
the center of fashionable and constantly augmenting interest," in "West Side
Nurber," Real Estate Retord & Guide Supplement, 51, no. 1300 (Feb. 11,
1893), 23.
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ceilings.®

In anticipation of the increased accessibility and cornvenience that the
IRT would provide to the area, Broadway, which had always been the main
artery of the Upper West Side, began to be developed with grand apartment
buildings and hotels at the turn of the century, such as the Ansonia and the
Apthorpe (both are designated New York City Iandmarks and not included
within the boundaries of the district). The Spencer Arms (19204-05) and the
Erbassy (1899~1900) are two exarples in the district of this develomment
trend. Most of these buildings, like those on Columbus and Amsterdam
Avenues, also accomnodated small cormercial interests at street level. .

The apartment hotel became a moderately popular building type
throughout New York City during the 1880s and 1890s and was profitable for
investors. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, this
building type is generally found on Columbus Averue, Broadway, and the wide
cross streets, such as West 72nd Street, which were most convenient to
public transportation. While residential hotels had been a fixture in the
lifestyles of some well-to—do families since before the Civil War, apartment
hotels were primarily designed for small families who wished to live in a
suite of roams, but to avoid the cost and domestic responsibilities of house
ownership. Apartment hotels would invariably have a hotel dining xoom, but
some of the suites might be outfitted with small kitchens, like those of the
Endicott at West B8lst Street and the Brockholst at West 85th Street, both on
Columbus Avenue and dating from 1889, Apartment hotels were built in the
district into the third decade of the twentieth century. An example of the
later group is the Oliver Cromwell at 12 West 72nd Street (designed by Emery
Roth for Washington Scuare, Inc. in 1927).

During the nineteenth century, a new variation of multiple dwelling,
the studio building, was developed to meet the specialized demand for
studiecs to accommedate artists living in New York. Studio huildings
contained duplex units incorporating living and working spaces, often
oriented toward the north, with large industrial sash windows to allow the
maximm natural light into the interior. Frequently oonceived as a
specialized form of apartment hotel, these buildirngs often provided dining
room facilities for residents. Interestingly, the studio buildings in the
historic district are clustered along the north side of West 67th Street
(the southern-facing units also have duplex arrangements). It has been
suggested that restrictive covenants governing the side streets fram West
68th Street northward, allowing only low-scale development in the form of
first-class single-family dwellings, may have been the impetus for
developing the north side of West 67th Street with studic buildings because

8 The Tenement House Law of 1901 allowed for maximm building heights
for miltiple dwellings of one and one-half times the width of the street on
which they fronted.
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uninterrupted northern exposure at the rear was quaranteed.? The first
studio building to appear in the historic district was erected in 1902-03 at
No. 27 West 67th Street. Unable to find financial backing, this building
was organized as a cooperative by the artist residents themselves; it proved
so successful that the Real Estate Record & Guide suggested that there was a
profiEoto be made in this sort of venture and that speculators should take
head.

During the pericd between Werld War I and the Depression, a wave of
redevelopment substantially modified the character of the area. Most

noticeable was the huge boom in apartment building construction of ‘mearly-—

ninety buildings between 1919 and 1931, concentrated on Central Park West:
Amsterdam Avenue; the brovad streets of West 72nd, West 79th, ard West 8éth;
and?kest??thandﬂestSlstStreetsararﬂMaﬂmattanSquare These
huildings are representative of a much larger development bocmm in the city,
spurred by favorable econcmic conditions and camercial expansion. Also,
many rowhouses were converted to multiple—family dwellings during the 1920s
follc:w:l.ng a 1919 amendment of the Tenement House Law allowing for such
conversions (prior to the change in the law, a mmber of rowhouses in the
dlstrictwerealmadyoampledasmaun;hmsesviudmhadmtreqnxed
substantial interior alterations). In general these changes responded to
the need in New York for an increase in housing for the growing mmber of
small middle~class families. The high~density redevelopment that tock place
in the area also enabled developers to maximize profits.

These apartment buildings were generally larger than those censtructed
before World War I and contained smaller apartments with lower ceiling
heights, and therefore could accommodate many more families. These later
huildings were taller (owver twelve stories) and occupied more ground area
{few sat on less than four standard lots and many occupied more than twice
that muber) than the twenty- to thirty-year-old buildings they replaced.

Many rowhouses were demclished for the oconstruction of apartment
buildings in the mid-1920s. Speculators were buying dwellings on the Upper
West Side toward this end, anticipating enhanced property values upon
canpletion of the Eighth Zvemue Indeperdent (IND) subway. Whereas the
earliest developers in the district tended to be individuals or family-
related firms, in the 1920s most develq;mant was by real estate companies
often formed for the purpose of a single project; the costs of constructing
even cne apartment building had risen out of reach of the rescurces or risk-
taking ability of all but a very few.

With the onset of the Depression in 1929, construction in the district
all but halted with a few exceptions, notably the four twin-towered
apartment buildings on Central Park West -— the San Remo, the Eldorado, the

9 conversation with architectural historian Andrew S. Dolkart, March
22, 1990, Dolkart is the author of the National Register Nomination for the
West 67th Street studio buildings.

10 Real Estate Record & Guide 72, no. 1865 (Dec. 12, 1903}, 1077.
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Majestic, ard the Century —— which benefited from the 1929 Multiple Dwelling
Iawll allowing "skyscraper" apartment buildings for the first time. This
law superseded the Tenement House Iaw of 1901 and supplemented the amended
Building Zone Resolution of 1927. Under this law most multiple dwellings,
which by this time usually meant apartment buildings, were restricted in
total height, including setbacks, to about one and three—quarters times the
width of the widest street up to 100 feet. This would result in a building
of 178 feet -- approximately nineteen stories. Exceptions were made for
huildings, such as those mentioned above, occupying very large sites (over
30,000 square feet), in which one or more towers could rise from large bases
up to three times the street width.

Although there was a slowdown of new building activity durj.ng the
Depression it did not have a significant impact upon the develcpment in this
district until 1931. In the six-year periocd hetween 1931 and 1937 only
sevautemmldugswereerectedinthedistnct, as campared to thirty-
three in the two-year period between 1927 and 1929, Significantly, of the
buildings constructed in the 1930s, only a few were large apartment
buildings, the majority being either service, utilitarian, or public
buildings, which included two funeral hames and a school.

The 100 block of West 72nd Street and the 200 block of West 79th Street
were subsequently adapted for camercial uses, primarily with one— and two-
story alterations and additions to existing rowhouses, and also with the
reconstruction of rowhouses extended to the building line and given new
facades. The camercial transformation of these streets in the blocks near
Broadway was spurred by the proximity to the Breadway IRT subway stations
and revisions in the zoning of these streets to allow for changes in use.
Along West 72nd Street these alterations figured prominently in the 1920s,
whereas the alterations along West 79th Street generally appeared in the
1930s and 1940s. These wide cross streets had initially been developed with
the finest class of houses and later with apartment kuildings nearer to
Central Park. The residential upper stories of these altered rowhouses are
still intact above many of the commercial pases.

Activity resumed slowly after the Depression, and although a few large
apartment buildings were built in the 1940s charges were reflected primarily
in the houses of the side streets. From the 1920s to the 1970s, but mostly
after World War II, there were alterations of rowhouses (many of which had
been subdivided into rooming houses earlier in the century) imto the
equivalent of small apartment buildings; these comwversions were fregquently
associated with stoop removals. Ancther type of post-war alteration that
had an impact on the the district was the reconstruction and consolidation
of one or more rowhouses into small apartment buildings with new facades and
sometimes additional stories.

11 New vork State, The Multiple Dwelling Taw of the State of New York
(Albany, 1930).
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Subsequent History and Plannindg Changes

During the 1960s and 1970s portions of the Upper West Side were the
focus of Federal and State Urban Renewal activity. The most famous urban
renewal project in this area was the construction of Lincoln Center in the
lower West 60s., In 1962 (plan amended in 1966), the area between West 87th
and 97th Streets, Central Park West and Amsterdam Avemue wis also identified
as a West Side Urban Renewal area. This project involved the erection of
two public schools; the refurbishirg of flats, tenements, ard rowhouses; the
issuance of federal loans for the refurbistment of apartment buildings on
Central Park West; and the demwlition of most of the existing flats arnd
tenements along Colunbus and Amsterdam Averues between West 87th and 97th
Streets, which were replaced by federally-subsidized low- to middle—~income
apartment buildings. Encouraged by the 1961 revision to the zoning code,
most of these kuildings take the form of large towers on open plazas and are
a much different size and scale than those in the district. South of West
87th Street, private developers purchased and renovated many of the existing
buildings along Colwgibus and Amsterdam Averues using J-51 and other
incentive programs. The high-rise buildings that resulted from urban
renewal are incompatible in height, scale, date, and style with the
huildings in the district and the northwestern amd southwestern boundaries
of the historic district, in particular, are drawn to exclude the areas in
which they are located.

In the early 1980s, the buildings that had resulted from the twenty-
year ©ld zoning revision were coming increasingly under attack for their
non-contextual relationship with the existing Upper West Side building
stock. Strong commmity activism and a growing awareness of the benefits of
retaining and enhancing the area’s historic fabric were responsible to a
large extent for bringing about zoning changes (implemerted in 1984 to cover
the area from West 59th Street to West 86th Street, Central Park West to the
Hudson River) that requive new buildings to conform to the street wall and
set back above a prescribed height in an effort to retain a contextual
relationship with the mostly low-to medium-rise buildings on the avenues and
streets of the Upper West Side. These zoning provisions have been important
in helping to maintain the scale and character of the area of the historic
district.

Mirande Dupuy
Michael Corbett
Elisa Urbanelli
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THE CHARACTER OF CENTRAL PARK WEST

Central Park West, the northern contimuation of Eighth Averme, runs
alorgy the western edge of Central Park. As it extends through the
district, the aveme is characterized by a varied skyline rising above a
uniform street wall. Constructed over roughly a fifty-year period, 1880-
1930, low=scale institutional buildings, medium-scale apartment buildings,
and soaring twin-towered apartment buildings designed in a mumber of late
nineteenth~ and early twentieth—century styles define Central Park West as a
grand prosceniun to the architectural variety of the district.

Today one of New York’s finest residential streets, Eighth Averme
(renamed Central Park West between 59th and 110th Street in 1883) in the
mid-nineteenth century was ungraded, unpaved, and led through a rural area
spotted with rocky outcroppings, roaming goats, and modest wood-frame
houses. As the city’s population expanded during this period, demand for a
public park increased to ameliorate crowding and benefit all of the people
of New York. Iand was set aside for a large park between Fifth and Eighth
Avenues, extending from 59th to 110th Street. wWith the creation of Central
Park, designed by Frederick ILaw Olmsted and Calvert Vaux after their
"Greensward" plan of 1857-58, as well as a series of transportation
improvements such as the Eighth Averme street rail line, opened from midtown
to 84th Street in 1864, and the Ninth Averme Elevated Railway (1879), the
Upper West Side in general experienced a period of intense real estate
speculation which lasted into the early 1880s before development began in
earnest. Olmsted correctly predicted that the land immediately adjacent to
the park would quickly rise in value and that the area would develop into a
prime residential neighborhood. Initially, however, the west side opposite
Central Park, unlike the more fashionable east side, did not attract the
wealthy people who could afford the inflated prices of the land bordering
the park. On the other hand, land prices along the park rose to such a
degree that most speculative builders shied away from rovhouse and tenement
construction, for which they would receive relatively modest returns. While
the side streets of the district were built up with rows of speculatively-
built houses during the 1880s and 1890s, Central Park West remained largely
undeveloped,

A few of the buildings constructed during this early period of
speculation and development remain on the avenue, such as the three
surviving single-family houses of an original row of nine at 247, 248, amd
249 Central Park West (Edward L. Angell, 1887-88), two houses of an original
row of five at Nos. 354 and 355 (Gilbert A. Schellernger, 1892-93), and the
Ielita, a flats building at No. 227 (Thom & Wilson, 1888-89). However, the
early character of the avermue was really established by two great momments:
the Dakota, the pioneering lwary apartment kailding at West 72rd Street
(Henry J. Harderbergh, 1880-84), and the American Museum of Natural History
between West 77th and 81st Streets in Manhattan Square (first building
designed by Calvert Vaux and Jacab Wrey Mould, becun 1874), both designated
New York City Iandmarks. On the heels of these initial farsighted efforts
came a mmber of low-scale institattional buildings during the late-
nineteenth and early-twentieth centuries. Among them were the Synagogue of

21

Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003

000824



‘Document From NYC LPC To SugarmarrJuty-10- 2663—66825-

www.protectwest70.org

Congregation Shearith Israel at 99 Central Park West (Brurmer & Tryon, 1896-—
97), a designated New York City ilandmark, ard the Church of the Divine
Fatemmity (now the Church of the Fourth Universalist Society) at the
southwest corner of Central Park West and West 76th Street (William A.
Potter, 1897-98), in the Central Park West -~ West 76th Street Historic
District. Concurrent with this period of development several apartment
hotels and apartment buildings were constructed in the 1890s, including the
Hotel Beresford at the northwest corner of Centra. Park west and West 8ist
Street, the Majestic at West 71st Street, the El Dorade at West 90th Street,
and the San Remo at West 75th Street, all later replaced by their towered
namesakes of the 1920s arnd 1930s. Several grard lwary apartment buildings
constructed prior to World War I increased the prestige of Central Park
West, inciuding the Prasada at the southwest cormer of West 65th Street
(Charles William Romeyn, 1905-07) and the Renilworth at the nortlhwest corner
of West 75th Street (Townserxi, Steinle & Haskell, 1906-08, in the Central
Park West-West 76th Street Historic District). This phase of development
was effectively halted Ly the war.

Ihenextandlastphaseofdevelq:memttohaVEama]ormpacton
Central Park West accompanied the econcm.lc prospenty of the 1920s, ard was
enhanced by the anticipation of the opening in 1932 of the new Independent
subway line (IND) which runs below Central Park West with stops at West
72rd, 8lst, and 86th Streets. At roughly the same time, the city widened
the averue bed from forty-eight feet to sixty-three feet. This period saw
the construction of large-scale apartment buildings, in particular the
towered buildings that give Central ParkWestJ.tsspecmlskle.ne
silhouette. With the enactment of the Multiple Dwelling law in 1929, which
allowed residential buildings of large ground area greater height ard the
use of towers, it became possible to build skyscraper apartment buildings.
(For more information on the Multiple Dwelling Isw, see the section of this
report on multiplie dwellings}. The Beresford Apartments between West 8lst
and 82nd Streets (Emery Roth, 1928-29, a designated New York City Landmark),
with its roofiine animated by the praminent treatment of the water towers at
three corners, presaged the appearance of the twin-towered apartment
kuildings that followed in the next three years. These distinctive
buildings, all of which ocoupy entire blockfronts along Central Park West,
include the Century Apartments between 62nd and 63rd Streets (Irwin S.
¢hanin and Jacxues L. Delamarre, Sr., 1931), the Majestic Apartments between
71st and 72nd Streets (Irwin S. Chanin, 1930-31), the San Remc Apartments
between 74th amd 75th Streets (Emery Roth, 1929-30), arnd the Eldorado

between 90th and 91ist Streets (Margon & Holder with Emery Roth as
consultant, 1929-31): all are designated New York City Landmarks. With the
Great Depression, the heyday of construction on Central Park West came to an
end; the dynamic twin-towered buildings serve as a brilliant climax to the
last great sirge of development activity on the avenue.

The large buildings fronting on Central Park West extend back fram the
avanue into the side street blocks of the district axd have an impact on
these streetscapes. The side street facades of these huildings, while
displayimg materials and details that are campatible with the rowhouses on
the side streets, are erected on the building line in comtrast to the
rowhouses which are set back from the street behind areaways. The interpiay
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between the low-scale character of the rowhouse groups which dominate the
side streets and the large-scale character of the taller buildings that
terminate these blocks on Central Park West reinforces that role of the
avenue as an eastern frame of the district.

The buildings lining Central Park West demonstrate the use of exuberant
styles and materials as varied and picturesque as the avenue’s skyline. As
seen from Central Park this distinctive silhouette — composed of huildings
of differing scale and style richly clad in brick and stone and punctuated
by an assortment of roofline treatments such as gables, mansards, and

soaring towers — presents a picture of architectural variety unique in New .

York City.

The surviving late-nineteenth century huildings, such as the Iolita
designed in the Renaissance Revival style with neo-Grec and Queen Arne
elements, employ contrasting materials to achieve polychromatic effects.
The Queen Amne style rowhouses at 247, 248, and 249 Central Park West,
executed in brick and finely-carved stone, are crowned by prominent slate
roofs punctuated by gables and chimneys. The first great apartwent huilding
in the district, the Dakota, is an umsual exanple of the German Renaissance
Revival style combining a bold massing of forms and a free use of historical
detajl in contrasting brick, stone, and terra cotta. The Holy Trinity
Evangelical Iutheran Church at $1-55 Central Park West (Schickel & Ditmars,
1902-03) is an example of the nec—Gothic style in striking rusticated stone,
while the Synagogue of Congregation shearith Israel, faced in smcoth stone,
is a more formal example of Academic Classicism. A rare example of the Art
Nouveau/Secessionist style in the district is the Society for Ethical
Culture Auditorium at 33 Central Park West (Rehert D. Kohn, 1913, a
designated New York City Iandmark). This building adds a special note of
interest to the variety found in the district.

At first the designs of the apartment kuildings of the early twentieth
century continued to utilize polychromy and contrasting materials, even as
massing became more formal and regularized. An example is the Beaux-Arts
style Kenilworth, which is faced in red brick with white stone trim and
crowned with a slate mansard roof pierced with dormers. As the neo-
Renaissance style proliferated toward the end of the first decade of this
century, facade composition and the use of comtrasting materials became more
restrained. The Brookford, at 315 Central Park West (Schwartz & Gross,
1911-12) reflects this aesthetic; its tripartite composition features a
facade faced in brown brick with stone and terra cotta trim concentrated at
the base amd upper stories. Terra cotta would assume greater importance as
a building material during the construction boam of the late 1920s and early
1930s.

The buildings on Central Park West designed in the late 1920s by noted
architect Emery Roth illustrate his distinctive aesthetic which cambines
modern massing with ormament inspired by Italian Renaissance and Barogue
sources. The work of this architect reflects the transition from the nec-
Renaissance aesthetic, in which classically-inspired ormament is applied to
the facade, to the stylized detail and bold massing of the Art Deco style.
One of Roth’s works, the Beresford, is an example of the large-scale
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apartment buildings constructed on Central Park West beginning in the late
1920s. Faced in brick and stone, it is embellished with Renaissance- ard
Baroque-inspired elements, while the top stories are stepped back,
influenced by zoning laws, and given emphatic treatment in a manner
characteristic of buildings designed in the axrent Art Deco style. The
neo-Renaissance style reached a culmination in Roth’s design for the twin-
towered San Remo Apartments, faced in light brick with Italian Renaissance
details exeaited in monochramatic stone, tara cotta, and metal. As Art

Deco style apartment buildings proliferated, the use of contrasting color -

ard materials gained a new importance in architectural design, emphasizing
texture, pattern, amd stylized motifs from a wvariety of sources. The
Ardsley (Emery Roth, 1930-31), located at 320 Central Park West, is faced in
brick with bold, linear cast-stone trim derived from Mayan sources. The
Century and the Majestic, both with sophisticated twin-towered deslgns by
Irwin S. Chanin, areammgthennstmtabler&'.ldentlal buildings in New
York that anbrace the Art Deco aesthetic.

The character of Central Park West is the result of two major
development phases extending over a period of roughly fifty-five years, from
1880 to 1930. Only two buildings have been constructed on the averme in the
past twenty-five years, thus Central Park West remains much the same as it
was in the 1930s, ard retains the architectural variety amd dramatic
silhouette that make it a unique presence in New York City.

Kevin McHugh
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THE CHARACTER OF THE SIDE STREETS

The unusually long side street blocks that form the heart of the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District have a character which is
determined in part by the relatively narrow, sixty-foot street width, and
the standard size of the New York City building lot, 25 feet wide by 100
feet deep, arrayed on blocks which are 200 feet wide and 800 feet loig.
(The short side street blocks between Columbus Averuie and Broadway are a
modification of this pattern.) Developers of rowhouses purchased several
lots at a time, combining them and then subdividing them into narrower
widths so that, for exarple, five or six houses could be built on a 100 by
100 foot plot. Development in the area initially focused on the side
strests which achieved their predaminant architectural character between
1880 and 1895, as the blockfromts were built up with long rows of houses
that unified the streetscapes by consistent height, setback, and overall
form. These houses are usually four stories high above raised basements,
approached by straight or box stoops, or less frequently, five stories high
with American basements, set back fram the building line behind areaways,
and faced with brownstone or brick with contrasting stone or terra-cotta
trim. The rows are stylistically varied and there is often a great deal of
variety in form and ornamental detail within each row, thus producing a
multiplicity of configurations (for example, ABCDCBA). Wwhile over 100
architects designed rowhouses within the district, the character of the side
streets is further unified by the work of several prolific architects and
firms. Sometimes this work is concentrated within a few blocks as that of
Henry J. Hardenbergh on two blocks of West 73xd Street, John G. Frague on
West 85th and West 87th Streets, and Neville & Bagge on two blocks of West
88th Street. George F. Pelham’s houses are fourd on many side streets, and
those of Gilbert A. Schellenger and Tham & Wilson are located on virtually
every street of the district.l?

While rowhouses are the predominant buildirng type on the side streets,
other types are also important. Contemporaneous with the construction of
the rowhouses are tenements and flats buildings at the 2Amsterdam and
Columbus Averme ends of the side street blocks. Built in rows, like the
single-family houses, these multiple dwellings could be oriented to either
the avenue or the side street. When a row externded to the cormer, at least
one building in each group had its entrance on the side street. Many flats
uildings were constructed in conjunction with side street rowhouses;
exanples include the flats building designed by Henry J. Hardenbergh at 281-
287 Columbus Avenue (a/k/a 67 West 73rd Street) built in 1882-84 with the
roew at 41-65 West 73rd Street, and three flats buildings designed by Gilbert
A. Schellenger at 72-76 West 69th Street (a/k/a 191-199 Colurbus Avenue)
built in 1892-93 with a row of eight houses at 48-70 West 69th Street. Even
when designed as separate projects, these flats buildings have a muber of
characteristics which relate them to the rowhouses: a uniform height of five

12 por further information on the rowhouses and their architects, see
the section on "The Architechmral Development and Character of Single-Family
Dwellings" and the "Architects’ Appendix" below.
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stories which is roughly eguivalent to the four stories with basement of the
rewhouses, a slight setback (not as pronounced as the setback for rowhouses)
vwhich serves to make the flats buildings act ag ilions for the rowhouses,
and similar materials and ornamental details.l? This interrelationship is
among the cqualities which help to establish the character of the historic
district.

Apartment buildings and apartment hotels began to be introduced to some
of the side street blocks scuth of West 72nd Street as early as the 1510s.
Two apartment buildings, designed by Rouse & Goldstone and kuilt in 1912,
117-121 West 71st Street and 138-140 West 71st Street, are examples. Most
apartment buildings on the side streets were huilt during a secord phase of
apartment building construction after World War 1. Wwhile some of these
miildings were constructed on lots that had been previocusly vacant, most
replaced existing rowhouses., These apartment buildings generally range in
width from fifty to 100 feet and rise from six to twelve stories.
Constructed at the building line, rather than set back, the apartment
buildings, nonetheless, relate to the rowhouses in use of materials and
architectural details. larger apartment buildings of twelve to fifteen
stories fronting onto Central Park West and the avenues impact on the side
street blocks with side street facades, which often display materials and
details that are campatible with the rowhouses. In some cases the building
has an address con the avenue or Central Park West, but has its main entrance
on the side strest.

Studio buildings represent a more specialized type of miltiple dwelling
on the side street blocks. While nine buildings of this type, built between
1902 and 1929, are concentrated on West &7th Street, other examples are
scattered throughout the district. Similar in height, material, and
architectural detail to the apartment buildings, these huildings are
distimguished by their double-height studio windows.

Small apartment buildings, converted from existing rowhouses by joining
one or more buildings, rebuilding the interiors, extending out the fronts,
and erecting new facades, generally of unadorned brick, are less than
synpathetic intrusions onto the side street blocks.

Throughout the period of development of the district, religiocus
organizations and other institutions have censtructed their buildings on
side street blocks. Churches, synagogues, schools, and similar structures,
designed by some of the city’s most prestigious architects and scattered

the district, enhance the district’s character and relate to the
residential buildings in materials, scale, ard architectural detail.l4

13 For further information on tenements, flats buildings, and apartment
buildings, see the section on "The Architectural Development and cCharacter
of Multiple bwellings™ below.

14 For more information on religious and institutional architecture in
the district, see the section on "The Architecture of Religious and Cther
Public and Private Institutions in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
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Commerce has had a minimal inpact on the side streets. A New York
Telephone Company office building (1920, McKenzie, Voorhies & Gmelin) is
located at 121-139 West 73rd Styeet. An ABC office building (Kohn Pedersen
Fox & Assocs., 1978-79) at 28-32 West 67th Street is located adjacent to the
former Durland Riding Academy (Henry F. Killbwrn, 1900-01) which has been
corverted to ARC studio and production use. The predominant building type,
rowhouses, have not been commercialized save for the addition of storefronts
in a few rowvhouses, for example those at 65, 102 and 103 West 73rd Street
which are related to camerce on adjacent Columbus Averme.l® Of the
mmerous flats and apartment buildings located on the side streets, only a
small mmber have shops in their bases.

Historic District” below.

15 The commercial transformation of rowhouses on West 72nd Street and
West 7oth Street is discussed in the sections on "The Character of the
Cross Streets" and "The Commercial Architecture of the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District" below.
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THE CHARACTIER OF THE CROSS STREETS

Residential Cross Streets

The cross streets of the historic district, West 72rd Street, West 79th
Street, West 86th Street, and the sections of West 77th Street and West Slst
Street between Central Park West and Columbus Avenue, derive their character
in part from the greater width of the streets themselves, 100 feet as
cpposed to the sixty-foot width of the side streets. All had gimilar
initial development patterms. These blockfronts were filled with large and
elegant rowhouses which followed the pattern of four stories above a high
bascment or five stories with an American basement seen elsewhere in the
district, although the houses tended to be wider, twenty to twenty-five
feet. West 77th Street and West 8lst Street fronted onto Manhattan Scuare,
which made houses on those streets particularly desirable. By the turn of
the century, apartment hotels and apartment buildings of twelve to fourteen
stories began to go up at the Central Park West and averue ends of the cross
street blocks. Changing socio—economic conditions and changes in zoning
which allowed buildings to be constructed to the height of one~and-a-half
times the width of the street gave impetus to the construction of larger
apartment buildings of fourteen to eighteen stories during the 1910s, prior
to World War I, and in the 1920s. Today the predominant character of the
cross streets is defined by walls of tall apartment buildings interspersed
with isolated groups of surviving rowhouses, although sections of West 72nmd
Street and West 79th Street have taken on more specialized characters
relating to commerce in the district.

Commercial Crosg Streets
West 72nd Street

Originally part of the Harsen Estate, which was subdivided into 500
lots identified for residential use due to restrictive covenants, West 72rd
Street developed into a fashionable street. Its genercus width and proximity
to an entrance to Central Park gave this street advantages over other
streets nearby. Furthermore, as early as 1866, West 72rd Street fell under
the jurisdiction of Central Park; its lardscaping was planned and maintained
by park employees, while commercial traffic was severely limited. Edward S.
Clark initiated development on West 72nd Street opposite Central pPark with
the construction of the Dakota (1880-84) designed by Henry J. Hardenbergh.
After a period of real estate speculation, rowhouses were erected here
during the mid-1880s in the exuberant styles of the day. So ostentatious
were these houses, in fact, that an unappreciative critic writing for the
Real Estate Record & Guide called them “positively vulgar and inartistic.'l6

The opening of the IRT subway station at West 72nd Street ard Broadway
in 1904 and changing socio—econamic conditions of the early twentieth

16 wgest Side T1lustrated," Real Fstate Record & Guide, Nov. 16, 1889,

28

000831



Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003 000832

www.protectwest70.org

century eventually altered the character of West 72nd Street.

The blockfronts east of Colurbus Averme saw the replacement of almost
every rowhouse by apartment buildings between 1925 and 1929. The bakota was
joined by facing rows of mid-to-late 1920s apartment buildings and apartment
hotels, typically of sixteen stories, and by the side facade of Irwin S.
Chanin’s Majestic apartment building (1930-31).

West of (olumbus Averme the street was camercialized. Daring the first
two decades of the twentieth century, three hotels (now with comercial
bases) were built on the south side of the street; between 1911 ard 1926
several residences were demolished for four apartment buildirngs with street-
level shops. However, the transformation that gave this block of West 72rd
Street its distinctive anbiance was the alteration of existing rowhouses for
commercial use, beginning in 1909 but most prevalent in the 1920s.17 on
this street there were two methods, equally popalar, of converting the four—
story rowhouses with raised basements: (1) removing the stoop, extending the
lower two steories to the building line, and imserting a shopfront amd
street-level entrance, thus accomodating businesses on the lower two
stories and apartments above and (2) extending the entire front to the
bullding line, erecting a new facade, ard inserting conmercial space at the
first and/or second story with residential units above.

The resultant streetscape, which survives today, is created by the
alternation of largely intact nineteenth-century residential facades, set
back from the street, above twentieth-century extended two-story commercial
bases,1® and 1920s facades, erected at the building line. Also scattered
along the north and scuth blockfronts are the aforementioned hotels ard
apartment buildings with storefronts at street level ard several small
cammercial buildings from the 1930s, scme of which survive relatively
intact. Because ©f the popularity of West 72nd Street for retail and
service functions throughout the twentieth century, storefronts with their
attendant signs and awnings have been contimually replaced, often without
regard to the overall architectural character of the buildings which contain
them. The only major alterations of recent years imvolve three 1930s
comercial structures: two buildings (120-122 and 159 West 72nd Street) were
refaced in the 1970s and one edifice (143 West 72nd Street) received
additional stories in the 1980s. The total effect is a diverse commercial
street which contains a mix of surviving historic storefronts from the 1920s
and contemporary vernacular storefronts.

17 an amendment to the Building Zone Resolution in 1920 permitted
businesses on West 721l Street.

18 por further information on the characteristics and qualities of
these converted rowhouses, see the section on "The Conmercial Architecture
of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District" below.
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West 79th Street

A wide cross-street at the center of the historic district which
extends from Columbus Avenue (at Manhattan Square) to Broadway, West 79th
Strest was developed with rowhouses in the 1880s and, especially, in the
189%0s. Proximity to the IRT subway station at West 79th Street and Broadway
and altered socio-econamic conditions helped bring about a series of chamges
beginning in the early iears of the twentieth century. Between Columbus and

Ansterdam avenues on West 79th Street, almost every structure was replaced -

in two waves of apartment house construction; built “from 1909 to 1914 and
from 1923 to 1935, they rise from twelve to seventeen stories. There is also
an apartment building erected in the 1980s. Few of these buildings have
storefronts, and this portion of the street is almost exclusively
residential.

The blockfronts between Amsterdam and Broadway saw a differert kind of
change. The Hotel Iicerne was constructed at the northwest corner of 79th
Street and Amsterdam Avenue in 1903-04. The five-story rowhouses with
American basements on the northern blockfrot had been erected as an
ensemblel® in 1895-97. Some received professional offices at the basement
level scon after construction; during the 1930s they all were transformed by
the removal of the low stoops (in most cases) and the insertion of one— and
two-story shopfronts, some of which protrude to the building line,<0
Despite the varying heights of cammercial alterations and the erection of
projecting amd flush shopfronts, the buildings retain a unified appearance
by virtue of projecting bays, continuous stringcowurses, and other repetitive
architectural features intrinsic to the design of the rowhouses. The four
eastermmost rowhouses were reconstructed in the 1970s into a small apartment
building with street-level shops.

On the south side of the street between Broadway and Amsterdam, a group
of eleven rowhouses had been built in 1894. The three-story structures with
raised basements were altered for commercial use in the 1930s. 'The
comercial alterations are of several types. Some rowhouses simply had
alterations (of different degrees) to the raised hasements and businesses
inserted at that lewvel. Others had the stoop removed, a street-level
entrance inserted, amd a storefront erected at the new first story. A third
group of rowhouses had two-story commercial extensions that project to the
building line. FProjecting neon signs have been added to the upper portions
of several rowhouse facades. A unified appearance is preserved, however, by
the pavilians at the ends of the row, projecting bays, the oontimous
stringcourses and other architectural details of the surviving portions of

1% e twelve buildings were actually built under two New Building
Applications, but the rows were designed by the same architect to camplement
each other.

20 por further information on the character of these alterations and
those on the scuth side of the street, see the section on "The Commercial
Architecture of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District™
mlw.
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the residential facades above the commercial bases.

Changes have taken place over time in the infill of the storefronts on
both sides of the strect, but change generally has not occurred above the
storefront level. The storefronts themselves show a degree of regularity in
retaining transparency, the modularity of the rowhouses, and the plane of
the facade.

David Breiner
Marjorie Pearson
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THE CHARACTER OF COIIMBUS AVENUE

Begimning in 1879, development on the Upper West Side was encouraged
and influenced by the Ninth Avenue Elevated Railway (or El) which had stops
at West 72nd, 8lst, 93rxd, and 104th streets, the last one beyond the
northern boundarv of the historic district, Ninth Averue (changed to
Columbus Averue in 1890) began to f£ill up with five-story flats. Often
erected in conjunction with side street rowhouses, the flats contain street-
level shops which provide goods and services to residents of the
neighborhood and residential units above. Averaging five stories, these
flats demonstrate a relatively uniform height and scale which combine with
contimious caomercial storefronts at street level to give Columbus Averue
its character as the neighborhood’s main shopping street. As with the
single-family houses on the side streets, the flats and tenements, often
designed in the neo-Grec and Romanesque Revival styles, were uilt in rows
and a small mmber of architects were responsible for a majority of the
buildings, a characteristic which unifies the avenue ard helps establish its
relationship to the side streets.

Between 1879 and the mid 1890s, Coluwrbus Avernue largely assumed its
present architectural character, which is that of flats interspersed with
tenements, apartment hotels, and a handful of small comercial buildings.
Several apartment buildings were built in the early years of the twentieth
century. These building types share many exterior architectural
characteristics, such as street-level storefronts arxd masonry facades which
strongly define the street wall.2l

By the time the IRT, New York’s first subway line, began service along
nearby Broadway in 1904, Columbus Averme had became a fully developed,
bustling thoroughfare. Among Columbus Aveme’s famous commercial
establishments was the J.M. Horton Ice Crean Coampany at No. 302 (the name
remains on the flats building with a street level store). Founded in 1870,
the campany became nationally famous, supplying desserts to a mumber of
presidential inaugural balls; by 1893 it furnished three-fifths of all the
ice cream consumed in New York City.?2 This store, as well as the Horton
dairy store at 371 Amsterdam Avenue, were among a city-wide chain. Other
notable businesses were Hellman’s Deli, originator of the famed mayonnaise
(the site is now a school yard just outside the district), and Park &
Tilford, purveyors of fancy gruceries since 1840 whose large cammercial
building at the southwest corner of Columbus Avenue and West 72nd Street was
designed by McKim, Mead & White and erected in 1892-93. In general, the
shops along Columbus Averue catered to the daily meeds of local residents.

2]l ror more information on the architectural character of these
buildings and their commercial aspects, ses the sections below on "The
Architectural Character and Develcpment of Maltiple Dwellings" and "The
Camnercial Architecture of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District."

22 yoges King, King’s Handbook of New York (Boston, 1893), 984.
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Regularly throughout the twentieth century, virtually every shopfront
on Columbus Averue (in contrast to Amsterdam Avenue) has been altered to

same degree, yet the upper stories of these buildings remain intact, as does
the rhythm established by the significant features —-- the structural colums
ard supports which, together with the surviving lintels and cornices, define
the mascnry openings which contain the street-level stores on most of the
structures. The appearance of a masonry mass floating above a transparent
base, as originally inmtended, is thereby preserved. The storefront infill
has been regularly changed in accordance with the needs of cammerce and now
displays a wide variety of materials and design.?? An umusual original
basement-level storefront retaining its cormice, window frames, and doors
remains at No. 380-384 Columbus Avenue.

The only major intrusions into the aveme’s historic streetscapes are
two small commercial buildings at Nos. 211-213 and 215-217 from 1987, two
small apartment buildings at No. 324 and No. 386-390, corverted in 1971 and
1981 respectively from earlier flats buildings, both with street-level
shops, twe larger apartment buildings at No. 407-409 and No. 560-568, built
in the 1980s with street-level shops, and a comercial buildirg at No. 462
that resulted from a 1961 alteration.

Planned and built as a major transportation route with its elevated
train tracks, Columbus Avenue, lined by mltiple dwellings and shops,
retains its active character as a retail and service artery -- although the
elevated trains, discontinued and their tracks amd structure demolished in
1940, have been replaced by increased vehicular traffic. Although changes
have occurred to the street-level storefronts, resulting from the avenue'’s
ever—changing comwercial character, these changes have generally respected
the original fabric of masonry-fronted miltiple dwellings and apartment
hotels, as well as that of the small, exclusively comercial kuildings.

David Breiner

23 In a few cases portions of original or historic storefront
camponents survive: a pancled frieze at No. 255; double-height storefronts
at No. 260 which retain bandcourses, and Second-story window sash and
lintels; storefront cornices and transams at Nos. 483 and 485; a cormice at
No. 522; ard portions of projecting bulkheads and wirdow-framing members at
No. 561-567. Instances of largely unchanged storefronts from the 1920s-
1940s survive at No. 273, No. 526, No. 529, and No. 570.

33



Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003

www.protectwest70.org

THE CHARACTER OF AMSTERDAM AVENUE

Without the impetus of the El, Tenth Avenue (changed to Amsterdam
Avennie in 1890) had a different develommental history than Columbus Averue.
Although the construction of flats on Amsterdam also began in 1879, most of
the flats date from 1886 to 1900, Built with streect-level shops, these
buildings ire concentrated in the stretch of the averme north of West 79th
Street., Several groups of tenements, all built in 1894-95 and containing
street-level shops, are also located along the upper portion-of Amsterdam
Avenue within the district. Besides the Hotel Iucerne (Harry B. Mulliken,
1903-04) at the northwest comer of West 79th Street and Amsterdam Averue
ard an apartment building (1927) on the east side of the aveme that
actually is the termimus of a continuocus string of similar buildings alang
West 79th Street, the uniform street walls created by flate and tenements
with street-level storefronts is broken only by a three-story library (1905-
06) and an eleven-story warshouse (1922-23).

The southern portion of Amsterdam Avenue, between West 72nd and West
79th streets, is dominated by apartment buildings. Although two, the Van
Dyck and Severn between West 72nd Street and West 73rd Street, were erected
in 1905, possibly with street-~level shops, the majority date from the mid-
to-late 1920s and have always had commercial bases. The only exceptions to
the characteristic apartment buildings are several four-story rowhouses
(1886) with commercial bases added, three five-story flats buildings with
shops (late-1880s ard early-18390s), a hotel with street-level shops (1911),
ard a comnercial building (1887-88) at No. 371 = described as a stable,
store, and flats in its New Building application. This last building was
owned by Lorton Horton of the J.M. Horton Ice Cream Company arxd probably
supplied the company’s shop on Columbus Avenue. Horton also conmissioned the
groups of flats buildings immediately to the north of this. Other
businesses, too, were established to serve the reeds of the immediate
community.

Serviced by a horse car line gpened in 1878 and then an electric strest
car line after 1858, Amsterdam Averme was not subject to the commercial
pressures brought to Coluniis Avenue by the El. On the other hand, Amsterdam
has seen less physical alteration of its historic fabric at strest level:
shopfronts retain more of their coriginal elements than those on Columbus
Averue ard are more closely related to the design of the upper stories of
the buildings in which they are found.

David Breiner
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THE CHARACTER OF BROADWAY

Although the entire length of Broadway south of the district had always
been a major thoroughfare, the blockfronts included in the district remained
undeveloped long after other streets in the area because of the uncertain
plans for the type of public transportation to be built there. This section
of Broadway finally blossomed into a busy street in anticipation of the IRT
subway that was evertually completed beneath it in 1904. The three—and-a-
half blockfronts of Broadway included within the district contain large
buildings (with one exception), all of which were originally constructed
with street-level shops or eventually received them. These are three
twelve-story apartment buildings dating fram the turm of the century -- the
Dorilton at 71st Street (Janes & Leo, 1900-02), the Embassy, at 70th Street
{Robert Maynicke, 1899-1900), the Spencer Arms at 69th Street (Milliken &
Moeller, 1904-05) =-- and the Coronado from the late 1980s; one seven-story
flats building at 69th Street (Ware & Styne—Harde, 1895): and the nineteen-
story Hotel Alamac (Maynicke & Franke, 1922). These huildings create a
street wall which relates to the diagonal of Broadway; the buildings also
relate to the side street blocks (all have major facades on the side
streets), and to each other. Of particular interest is the Embassy, built
three vyears later than the adjacent flats building and designed by a
different architect, but using the same design elements, 2 two-story
commercial building dating from 1938 is located at the southeast cormer of
West 72nd Street and Broadway.

David Breiner
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THE ARCHITECTURAL DEVETOPMENT AND CHARACTER OF
SINGIE-FAMILY DWELLINGS

The year 1868 inaugurated one of the greatest periods of speculation
that has ever affected New York real estate. At that time, the Upper West
Side was nothing more than a wilderness of rocks spotted with broken-down
shanties and sprawling farms. Apart from a few farm houses and rural imns,
thearearemamedlargelyavastcpmspaoeprimeforbuilding When
development began in earnest in the early 1880s, spurred by
transportation lines l_ka.ng the area to developed parts of the city further
scuth and the contimiing movement uptown of the rapidly—growing middle
class, speculative huilders seized the opportunity to develop the side
streets of the district with rowhouses designed for middle- and upper-
middle class families. While part of the earliest phase of development in
the district, these speculatively-kiiilt rowhouses actually represent the
final years of construction of single~family houses in Manhattan. Although
the earliest houses surviving in the district date from 1870 ard the latest
from 1910, as a whole, this large concentration of rowhouses was built
during a short span of years, the 1880s and 18%0s; therefore they display a
unified and harmonicus use of late-nineteenth century architectural styles.
Anchored by the miltiple dwellings on the avenues, which appeared from the
time of original development in the area, the rowhouses create the low-
scale demestic character that largely defines the side streets of the
district.

The basic pattern of development of these side streets lined with
rowhouses was a product of the emerging accessibility of the area to
enployment and shopping districts downtown brought about by the rapid travel
possible on steam railroads. The earliest remaining rowhouses located
within the district were begun in 1870 in anticipation of the improved
public transportation to be brouwght to the area by the Ninth (Columbus)
Averme El (eventually opened in 1879) which was in the plaming stages.
These first rowhouse groups were built in proximity to the proposed El
stations at 72nd, 8lst, and 93rd Streets: Nos. 159 to 165 West 7ist Street
(four of an original row of five), Nos. 35 to 39 West 83rd Street and 49 to
53 West 83rd Street (six of an original row of thirteen), and Nos. 47 and 49
West 92nd Street (two of a row of twenty of which a total of seven survive).
A financial panic hit in 1873 and by 1874 there was a camplete cessation of
building operations. Wages and material prices fell. Development stagnated
and the building industry did not fully recover until 1879, at which time it
was the ocampletion of the E1 that really spurred Upper West Side
development. Columbus and Amsterdam Averues, with its busy transportation
lines, were developed with flats and tenements providing commercial space at
street level and the erection of first—class single-family dwellings was
reserved for the side streets.

Surviving from this early stage of development 1s a row of five houses
designed by Christan Blinn at Nos, 64 to 72 West 71st Street built in 1878,
In cother early projects, the architect Henry J. Hardenbergh designed a row
of twenty-five houses built in 1879-80 on the north side of West 73rd Street
between Columbus and Amsterdam {only one survives) in corjunction with a

36

000842



Document From NYC LISC To Sugarman July 10 2003

www.protectwest70.org

flats building on Columbus Avenue. Two Years later, Hardenbergnh designed
ancther ramge of rowhouses on the north side of West 73rd Street between
Central Park West and Columbus Avenue (a total of seventeen remain). From
then on, in the 1880s, rowhouse construction soared from one rowhouse group
in 1880, to twenty-one in 1884 to a climactic increase of forty-two in 1886.
IntheBglEﬂte Record&%’ginlaaéthecptmomldbefelt.
" ..the West Side is going up rapidly; of that there is no doubt...whole
blocks of dwellings are ooccupied by citizens of good social standing. n24
From 1886 to 1890 the mmber of rows built fluctuated, and after 1890
decreased gradually to zerc in 1899 and 1900. Fram 1900 to 1910 there was a
slight increase in rowhouse constructien, and the last two existing rows
constructed in the district were begun in 1910. These late groups are
clustered in the blocks between Central Park West and Columbus Averme, on
West 73rd, 74th, and 86th Streets.2>

During the periods of heaviest construction in the early- to mid-1880s,
rowhouse development in the district occurred primarily on the side streets
of 71st, 72nd, 73rd, 78th, 82nd, ard 83rd owicusly clustering arourd the El
stops at West 72nd and 8lst Streets. The year 1885 brought the development
of twenty-nine rows to the areas near the El stops, as well as construction
on West 90th and 94th Streets near the 93rd Street stop. The forty-two rows
built in 1886, the apex year of rowhouse construction, continued the
clustering pattern. It was not until the late 1880s and 1890s that rowhouse
develcpment began to spread throughout the district.

Following the general model existing on the East Side and downtown,
single-family houses were built in three- to five-story rows, same with two-
to three-story kitchen and stairway extensions at the rear. At the front
they were set back from the lot line only enough to accommodate an areaway
and a stoop. The houses were set back from the rear lot line according to
changing requirvements in the huilding laws and the desired size of the
house. These houses were built to the lot lines on the sides, often sharing
the party walls of the adjacent houses. Party walls (single walls that
straddled the lot line and carried the floors of houses on both sides)
achieved an economy of means, a saving of space, and most importantly,
lowered costs so that the unit cost of a house in a large row was lower than
that of the same house in a small row or alone. Until some of the late
rowhouses were built in the district, all were constructed with load-bearing
brick side walls and self-supporting brick frant and rear walls, with the
front walls clad in various facing materials (brick, brownstone, limestone,
sandstone, cast stone, and terra cotta). In most cases the side walls
supported wood beams with wood joists at each floor level. Same of the late

24 nmgome West Side Residences," Real Estate Record & Guide 34 (Oct.
25, 1884), 1080.

25 These statistics are based on an analysis of data on surviving rows
fourd in records of the Department of Buildings; the information was
carpiled in databases in which it could be sorted, cross-referenced, and
further studied.
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rowhouses had iron or steel beams with brick or concrete floor arches26 put
virtually none of the houses were considered fireproof. One group of
elghteen houses on West 74th Street, designed by Percy Griffin for Frederick
Ambrose Clark and built in 1902-04, were steel-frame, fireproof buildings
that also contained elevators, an extremely wmsual feature in rowhouse
constxruction. 27

Developers involved in rowhouse construction on the Upper West Side
purchased groups of the standard twenty-five foot by one huxdred foot lots;
in order to maximize the mmber of houses built in one row, they often
constructed residences narrower than twenty-five feet. Thus, five twenty-
foot wide houses could be built on four lots, Ancther common occurrence was
the construction of six houses, each roughly sixteen-and-one-half feet wide,
on four lots.?8 Some houses in the district are as narrow as fifteen feet,
such as Nos. 6 and 8 West 83rd Street (Christian Blinn, 1881-82).

The middle- and upper-middle class families that choose to live on the
Upper West Side were usually those of professionals, such as bankers,
merchants, lawyers, manufacturers and other types of well-to-do businessmen.
The average home was occupied by approximately three to fifteen people,
deperding on the nuber of children, other family members, servants, and
boarders to help pay for expenses.Z2®

The majority of the rowhouses in the district were designed and
constructed with three to four stories above raised basements and the high
stoops placed at one side, a characteristic of earlier nineteenth-century
houses found in New York. They followed, with same varliation, a basic
formuia for interior planning, accommodating the informal dining room in the
front of the basement level with the kitchen and laundry at the back, the

26 A notable exception is the house at No. 122 West 78th Street,
designed by architect Rafael Guastavino using his innovative terra-cotta
arch vaulting system. A more complete discussion of Guastavino’s work in
the district is found in Sarah PBradford Larndau, "The Row Houses of New
York's West Side," Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians 34,
no. 1 (Mar., 1975), 24-26. Guastavino is further discussed below.

27 These features were not required by the building code but were
evidently the choice of the developer, a member of the prominent Clark
family whose real estate activities are further discussed below. See also
Larndau, 30.

28 1pc, Riverside-West End Historic District Report, report prepared
by the Research Department (New York, 1989), 20, and Iandau, 21. Few
rowhouse groups in the district were muilt on full twenty-five foot wide
lots, These are generally among the latest houses constructed.

29 pased on a survey of portions of West 69th, 73rd, 8ist, 85th, and
87th Streets; United States Census, 1900. Landau discusses more fully the -
income levels of rowhouse huyers. It was also common on the Upper West Side
to offer houses as rentals.
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front arxd back parlors on the first floor (the rear one being used as a more
formal dining room) alony a side hall and the stairs leading to the upper
floors which contained the family bedrooms and bathrooms, and the servants
and boarders at the top story. 2An entrarce to the basement, which was
convenient for accepting deliveries of goods, was located beneath the stoop
andaccessmlebyanentxywaymtmtothesmeofthestoop. The camnon
straight stoop was widely used, but in the 1880s the box stoop, with a
right-angle turn and an intermediate landing, gained in popularity. The box
stoop was constructed with a wall at the huilding line so that acne entered
the steps from the areaway at the side, allowing for a more private approach
to the house. Often rows were designed with a combination of ‘raised and box
stoops, enhancing the variety among the houses in the row,

The 1890s witnessed an innovation in interior planning that affected
the placement ard design of the stoop; the high straight or box stoops were
replaced by a low stoop at ground level fronting on an American basement and
the entrarce was frequently located at the center. Typically, these houses
were wider than most of those with raised basements, usually twenty-five
feet wide. In the American basement plan, the dini_ng room, which had been
at the front of the basement level, was now placed at the secornd story
ruming the full width of the house. A reception hall at the ground story
was created allowing more privacy amd elegance for entertaining upstairs.
The now more elaborate staircase was placed at the rear of the wider amd
deeper entrance hall. The whole entrance was not only more spacious but
more showy as well. Architectural critic Monmtgomery Schuyler felt, in 1906,
that:

...there is a practical consensus to the effect that the ’American
basement, with the full frontage available cni the second floor,
is the most comvenient arrangement and the most economical in
reality in spite of the ‘waste’ of the entrance hall.3C

The American basement plan was popularized in the 1890s by the architect
Clarence True, although it is said to have been introduced at least a decade
earlier but not widely adopted.3l True was a prolific rowhouse developer
arnd Upper West Side promoter who concentrated his work in the area near
Riverside Drive (only a few rowhouse groups and two other buildings
surviving in this district were designed by True).

The rowhouse groups constructed in the district range in mmber from
two to as long as twenty-five in a row. The long blockfronts of rowhouses
in the district help to create a strong, harmonious side street character
that contrikutes to the district’s special sense of place. The rows vary

30 Montgamery Schuyler, "“The New York House,” Architectural Record 19
(Feb., 1%06), 89.

31 tardau points to architectural critic Russell Sturgis as an early
advocate of this type of interior planning, 28. See Russell Sturgis, *The
City House [the East and South]," Scribner’s Magazine 7 (June, 18%0), €93-
713.
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stylistically and often incorporate different facade designs within a given
row. In these cases, the individual houses within the row were designed to
work together as a cchesive unit while featuring certain characteristics to
make them individually distinctive and appealing to their owners. Uniformity
and variety together were the key to producing the diversified streetscapes
found in the district. Unlike the uniformity of design typically faund in
brownstone-fronted rowhouses of the earlier part of the nineteenth century,
the houses in these later rows on the Upper West Side were purposely meant
to be distinguished from each other, while together forming picturesque
ensembles.

The architects and speculative builders active on the Upper West Side
felt the public was tired of the "monotony" characterizing the mmerous
Italianate brownstones, such as those on the Upper East Side, and wanted to
design houses acx::ord.mgly -— using a mixture of materials and revival
styles. Schuyler wrote in 1906: "It was the development of the West Side
which struck the first blow at the tyranny of the brownstone front."32
Brownstone was still used, but with a new emphasis on its saldptural and
textural qualities and often in conjunction with other materials. Houses
were now faced in materials with contrasting colors and textures, brick in
various shades, and terra cotta. Brick especially was readlly available and
prwedmreecmmcalazﬂmoredurablethanbromstone Rhythm produced
by the often asymmetrical massing of the rowhouses on the Upper West Side
also played a role in distinguishing them from their brownstone predecessors
which had flat facades. Devices such as projecting bays, oriels, gables,
and recessed arches were used to create pattems of light and shadow.
Facade designs frequently alternate in a particular rhythm or function as
mirror images within the confiquration of a given row; in certain instances,
the houses which termminate the rows are treated as end pavilions, with
projecting end bays that extend almost to the building line and give the row
a sense of closuwre. The building entries in this report address this
special aspect of rowhouse design in the category of "Row Configuration.™
Facade designs are assigned letters which are used to irdicate the overall
pattern of the row, for example: ABCB’A’. The use of the "prime" (')
indicates that the A’ design varies slightly or is the mirror image of the A
design.

The distinctive patterns, the urusual asymmetrical massing, and the
alternation of architectural elements within the rowhouse groups found in
the district are features that are intrinsic to the picturesque trends
characterizing American architecture of the 1880s and 1890s. The side
strects of the district are a remarkable assenblage of diverse architectural
styles and provide an inventory of this era of creative experimentation.
Patterns, designs, and styles drew on a ramber of historical sources. The
neo-Grec, Queen Anne, Romanesque Revival, and Renaissance Revival styles
were freely employed, somctimes eclectlcally blending features from a
variety of sources into the design of one xrow. This new mixture of

32 schuyler, "The New York House," B84,
33 Landau, 21.
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materials and styles was considered very modern and the Upper West Side of
Manhattan was promoted accordingly, with brochures and pamphlets published
by developers touting the fashicnable newness of the architecture.
Architects and builders active in the district, some of whom were also
developers, made use of the architectural pattern bocks and design guides
that proliferated in the late-nineteenth century, often mixing and matching
elements at will and producing engaging combinations of architectural forms.

The rowhouses which give the side streets. of the .district their
particular character relate in their overall scale ard architectural style
to the multiple dwellings on the avenues constructed in the same pericd.
These buildings, predominantly flats and tenements, were also fregquently
constructed in rows, and were sametimes built in conjunction with adjacent
rowhouse aroups on the side streets. The interplay of the side-street
rowhouses and the avenue buildings is a result of the concentrated efforts
of architects and developers active on the Upper West Side during the
relatively short span of years of the area’s initial development. This
cohesive quality is one of the factors that gives the district its strong
sanse of place.

While the earliest rows construxcted in the district, dating from around
1870, were designed in the popular mid-century Italianate style, by the time
development resumed at the end of that decade taste had turned against the
samber brownstone-fronted rowhouses found elsewhere in the city where they
create mommental uniform blockfronts with their orrate, classically-
inspired window and door treatments and weighty cornices. The €irst
challenge to the Italianate style in the deeugn of rowhouses was the neo-
Grec.34 A reaction to the established tradition of imitating classical
forms and adapting classical prototypes to satisfy the programs of modern
building types, the nec~Grec style sought to reflect an architectural
vocabulary appropriate to the modern, industrial civilization of the
nineteenth century through the use of pared-down geometric massing and forms
ard stylized, almost mechanically precise omament. As interpreted for the
design of rowhouses in New York, the neo-Grec style is characterized by
bold, rectilinear window and door enframements in stone with incised
ornamental detail of stylized foliate forms and vertical channeling. Neo-
Grec rowhouses are often executed in smooth brownstone, maintain a uniform

3 conceived at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts during the 1840s, the French
Neo-Grec style is often associated with the work of the architect Henri
Labrouste, who is best known for his designs of two important libraries in
Paris: the Bibliotheque Nationale arxd the Bibliotheque Ste. Genevieve. A
more direct source for the neo-Grec style as it developed in America is the
mid-nineteenth century vemmacular residential architecture of Paris. ILardau
discusses the influence that Richard Morris Hunt, one of the first Americans
to study at the Eccle, had on the popularization of the nec-Grec style for
house design in this oountry, see Landau, "Richard Morris Hunt:
Architectural Innovator...," in The Architecture of Richard Morris Hunt, ed.
Susan R. Stein (Chicago, 1986), 47-77. See also Charles Iockwood, Bricks &
Brownstone: The New York Row House, 1783-1929 (New York, 1973), 227-28.
Lockwood provides a useful survey of architectural styles.
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cornice line, and are usually unvaried in the design of a given row; in
these aspects they do not differ much from their Italianate predecessors.
However, some neo~Grec groups, such as a murber located in the district,
enploy projecting bays or rusticated stone camonly asscciated with the
Romanesque Revival style. A highly decorative version of the neo-Grec style
is found in rows designed by Christian Blinn which are located on West 71st
and West 78th Streets between Central Park West and Columbus Avernue, and on
West 78th and West 79th Streets between Columbus and Amsterdam Avermes.

During the 1880s, the Queen Anne style emerged in rowhouse design on
the Upper West Side ard brought with it the fashion for treating houses as
individually distinctive components of the streetscape. This style, most
often associated with the work of English architect Richard Norman Shaw,
appeared in the United States in the mid-1870s. Shaw’'s work in freestanding
suburban villas drew upon eighteenth—century Georgian precedents and was
characterized by textured brick, picturesque asymmetrical massing, pitched
roofs with gables, prominent chimneys, amd white trim. In the United
States, the appearance of this style accampanied a growing appreciation for
America’s colonial heritage that was particularly strong following the
celebration of the Centennial in 1876. American architects adapted Shaw’'s
Georgian—-inspired aesthetic and incorporated elements derived from American
colonial architecture, such as applied pilasters and foliate friezes.
Popular Queen Anne features found in rowhouses are recessed archways that
form small porches, three-sided bays, bracketed oriel windows, mulitpane
window sash and transoms, and ormamental sunflower and sunburst motifs.3>
The Queen Amne style rowhouses found in the district very often incorporate
neo—Grec, Ramanesque Revival, and Renaissance Revival elements. Noteworthy
examples include a row of five houses at Nos. 31 to 39 West 84th Street,
designed by Henry L. Harris for Anna McDonald, and a group of ten houses
(surviving from a row of fourteen) at Nos. 53 to 67, 73 and 75 West 8s5th
Street, designed by George H. Griebel for Alfred C. Clark; both groups were
built in 1886-87.

The Romanesque Revival style was alsc used for rowhouses built in the
district dating from the 1880s and shared certain characteristics with the
contemporanecus Queen Anne style: the conbination of various building
materials and textures and picturesque massing. This style in the United
States is most often associated with the work of the important architect
Henry Hobson Richardson, who drew upon the medieval Romanescque architecture
of France and Spain for inspiration and c¢reated a highly inventive aesthetic
that went beyond the mere imitation of historical forms.3% Although
for a muber of different building types, the most characteristic feature of
the Ramanesque Revival style is the use of round arches for door and window
openings given emphatic treatment in molded brick and carved stone.
Romanesque Revival rowhouses, such as those fourd in the district, are
typically executed in brick, brownstone, and sandstone in various colors amd
textures, and in many cases make expressive use of robust rusticated

35 1Iockwood, 231-32.
36 1hid,, 233-34.
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masonry, particularly at the basement level. Another feature of this style
is densely carved ornament of interlaced naturalistic forms, often placed to
emphasize the structural components of the facade, such as at the springing
line of the arches. This style is very often used in conjunction with Queen
Anne and Renaissance-inspired elements. A camon design sclution found in
the rowhouses of the district is the blending of Renaissance anxd Romanesque
Revival style features. Examples of Romanescpe Revival style rowhouses in
the district include a row of five (originally six) located at Nos. 152 to
160 West 76th Strect, built in 1883-86 and designed by the firm of Demeuron
& Smith with Justus J. Smith acting as the developer, amd a pair of houses
located at 130 and 132 West 82nd Street, built in 1887 for Mathan W. Riker
and designed by the notable firm of Iamb & Rich who often worked in this
mode .

The rowhouses dating from the 1890s reflect a predominant use of
Renaissance forms and details. American architects in general, influenced
by the principles of the French Ecole des Beaux-Arts and the architecture of
the 1893 World’s Columbian Exposition in Chicago, shifted their attention
during this period toward interpretations of PRenhaissance and Barogque
prototypes of Italian, French, and German origin that were at the crux of
the Beaux-Arts curriculum. The resurgence of neo—classicism in the 18%0s
had its roots in the broader cultural movement of the "American
Renaissance"; American architects drew parallels in their design aesthetic
between their own society, the American neo-classical past, and the
enlightened Greco-Roman and Renaissance civilizations.37 Ieading architects
such as McKim, Mead & white had a great influence on the design of
residential architecture in this period through their camissions for
mansions for the wealthy, in which they tumed to these sources for
inspiration. These stylistic influences, which symbolically expressed the
prestige and affluence of the upper class, soon found their way to more
modest speculatively-bailt rowhouses, such as those fourd in the district.
The facades of these houses were often executed in materials of a lighter
color than were previously used, such as limestone, yellow brick, and buff
brick, although within the district brownstone 1is still the prevalent
material for the Renaissance Revival style. Rather than display the
irrecular massing and animated rooflines associated with the Queen Arme amd
Romanesque Revival styles, these houses are generally flat-roofed or have
small wmansards, are characterized by a more regular altermation of
architectural elements within a row (sometimes the houses are identical),
and mark a return to more uniform blockfronts. Applied classically-inspired
ormamental details, such as carved friezes, festoons, Ionic or Corinthian
pilasters, and balustrades atop projecting oriels, add richness to these
facades. The work of prolific architect Gilbert A. Schellenger, among the
most avid adherents to the Renaissance Revival style for rowhouse design on
the Upper West Side, is found throughout the district.

The rowhouses constructed in the district in the first decade of the
twentieth century display the continued growth in popularity of the Beaux-

37 Richard Guy Wilson, "The Great Civilization,” The American
Renaissance, 1876-1917 (New York, 1979), 1li-16. See also lockwood, 234-38.
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Arts style and the Federal and Gecrgian Revival styles blended with
Renaissance elements. The several groups in the district that date from
this late phase of rowhouse development represent the final era of single-
family house construction in Manhattan. The row of eighteen houses designed
by Percy Griffin for Frederick Ambrose Clark, located at Nos. 18 to 52 West
74th Street, and a mumber of houses on the south side of West 86th Street
designed by the firm of Welch, Smith & Provot for the Halls, a family of
active Upper West Side real estate develcpers, date from this period. All
of these houses are large and sumptucus; only- wealthy families <ould have
afforded such grand houses in this ge:iod, a time when apartment dwelling
was becaming the norm for urban life.38

As a whole, the stylistic influences on the rowhouse designs of the
Upper West Side were so profuse and varied that, while the old Italianate
style had certainly fallen out of favor, this new architecture was accepted
with mixed feelings in critical circles. The Real Estate Record & Guide of
November 1889 attacked the brownstones of the past:

It is a mark of the advancement that has been made in a very short
time that to-day [sic] most of us recognize and alsc freely admit
that there is wvery 1little in those miles of brown stone [sic)
monotony that even oolloquially we dare assert to be mildly,
distantly artistic.3%

vhile this same journal declared the architecture of the Upper West Side
"sometimes positively vulgar' it proclaimed at the same time that

doubt there is no more charming residential section than the west side in
any of the commercial capitals of the world."40 Schuyler initially
criticized the eclecticism of the side streets of the Upper West Side and
then re-examined its merits. In 1899, he found "this bad architecture...an
atrocity — crude suggestions of good things,¥ for in attempting to present
variety, designers had sacrificed purity of style for “the wildest of wild
work" to the point of making one contemporary architect “seasick."4l By
1906 however, Schuyler applauded the freedom fraom "the brownstone boredom
when he exclaimed "the wildest of the wild work of the new West Side had
its uses in promoting the emancipation [of rowhouse design].m4?

38 according to Landau, the houses designed by Percy Griffin contained
seventeen to nineteen rooms and had four or five bathrooms each, in addition
to elevators; "“The Row Bouses...," 30.

3% wThe West Side Illustrated," The Real Estate Record & Guide,
supplement (Nov. 16, 1889), 1.

40 Ibido ’ 1-2 -

41 gchuyler, ™e small City House in New York," Architectural Record
8, no. 4 {Apr.-June, 1899), 376.

42 gohuyler, "The New York House," 84.
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A total of over 100 architects and builders are representad in the
rowhouse designs within the district, yet only a hardful stand cut as being
particularly prolific. O©Of the existing rows, George F. Pelham designed
eleven and Neville & Bagge designed fourteen, predominantly in the
Renaissance Revival style. John G. Prague, an architect/developer, designed
eighteen rows, in which he incorporated the Romanesque and Renaissance
Revival styles with Queen Anne elements. Gilbert A. Schellenger designed
forty-five of the existing rows in the district; his designs are
characterized primarily by the Renaissance Revival style, but often blended
with neo-Grec, Ramanesque Revival, Queen Anne, and Northern Renaissance
features. The firm of Thom & Wilson made the largest contribution with
fifty-one rows designed in a variety of styles including nec-Grec, Queen
Anne, Chateauesgue, and Renaissance Revival. Many of the firm’s rows are
highly inventive in detail, incorporating features from a wide variety of
historic scurces. Thom & Wilson and Schellenger were also the most prolific
architects of flats fourd in the district.

While certain architectural styles are prominently represented in the
district, other unusual design approaches make their appearance as well. In
conjunction with the pioneering lwmry apartment building, the Dakota,
prominent architect Henry J. Hardenbergh conceived of the two aforementicned
rows located on the north side of West 73rd Street in an unusual picturesque
German Renaissance Revival style. Comissioned by Singer Sewing Machine
Company president Edward S. Clark, these buildings were constructed on a
large tract of land owned by the Clark family who were instrumental in
promoting the real estate potent1a1 of the Upper West Side. These houses
are characterized by bold raass:mg of dgeometric forms, gabled roofline
treatments, and ornamental detail inspired by German architecture of the
secord half of the siwteenth century and display on a smaller scale the
chateauesque qualities of the mommental design of the Dakota.

Hardenbergh’s teacher, Eurcpean~born and -trained architect Detlef
Lienau used a French Rationalist aesthetic incorporating Northern Gothic
elements in his designs for four houses at Neos. 48, 50, 52, and 54 West 82nd
Street, built in 1886-87. Of the four houses, Lienau acted as the developer
of one, Elizabeth Lienau is listed as the owner of another, and the
remaining two were kuilt for Mary M. Williams whose family sponsored the
corstnwtlon of two nearby rows designed by Lienau which have been
demolished.4?® These houses are characterized by a simple, pared-down facade
treatment, praminent gables, and stylized drip moldings at the lintels.

Spanish architect Rafael Guastavino was respongsible for two imaginative
Moorish Revival style rows on cpposite sides of West 78th Street between
Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues: Nos. 121 to 131 (1885-86) and Nos. 118-134
(1886). Comissioned by prominent Jewish real estate developer Bermard S.
levy, Guastavino adapted a style that was most often associated with the
design of synagogues for these unusual rows. The architect was also
respongible for the design of the B‘nai Jeshurnun Synagogue on Madison Averue

43 Lardau illustrates plans of these houses and discusses how they
vary from common interior plamming; "The Row Houses...," 21.
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near 65th Street (1884-85, demclished) in which he also drew on the Moorish
heritage of his native Spain for inspiration. Guastavino is most often
noted as the innovator of a lightweight tile-arch vaulting system that was a
breakthrough in fireproof construction. In the house at No. 122 West 78th
Street, Levy permitted the architect to utilize his vaulting methods. Levy
also lived in a house across the street, at No. 121, for a mmber of
years.

Most of the simgle-family houses constructed in the district have been
converted to multiple dwellings. These range in occuparcy from having one
unit per floor to as many as three per floor. Some have been converted for
institutional use. These changes in use have been accampanied by
alterations to the exteriors of the houses including replacement of original
doors and windows, rooftop additions, and painting and refacing of the brick
and brownstone. A common alteration associated with conversions of houses
to multiple dwellings has been the removal of stoops and the establishment
of entrances at the basement level, usually by remodeling the existing
basement entrance located beneath the stoop. As a whole, the external
character of these rowhouses remains little changed. On most of the side
streets of the district, scattered later apartment buildings have
interrupted the original rows, but in geneyal the surviving rowhouses
present a strong ccherency and are a major element in creating a special
sense of place particular to this district on Manhattan’s Upper West Side.

Lynne Marthey
Elisa Urbanelli

44  1nid., 24-25.
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Multiple Dwellings - Flats/ Tenements
Upper West Side/Central Park West
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Apartment Hotels/Hotels
Upper West Side/Central Park West
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THE ARCHITECTURAL DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTER OF
MULTIPLE DWELLINGS

Most of the area of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District was initially built uvp with the single-family rowhcouses which exist
in greater mumbers than multiple dwellings in the district. However, from
the keginning a substantial proportion of the population lived in maltiple
dwellings4® ard, by 1900 if not well before, the majority of the population
lived in miltiple dwellings.4® Although the area was always promoted as a
middle-class neighborhood, the initial wave of construction, especially
before 1895, provided as well for residents of lower income levels.

Six types of builldings originally oconstructed as multiple dwellings
have been identified within the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District: tenements, flats, apartment hotels, apartment buildings, studio
buildings, and hotels, all distinctions made in building pemit
applications. Although New Yorkers had lived in shared and maitiple
dwellings since well befere the 1860s when the Department: of Buildings was
established and records kept for building construction in New York,%’ their
particular forms, in the sense of size, structure, plan, appearance, and
organization of space, were the subject of experimentation arxd debate in the
years when the area of the district was developed.

Likewise, the names used to refer to these various types were sometimes
imprecise ard flexible until the pericd of experimentation ernded. Their use
in puilding permit applications and in the press changed over time and at
any given time was subject to interpretation. In practice, these six types
are not always completely separate from one another. In particular, there
is at times a blwrring at the edges among the categories of tenements,
hotels, and flats; flats, agartnent buildings, and apartment hotels; and
hotels and apartment hotels.4

45 Robert A.M. Stern, et al., New York 1900 (New York, 1983), 287.

46 Tne first generation of multiple dwellings in the area, scattered
wood-frame tenements and lodging houses built before 1879, were campletely
replaced during the initial phase of the development in the district, and
later generations of nultiple dwellings, such as many flats and tenements of

the period 1879~1900, were subsequently replaced by apartment buildings,
especially in the 1920s.

47 Elizabeth Collins Cromley, "The Development of the New York
Apartment:  1860-1905," Ph.D. dissertation (City University of New York,
1982), 13.

48 certain criteria, based on an analysis of records at the Department
of Buildings as well as contemporary articles in the architectuwral press,
have been used to identify the varicus types of miltiple dwellings fourd in
the district. Tenements date from roughly 1877-1896, are typically twenty-
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All maltiple dwelling types except hotels and apartment hotels were
subject to regulation by the Tenement House laws. Hotels and apartment
hotels were excluded because under the building laws they were considered
commercial rather than residential buildings.

Tenements

Under the Tenement House laws the term tenement applied to any
structure with three or mere dwelling units. In common practice the term
was used to refer to residential structures without private baths or toilets
in individual living units, and which were occupied by low-income residents.
The Tenement House laws of 1867, 1879, and 1901 were primarily aimed at
improving corditions in these buildings. Such efforts were supported by a
variety of civic-minded groups for both sanitary and moral reasons: sanitary
because overcrowded conditions were thought to breed disease and endanger
public health, and moral because of the absence of privacy.

Before 1879, there were wood-frame tenements built scattered within the
area of the district above West 86th Street. These buildings housed a
popualation of low-income residents in the area hefore the more permanent
development of multiple dwellings began in the late 1870s. Although none
survive today, they were torn down only as they were replaced by brick
puildings over the next thirty years.

The oldest surviving maltiple dwelling in the distriet is a tenement at
460 Amsterdam Averme, built in 1877 under the original Tenement House law of
1867. This is the only surviving tenement in the district built under that
law, which had only minimal requirements: a fire escape, the provision of
at least one privy for every twenty residents, and the elimination of
horses, cows, sheep, and goats from the premises. In plan, the building
probably consisted of two- or three-room suites reached from stair landings
or public corridors. As no interior toilet facilities were required, the
likelihood is that a privy was probably originally in the back vard. The
huilding was of brick masonry construction with wooden floor joists and had
an open stairwell. 'This is a neo-Grec style building which in height,
scale, ard general appearance was similar to rowhouses in the neighborhood
and was designed by the prolific architect John G. Prague for B. Schaaf &

to twenty-five feet wide, have four to five residential stories above stores
at street level, and have more than two families per flcor. Flats typically
date from 1880 to 1900, range in height from five to eight stories and often
have street-level stores, range in width from twenty to 100 feet, and
generally have one or two families per residential floor in narrower
buildings (averaging twenty-five feet in width) and the same ratio of
residential units to building width in wider buildings. Apartment buildings
typically post-date 1900, are bigger in scale and plan than flats, have over
eight stories, and contain elevators. Apartment hotels, studio buildings,
ard hotels fit different criteria which are ocutlined below.
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Son.

In 1872 a new Tenement House law was passed, later called the "0ld
Iaw," which in plan produced "cumbbell" shaped buildings on standard twenty-
five by 100 foot midblock sites after proposals by James E. Ware and others.
The dumbbell plan was narrower in the middle than at the front and rear due
to light courts that brought light and air to every room in the building.
For a twenty-five by eighty-nine foot building on a standard lot (with the
required rear yard), a tenement at the high erd of the scale typically
contained two baths with toilets accessible from the public corridor on a
four-unit floor, with the baths and staircases situated at the center of the
neck of the dumbbell. Most had four residential floors above stores at
street level. A typical unit in such a building had three rooms with the
"living room" of each unit at the front or rear, and bedrooms opening onto
the light court that were reached only by passing directly through the rooms
without the benefit of a separate corridor. The living room contained a
washtubarﬁcoldwaterarﬁadummeyorﬂueforacoalstove legally
limited to eight stories, none in the present historic district are over
2i%.4° The dumdbell plan was not required for tenements but it was the only
workable solution for midblock buildings on starndard lots, as most were.
Corner buildings, with ample light and air from two street frontages, were
typically larger than midblock tenements and were not in the dumbbell plan.
"0ld ILaw" tenements were of brick masonry construction with wood floor
joists, and were not considered fireproof. The majority were built in rows
with party walls which brought the cost per building down below irdividually
constructed buildings.

At the lmemiofthescaletwoadjomirgtenemmtssharedasmgle
rear vard privy, and water was only available in the rear yard. Owners of
all tenesrentswererequlredtocleanandmltewashevezyrcmtwiceayear
and to report cases of sericus disease and deaths.®0 Within the district,
such tenements were occupied by remt-paying households whose heads worked in
traditional trades or jobs. For example, in 1900, in a qroup of tenements
on the west side of Columbus south of 83rd Street, the following occupations
were represented: tallor, day laborer, stable man, carpenter, Jjanitor,
dressmaker, clerk, coachman, porter, servant, meat dealer, cook, watchman,
and plurber.>1

49 fThis was in part due to the building laws which by 1895, if not
before, required buildings over eighty-five feet in height (usually eight
stories) to be fireproof. This is an illustration of the cowerlapping
provisions of the Tenement House law and the building laws and the necessity
of a close reading of each to find the more restrictive requlations, which
took precedence.

50 while %0ld Iaw" tenements were popularly considered undesirable
places to live by the middle class, they were better than other kinds of
residences in the city such as lodging houses, which were governed by
Lodging House Laws, and tenements built under the 1867 Tenement House law.

51 United States Census, 1900.
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There are nearly forty existing "0ld Law" tenements built between 1879
and 1896 in the district. Five of these were constructed as individual
buildings, with the remainder built in rows ranging from two to eight
structures. Almost all of these were huilt on Columbus and Amsterdam
Avenues, usually adjacent to flats of similar size ardl appearance from the
same period. Indeed, althaugh tenements were at the bottom end of the
socio-econanic scale for multiple dwellings in the area, and often were less
expensively or elaborately embellished than flats, the difference between
flats and tenements in the district is not obwious by their exterior
appearance,

In style, the earliest tenements in the district are neo-Grec. After
1890, they were all desiqned in variations of the Romanesque or Repaissance
Revival styles. 1In all cases their designs followed the trends established
by rowhouses, presumably to suggest to their renters stylishness amd
prestige and the image of a New York City middle-class hare. 2Among the more
prolific designers of tenements in the area were Gilbert A. Schellernger for
the Gordon Brothers, Babcock & McAvoy for Borkel & McKean, and Exmest W,
Schneider for lorenz Weiher.

Under the Multiple Dwelling Law of 1929, owners were required to
upgrade Old law Tenements by replacing cutside privies with a minimm of one
indoor water closet for every two families, amd improving fire safety with
sprinklers and alterations to public corridors and stairs. Although some
argued that these provisions would prove such a hardship on owners that many
buildings would be torn down, it does not appear that such was the case, at
least to any great extent, in the area of the district.

Flats

The term "flat" was first used in Edinburgh ard Iondon early in the
nineteenth century to denote living units that were all on one floor in
larger buildings, often after those buildings were subdivided. In New York
it may have been applied to rowhouses altered in the mid-nineteenth century
to contain separate living units on each of its floors. By the time the
Department of Buildings began keeping records of new building applications
in 1866, a common type of new structure consisting of three or four stories,
each with a separate living unit, above strest-level stores, was classified
on the basis of construction and use as a "second-class dwelling." At same
point both these second-class dwellings amd the living units within them
began to be referred to as flats. The units were larger than those in
tenements and each contained baths and toilets. These huildings had fewer
tenants per floor than tenements.

These buildings were referred to by the Department of Buildings, at
first loosely and after 1874 officially, as "French Flats." In the area of
the district, French Flats or, sometimes simply flats, were built for a
range of tenants. None of these buildings had elevators and all were
limited by the Tenement House Law to eight stories. The more prestigicus
flats were often named with carved and decorated inscriptions on the
buildings. Entered on side streets where there wers no storefronts, they
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were treated differently fram flats at the low end of the scale.

Whereas the low-erd flats often ocoupied midblock avenue frontage, were
built adjacent to tenements, and were indistinguishable from tenements in
appearance arnd the level of ardutectural embellishment, the high-end flats,
althmghmiltmmonthesamestamardcitylotg, were often treated
architecturally as single larger buildings resembling apartment buildings,
either with one or several entrances, ard were more elabarately embellished.
For example, at the low end is a group of three flats at 488, 450, and 492
Ansterdam Avernie built in 1889-1890 for William Bell by the architect Jacob
H. valentine. They are articulated as three separate buildings 1like the
tenement row adjacent to them. They are entered through narrow doors next
to storefronts, where a narrow corridor leads back to a stair, and have more
than one unit on each of the four upper-level residential floors.

Better classes of flats were built on larger than standard lots on
corner sites with more light and air. One such example is 221-223 Columbus
Averue, designed by Arthwr Doncovan Pickering for George W. Rogers in 1887.
Given a prestigious name, "The Tuxedo," and a modest entry hall, its
developers hoped to attract middle-class tenants and to distinguish their
building from less comodious places. Like less prestigious buildings,
however, this was of non—fireproof, brick construction with wood floor
joists, ard it admitted light to inner roams by means of narrow rear light
courts in conformance with the Tenement House Iaw.

At the top of the scale were buildings like "The Aylsmere" at 331-333
Columbus Avenue, designed by Henry Andersen for lLeopold Kahn in 189%2. This
was conceptually a different type of building, built on several assembled
lots with a central court for light and alr instead of narrow side or rear
light wells. It was entered throagh a spacious, omamented lobby.
Structurally this later building was a step up, with a fireproof basement
and first floor, as required in the building law, and steel girders on upper
floors. In plan, a typical flat might include a parlor, dining roam,
several bedrooms, a Xitchen, one or more bathrooms, and one or more
servants’ rooms, all linked by private corridors.

At the lower end, flats were occupied by pecple with such occupations
as clerk, salesman, and civil servant, ard by retired pecple and widows, the
latter frequently with boarders or lodgers in the household. At the
Aylsmere, on the other hand, in 1900 its twenty-flve households included
pecple in the ocoupations of physician, banker, engineer, ship broker, real
estateagentmerchant,msurancen‘an,andsalesmn Seventeenofthe
households had servants.

Of the existing flats in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District, fewer than a dozen were built before 1885 and about 185 more were
built by 1900, with only two erected after 19%00. These buildings were
constructed on Columbus Avenue, on Amsterdam Avenue north of West 80Cth
Street, on portions of Central Park West, amxi on the side streets
immediately adjacent to the averues. The older and more modest flats terd
to be north of 80th Streect, and the more comodious flats are socuth of 80th
Street, although there are mmerocus exceptions. Most of the flats
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originally built on Central Park West were equivalent in size and character
to the Aylswere; these were replaced by larger apartment buildings in the
1920s.

The two most prolific designers of surviving flats in the district are
Thom & Wilson and Gilbert A. Schellager, also the mest prolific rowhouse
architects in the district. Thom & Wilsor. were active for almost the
ccrrplete. period of flat building, from 18820 to 1896, and Schellenger’s
ailldings date from 1886 to 1900, While flats resembled rowhouses in scale
and adopted the architectural styles used in -rowhouses, such as neo—Grec,
Queen Amne, Romanesque, and Renaissance Revival, they were kuilt closer to
the lot line and were generally less expensively finished. Unlike
contemporanecus rowhouses, which are often designed to be distinguished fram
one ancther and whose facades are frequently articulated by projecting bays,
oriels, amd varicus pictureseque roof treatments, flats are generally
reqular in their massing and define a uniform street wall, most apparent on
Colunbus and Amsterdam Avermes. An interesting exemple of a flats building
designed to harmonize with both neighboring flats on the averme and
rowhouses on the adjacent side street is the Greystone at 286-294 Columbus
Averme (southwest corper of West 74th Street), which has a planar neo~Grec
facade in brick and limestone on Colunbus Avernue and a more robust
Romanesque Revival facade in rusticated limestone on West 74th Street.

Apartment Hotels

In the effort to develcp a suitable middle-class multi-family dwelling,
at least for bachelors and newly married couples, an early invention in New
York was the apartment hotel which cambined features of the new apartment

house type and the hotel, an established kind of residence for middle—class
living., As discussexdd in the architectural prvm-ssl,5 the apartment house was
considered to lack the privacy of a house and the amenities of a hotel,
whereas the hotel 1ackﬁﬂmspacimsmsandsensecfpenuanemeofan
apartment. Filling the gap, the apartment hotel contained suites of yooms
including, at first, a parlor, dining room, bedroams, private baths, and
servants’ rooms -- everything to be found in an apartment house except a
kitchen (in scme cases there would have been a small "housekeepmg" kitchen
without a stove®3), 1Instead, a dumbwaiter comnected a serving pantry in
eaduapartmanttoalargekitdmcnthegrunﬂfloororbasanentfor
delivery of food to each apartwment, or tenants could eat in a restaurant on
the ground floor.

The first apartment hetels in the area of the district were: the
Beresford, the San Remo, the Majestic, and the El Dorado, all built on
Cantral Park West between 1889 and 1893 and all later replaced in the 1920s

52 pescribed in Cromley, Chapter 5, 150-160.
53 gtoves were not allowed in living units of apartment hotels under

the law but the law was not always strictly enforced. This situation became
a matter of public controversy in the mid 1920s.
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by apartment buildings with the same names;54 and the Endicott at 440-456
Columinis Averne designed by Edward L. Angell, and the Brockholst at 520-526
Columbus Avernme designed by Jochn G. Prague, both built in 1889 and both
still standing. The Endicott and the Brockholst were for a distinctly upper
middle-class clientele and had very similar features. Both were designed in
the Romanesgue Revival style and had commercial avenue frontages. At the
Brockholst the rest of the ground floor was taken up by a large entrance
hall, a reception room, a dining room, a cafe, and a barber shop, all richly
ezrbelllstm ard furnished. Both an ornate iron stairway and an elevator led
to upper floors where there were suites of roams of varicus sizes., The
building was plamned around a large central court and two smaller courts.-
It is of load-bearing brick construction with a nen—fireproof interior iron
frame.

In 1900 there were seventeen households at the Brockholst, including an
architect, a manager of a foreign company, a cigar manufacturer, a
oonstnlctim engineer, a railroad supplier, an editor, an accountant, a
banker, a doctor, a member of the corm exchange, a shipper, and several
widows. Seven of these had live-in servants.

Wluleseveralsuchbulldu\gswreerectedinthedistrictinthe
nineteenth century, only a few survive. As an article apout the Endicott
stated at the time it opened,®® a new kind of building such as this involved
a greater risk on the part of its developer than flats for which there was a
proven markest.

Subsequent concentrations of apartment hotel construction tock place
during the periods 1902-1907, 1914-1917, ard 1922-1929; this resulted in a
grtnponWest?ZrﬁStreetardothersscatteredthJghalttheareaofthe
district. A wider rarge of tenants were accomcdated than before, in small
inexpensive units in most cases and in large and very expensive units in a
few cases. These later apartment hotels circamvented the height
restrictions of the Tenement House Iaw, and after 1916, the Building Zene
Resolution, under both of whic:hanapaxtnmthotelwaseonsidered like a
hotel, a ocmmercial building. A case in point, the Oliver Crc:mell,
designed by Emery Roth and built in 1927 for Washington Square, Inc., is
considereld the first "skyscraper' on the Upper West Side. In at least scme
cases, buildings may have been altered in the process of design from
apartments to apartment hotels for this reason. Financial corditions
provided a particular incentive for developers to push against the limits of
the laws.

In the pericd 1914-17 three nearly identical apartment hotels were
designed by Buchman & Fox for Edward West Browning and built in the area of
72nd Street, and a fourth was designed by Robert T. Iyons for the same
developer. The three Buchman & Fox Ruildings are faced in elaborate terra-

54 Like all apartment hotels, the Dakota of 1880 also had a dining
room ard full hotel services; unlike them, it had full kitchens in each apartrent.

55  nhe Hotel Endicott,” Real Fstate Record & Guide (1889), 44.
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cotta sheathing executed in a neo—Gothic style. 1In the 1920s, Emery Roth
designed three apartment hotels, including the Oliver Cromwell, and the

firms of Sugarman & Berger and Sugarman & Hess also designed a total of
three,

t Buildi

Of the several multiple dwelling types within the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic Distriet, apartment buildings, although net
the most numercus, are the most conspicuous by virtue of the size and
location of the buildings. There are about 150 apartment buildings and 200
flats, but the apartment buildings occupy more area, they are much taller,
and they house many more pecple. Whereas the flats are concentrated aleng
Columus Avenue and portions of Amsterdam Averue where they are generally
related in scale to both neighboring tenements and rowhouses, the apartment
buildings form a high eastern boundary to the dQistrict along Central Park
West and a western boundary that extends from 69th Street along Broadway and
contimies up Amsterdam Averme between 72rd amd 79th Streets. They create
several distinct streetscapes, notably on West 72nd, 77th, 79th, 81st, and
geth Streets; anritheyarescatteredthrcughcutthedlstrlctsothatthere
is at least one in almost every block of the district.

only two apartment buildings, the pioneering Dekota of 1880, and Ia
Rochelle at 321-329 Columbus Avenue of 1895-1898 (designed by ILamb & Rich
for G.H. Merriman), were built in the district in the nineteenth century.
It was after 1900 and especially after World War I that the construction of
apartment buildings transformed the look and character of the district. The
large majority of apartment buildings in the district replaced existing
"permanent” brick buildings, sone of them being flats and tenements, whereas
the development of the area up until this time occurred either on vacant
land or replaced small wood-frame struchmes. In the search for an
appropriate housing form for the middle class, the apartment building was
gaining acceptance in New York City in the 1890s, but it was only in the
decade after the IRT subway along Broadway opened in 1904 that many were
built in the area of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
— nearly forty being built during that pericd.

One could reasonably argue that apartment buildings were already common
here in the form of the higher class of flats since arocund 1890 and that the
distinction is largely semantic. However, changes in the building laws and
the Tenement House Iaw in 1901 together with other conditions (electricity,
necessary for elevators, was available from a power substation in 1896)
altered the framework in which these structures were built so that, by and
large, different kinds of multiple dwellings were built before and after
1901, Under the Tenement House Iaw of 1901, a multiple dwelling on a
standard lot was impossible to build, cowrtyard buildings on miltiple lots
being the only altermative. The costs of construction amd providing
amenities in a more mechanized building, the introduction of fireproof
buildings mandated by codes and encouraged by insurance companies, and the
change in rent struchure that was the result of elevators produced a new
kind of kuilding that became the standard solution.
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In the period from 1904 to 1914 most new apartment buildings were U- or
H-shaped in plan or had central courts. Typically built to the maximm
under the Tenement House Taw of about twelve to fifteen stories in height,
they were serviced by elevators from large and elaborate public lchbies and
were mostly steel-frame fireproof or "semi~fireproof" construction (some
exposed steel members). These lwawry buildings were intended for upper
middle—class tenants and had living units organized with public roums
grouped together near the entry, private and sleeping roams grouped
separately, and service rooms with separate circulation. Mulliken & Moeller
and Schwartz & Gross were the two most prolific architectural fimms
associated with these buildings in the district. Several of them were built
on Central Park West and others on prominent corner sites elsawhere in the
district.

In the years just before construction stopped during World War I,
apartment buildings began to appear more frequently on midblock sites.
Although these were much larger kuildings, in plan they recalled the
durkbbell and rear light well plans of midblock flats and tenements of the
previous twenty years.

The biggest wave of development of apartment buildings tock place after
World War I, from 1919 until construction stopped in 1931 because of the
Depression. In this period there were nearly ninety new apartwent buildings
constructed in the district, including a mmber of them substantially larger
and taller than anything in the neighborhood before, with seweral in the
range of thirty stories. The largest of these buildings, built after 1929,
were shaped by the amended Building Zone Resolution of 1927 and the Multiple
Dwelling Iaw of 1929, and their set-back towers were a new form in the area.
In plan, as before, midblock buildings tended to have side ard rear light
courts, like large dumbbells, and cormer bhuildings, while maintaining the
street wall, were U- or E~shaped in the rear. These buildings were intended
for a broader rarge of income levels than the lwary buildings of the pre-
World War I years. At the low end living units were smaller and had lower
ceilings: ‘"efficiency" apartments (efficient because their rooms were used
for miltiple purposes) had one or two roams, and three- and four-room units
omitted servants rooms. At the high end they were at least as large amd
lavish as they had ever been: buildings like the Beresford and San Remo
included apartments of sixteen or more roams on two or three floors (called
duplex or triplex apartments) with ceilings of twelve feet and higher and
wood-burming fireplaces. Among many prolific architects, George F. Pelham
built the largest mmber of uildings in this period and Emery Roth built
several of the largest and most prominent.

When most of the larger buildings were constructed after the twrn of the
century, a basic compositional format was utilized for almest every
building, on which ornamental details Qerived from different stylistic
sources — Renaissance, Baroque, Georgian, and Gothic — could be placed.
Most facades of large buildings by 1900 had two- or three-part vertical
compositions with a two-story base and an articulated upper section when
there were three parts. These campositions might be embellished with
articulated end bays, balconies, or other features in the broad midsection.
The facades of these buildings were generally brick, embellished with txrim
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of stone, terra cotta, and ormamental irormwork. Among the earliest were
those most richly ornamented, often in the elakorate Beaux-Arts style, such
as the St. Urban at 285 Central Park West (1904-05, Robert T. Lyons,
architect) with its praminent mansard roof.

Until 1930, the owverwhelming choice of style for these buildings was
nec-Renaissance. In the last fow years before construction ended, some of
the largest buildings in the district, including a few located along Central
Park West, notably, the Century (1931, Irwin S. ¢Chanin and Jaogues L.
Delamarre, Sr., architects) and the Ardsley Apartments (1931-31, Emery Roth,
architect), were designed in the Art Deco style. These buildings were
treated somewhat differently than nec-Renaissance buildings; they have
articulated bases and other features that helped relate them visually to
their neighbors, but have soaring towers whose designs emphasized
verticality rather than visual termination. Typically clad in brick with
stone, cast-stone, and terra—cotta decorative trim, the facades of these
build.mgs incorporate stylized, often geometric, and often polychromatic
ormamental features that tend to emphasize the massing of the building.

Studio Buildings

Studio buildings were a form of apartment building or apartment hotel,
initially designed specifically to provide living and working space for
artists. The precedent for this building type in New York was set in 1857-
58 by Richard Morris Hunt in his Studio Building (15 West Tenth Street,
demolished). Because they were expensive to build, many studio buildings
were financed as cooperatives.

To accomodate artists, these buildings generally had north-~facirg,
double-height studio rooms with large industrial sash windows, and ore or
two floors of sleeping and service rvams behind the studio. To utilize the
space in the buildings where there were double-height units on the north
side, same had smaller, ordinary living units on twice as many floors on the
south side. Like the best of other varieties of contemporary apartment
buildings, they are of fireproof, steel-frame construction with concrete
floor and roof arches.

To obtain adequate light of the right exposure, most studio buildings
in New York were built on the south sides of streets facing open spaces.
The first of these in the area of the district and the largest concentration
of them, on the north side of West 67th Street, are an exception, ensuring
northern light to studio units attherearofthebulldmgbyvumeofthe
low-rise rowhouses on West 68th Street.®® From 1902 to 1907 several studio
buildings were erected on West 67th Street by the same developer-architect

56 Tt has been suggested that restrictive covenants initially governed
the development of 68th Street and the side streets further north, allowing
only single-family rowhouses to be built, comversation with architectural
historian Andrew Scott Dolkart, March 22, 1990. Examination of deeds amd
conveyances, however, has turned up o specific indication of covenants.
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team: william J. Taylor and Simonson, Pollard & Steinam (and variations);
two cothers were added on this block in 1915 and 1919, All but two of the
twelve studio buildings located in the district were erected by 1915. Apart
from West 67th Street, the others were built on scattered locations on and
sauth of 77th Street, including the Stadio Building at 44 West 77th Street
(1907-09, Harde & Short, architects) facing Manhattan Square.

Stylistically, these buildings generally stand cut among contemporary
apartment buildings. Most have an Arts and Crafts era character in the use
of clinker brick with polychrome terra-cotta trim and their facades
incorporate Gothic, Northermm Renaissance, and Tudor details, all of which
has an immediate association with the production of art by the tenants.
These features are overlaid on conventional two- or three—part campositional
frameworks.

Hotels

within the range of building types called hotels that were built in New
York City during the years when the Upper West Side developed, those in the
district appear to be all of crne general type. Neither the first-class,
luxury hotels of midtown near the city’s principal visitor attractions, ror
the lower end hotels that catered to seasonal laborers or unattached working
men, these were middle-priced hotels for middle~class professionals and
usiness people. They provided food and shelter oh a temporary or long-term
basis for bachelors, traveling salesmen, hewly married couples and others
who did not want the commitment of a permanent residence with its investment
in fumiture, costs of servants, and daily responsibilities. At least two,
the Orleans at 410-416 Columbus Avenue designed by Buchman & Deisler for the
Imperial Constructicn Conpary, and 291 Central Park West designed by
Clarerxe True for Eppenstein & Mathews, offered a boarding plan Jmludlng
meals, although they were open te tourists and other short-term visitors,
theywe:ewidelyconsldexedbythemddleclasstnbearesldentlaloptmn
and had been since before the middle of the nineteenth century.

Of the dozen odd hotels built in the area of the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District, nearly all were built between 1898
and 1913, with a few between World War I and the Depression. Except for one
on Central Park West at 89th Street, all were huilt on West 8lst Street or
below. The earlier group were generally more richly embellished than
contamporary mmltiple dwellings of other types because they had a more
urgent need to attract new guests. In fact five of the earliest hotels in
the district were designed in the Beaux-Arts style, both because of its
sumptuousness and its associations with cosmopolitan Parisian life. After
1911, the image of most hotels in the district was more restrained,
generally in the neo-Renaissance style.

Except for the Hotel Colonial at 441-449 Colunbus Avenue (1903-05,
Frederick C. Browne, architect) with its central court, generally a sign of
hicher quality and cost, all of the=se hotels were built with side or rear
light courts where there were lower cost rooms. When they opened, all of
these hotels probably had spacious lcbbies and restauwrants and provided
varied services to guests., In the earliest hotels typical living units
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probably consisted of rooms with private baths and pairs of rooms with a
shared bath. By the post-World War I period, most rooms had private baths.

Commissions for hotels were considered prestigious and develcpers
typically selected well-known architects for these highly visible projects.
Almost every designer of a hotel in the area vas a prominent member of the
profession. Buchman & Fox, Harry B. Mulliken, Schwartz & Gross, Maynicke &

‘Franke, Clarence True, and Gecrge F. Pelham all designed hotels in the area. -

Unlike most cther multiple-dwelling types which before 1916 were
requlated by both the building laws and the Tenement House Law, hotels were
only regulated by the building laws until 1916 after which they were
requlated by the Building Zone Rescluticon as well. However, in the building
laws they were more strictly and specifically regulated than many other
building types, and their fire insurance costs were higher because of the
nature of their use.

Subsecuent History

There has been relatively little new construction of muiltiple dwellings
in the area of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District in
the nearly sixty years since all construction of such hbuildings came to a
halt in the early years of the Depression. The little activity that has
ocourred has been as follows: coversion of rowhouses into apartment
buildings, conversion of non-residential huildings inte residential
buildings, conversion and remodeling of public spaces such as lobbies and
dining rooms of multi-unit buildings, oonstruction of new aparl:rent
buildings, and the alteration of the interiors of various buildings to
adjust to shifting markets.

Continuing a development that had bequn in the 1920s, several groups of
rmdmseswerejomaimﬁremdeledassmgleaparhnenthnldumgsinevery
decade through the 1970s, reaching a maximum of nine such conversions in the
1960s. As part of these conversions the stoops were removed arnd the facades
were usually stripped of original decorative detail ard remodeled as sirgle
designs. Scmetimes the building was extended to the building line and a new
facade was constructed, usually Moderne or modern in style. Generally
speaking these changes seem to reflect a decline in the econamic value of
rental property in the neighborhood up to the 1970s. Almost all of the
rowhouses in the district, whether or mot they have had exterior
alterations, are now occupied as apartments. Relatively few are ooccupied as
single-family dwellings.

In at least cne case, the old Pythian Temple on West 70th Street, a
non-residential building (in this case a clubhcuse) has been converted to
residential use,

An important behind-the-scenes change has been the remodeling of public
spaces such as lobbies, dinimg rooms, and reception rooms of apartment
buildings, hotels, flats, and apartment hotels. Some such spaces have
become commercial, reflecting both econcomic pressure and changirgy social
needs. Others have been remodeled, perhaps in efforts to attract new
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business and same have been converted as part of modermnization efforts that
might inciude air conditioning and new elevators.

There were very few apartment buildings erectsed in the Qistrict between
1931 and the end of Weorld War IZI. Then two to four were built in each
decade until the 1980s when seven were constructed. Since World War II,
modified rmilding codes, improved 1lighting, heating and ventilating

technology, and new zoning regulations (since 1961) have charged the long--

time practice of designing khuildings around light courts. In this peried,
most new buildings were designed as solid blocks, and sometimes were set
back from the building line, as at 15 West 72nd Street, creating
inharmonious streetscapes. In the 1980s, revised zoning has encomraged new
construction more sympathetic to its context; an example of this trend is
the Coronado at Broadway and West 70th Street.

Same of the biggest charnges in the area of the district have been
imperceptible from the street. wWhile most buildings have undergane interior
remodelings, their basic use has remained constant. In the case of flats
and tenements, however, since the 1970s, many have been thoroughly upgraded
to modern apartment buildings with full kitchens and baths in every unit.
Related to these changes have been the imposition of rent control and rent
stabilization laws throwhout New York City on the one hand amd the
conversion of much rental property to cogperatives and condominiums on the
cther.

Current Copditions

Most street-level stores in multiple dwellings have keen remodeled.
Doors to upper-level flats and tenements, particularly when they face the
avernues, are somewhat less likely to have been remodeled. In apartment
buildings, many new entrances have been installed. A significant change to
mltiple awellings in the Qistrict has been the replacement of original
wood- or steel-framed windows with alumimum sash, often in a pattern new to
the bhuilding which is mot as sympathetic to its overall architectural
character. Often this alteraticn has been associated with the conversion of
rental property to cooperatives amd condominiums. Window replacement has
had an impact on substantial mmbers of every building type in the district.

Despite these changes, however, the multiple dwellings of the Qistrict
are in largely original condition. A few cornices have been removed and

parapets altered, but the overwhelming character of the buildings is little
changed since the 1930s.

Michael Corbett
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THE OCMMERCTAL ARCHITECIURE OF THE
UPPER WEST SIDE/CENTRAL PARK WEST HISTORIC DISTRICT

Individual Puilding Tvpes with Cammercial Uses®’

Very few buildings in the district were erected purely for cammercial
purposes; however, many were constructed to contain mived uses or were
rvesidential buildings later altered for commercial use. The relevant
building types found in the district are: tenements and flats with street-
level shops, apartment buildings and hotels, rowhouses converted to
commercial use at the street level, small commercial buildings, and other
specialized cammercial structures. Although the shopfronts contained in
these buildings =swurvive in various states of imtegrity, the remaining
historic features are significant to the character of the streetscapes.

Tenements and Flats with Street-Tevel Storefromts>3

In most cases, the masonry upper wall of a tenement or flats building
is separated from the street-level storefronts by a cornice or bandcourse of
pressed metal, wood, or stone. Often these horizontal elements contained
frieze bands designed to accamwodate commercial sitmage. Supporting this
feature are masonry or cast-iron piers, normally ornamented, which divide
the gqround story into storefront mocules.®? Surviving in various states of
inteqrity (sometimes details are missing although the piers remain in situ),
these piers amnd pilasters frame the storefront openings. Cast~iron colums
often occurred within the opening and were sometimes placed inside the
storefront. These are in most cases visible today: in a few instances the
original elements are intact, in situ, but hidden behind modern materials.
Nonetheless, they reveal that often the structural divisions of the street-

57 Tis section is based on the following sources: Atlas of the Entire

City of New York (New York, 1879); Atlas of the Citv of New York and Part of
the Bronx (New York, 1885): M. Christine Boyer, Marhattan Manners (New York,

1985), 193-219; James Trager, West of Fifth (New York, 1987), esp. 23, 38,
132, 2144ff: New York City, Manhattan Department of Buildings, Plans,

Permits, and Dockets; New York Public Library, Bhotomraphic Views of New
York Ccity 1870’s-1970“s from the Collections of the New York Public [ibrary

(Ann Arbor, Mich., 1981), microfiche nos. 0599, 0608, 0675, 0807, 0808.

58 Buildings of this type were constructed on Columbus and Amsterdam
Avermes. While little original storefront fabric survives on Columbus
Averue, that on Amsterdam Avenue has undergone a lesser degree of change and
shows a greater harmony with the architectwral character of the upper
stories of the huildings.

59 This description of storefronts is based on a survey of Photographic
Views... New York Public Library, and Department of Taxes FPhotograph
Collection, Municipal Archives and Records Center.
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level camercial openings did not necessarily align with the bay divisions
of the upper facade. This non-aligment was architecturally resolved
through the enployment of a heavy lintel or architrave which visually acted
to support the load of the masonry and which provided a convenient frieze
for the inclusion of signage. When the narrow side of the multiple dwelling
faced onto the ocammercial avenue, the one or two shopfront modules per
building alternated with the residential entrance. When the long side of the
building stretched alerng the averue, residential entrances were either
located between the more rumerous shops, or on the side street, or both. The
residential entrances, normally reached by a low stoop (man% of which have
since been removed) contained a door surmounted by a transam.

The typical shopfront designed for these building types was often
tripartite in composition: a recessed doorway with a transam flanked by, or
in same cases, to the side of, show windows that were bracketed between an
upper transom and lower bulkhead. Bulkheads, sametimes elaborately
decorated, were built of iron or wood painted in solid colors. Transoms
were typically camposed of several small glass panes (sometimes several
dozen) and were sametimes partially operable. Signs were most often boards
or letterirg attached to or painted on the frieze of the shopfront cornice;
often they were back-painted directly onto the show winkiow glass. Another
popular method was projecting signs extended from the upper part of the
facade, monted on metal brackets. Many of the shopfronts were shaded by
retractable awnings mounted within the masonry opening and ocnforming to the
shape of the opening; at times the secord-story shopfronts also had them.
Two prevalent first-story types were: (1) those attached to the bar between
the transom and door or show window, which allows natural light to
illuminate the display windows; and (2) those installed abave the transams
which often gave the awning a steep slcpe. Sametimes they also served as
additional signage.

Miltiple dwellings located along the avemues (with the main entrance on
the side streets), typically two per blockfront, were erected with narrow
vards between them that opened to the averme. Over time this short gap
between the two buildings was filled in with ome or two narrow one-story
structures; they normally continue the architectural motifs, in brick or
stone, of the adjacent buildings and incluwde shopfronts.

Apartment Buildings and Hotels

AlmgcoltmmsandAmsterdamavemlesareammberOfaparmmt
buildings, most of wvhich were designed with street-level shops. The
apartment muildings on West 72nd Street between Central Park West amd
Columbus Averme, on West 79th Street between Columbus and Amsterdam averes,
on West 86th Street, on Central Park West, and on side strests throughout

60 yhile the low stoops have been remowed, many original entrance doors
and transoms survive on Amsterdam Averme; cothers survive on Columbus Averme
at No. 182, No. 188, No. 207-209, No. 244, No. 302, No. 304-306, HNo. 463,
and Nos. 483, 485, and 487.
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the neighborhood typically do not have shopfronts. Apartment hotels, found
most often on the avermes and West 72rd Street, resemble the apartment
buildings in exterior appearance. Typically these were built with
storefronts at street level; if not, shops were often added scon after
construction.

In general, the facades of these buildings are articulated by large
masonry piers; clearly separating the ground-story shopfronts into discrete
units, the piers, through their vertical continuity, also allow the
shopfronts to be integrated with the arrangement of the facade at the upper
stories. Historically, these shopfronts resembled these in the tenements
and flats: separated from the masonry wall above by a decorative cornice
and/or bandcourse, they often had show windows with bulkheads flanking a
central doorway, the entire glassy span surmcunted by transoms, a sign, and
(often) a retractable awning. In apartment buildings and hotels the
residential entrarce is normally grand, with decorative treatment or
structural piers clearly separating it from cammercial fronts.

Rovhouses Corwverted to Conmercial Use

Rowhouses were altered for camercial use on West 72nd Street between
Columbus and Amsterdam avenmies and on West 79th Street between Amsterdam
Avenue and Broadway. A few rowhouses underwent commercial alterations as
early as 1909; however, the overwhelming majority of conversions ocaurred in
the 1920s.

In a few cases, the residential entrance remained unaltered and a
shopfront was inserted into the front of the raised basement, for example at
104 West 73rd Street, where the areaway with steps leads down to the
shopfront. In other cases the basement and first-story levels were raised to
permit the shopfront to be at grade. Typically these comercial frents,
surmounted by a pressed metal cornice, contained a doorway, one or two show
windows with bulkheads, and transoms.

More commonly, the rowhouse was stripped of its stoop, and shepfronts
were inserted into the raised basement, first story (as at 217 West 79th
Street), or (in the case of rowhouses with American basements) fiyst and
second stories. While these shopfronts vary in detail, they share some
cammon features: commercial and residential entrances are located to the
side of wide display windows.

Ancther cammon alteration, seen along West 723 and West 79th streets,
was the erection of a one- or two-story extension out to the huilding line
to accommodate cammercial tenarts. Often the first-story shopfront, its show
windows and doors framed in cast iron in the early twentieth century and
steel or aluninum later on, consisted of a side doorway and wide show window
resting on a low bulkhead. The residential entrance would be on ane side of
the shopfront, unless two or more contiguous rowhouses had been converted
simitanecusly, thus permitting one residential entrance to serve all the
apartments. The front extension, often originally faced in stone or brick,
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also contained businesses at the second story, where large windows, or a
fixed central sash flanked by smaller, operable windows and surmounted by
transoms, would be installed. (A nmber of these storefronts, generally
added in the 1920s, still survive.)

The most extensive commercial alteration of rowhouses in the district,
a popular change on West 72nd Street, imvolved the erection of a totally new
facade at the building line. In these instances, a commercial base with
piers arnd a cornice, often faced in stone or brick, would frame the Ffirst-
story shopfront (resembling those described above) and the entrance to upper
stories, as well as the second-story cammercial window arrangement,
typically a fixed sash of metal or wood flanked by double-hung or pivoting
sash side windows.

Small Commercial Buildings

Scattered along the shopping streets in the district there are a
handful of =mall buildings designed solely for comercial use. Columbus
Averue has two from the 1890s (Nos. 424 and 426), one rebuilt in 1961 (No.
466-468), and two from the 1980s (Nos. 211 and 215). West 72nd Street
contains four examples dating from 1909 to 1920 and a few from the 1930s.
Typically one or two stories, these buildings have facades composed of large
display windows surrounded by frames which reveal their periocd of
construction through bold stylistic references. Except for the most recant
examples, these buildings share a comon building plane and degree of
transparency with their larger neighbors. Today, the design intearity of
these small commercial buildings varies, but they are clear examples of
vibrant comercial design sparnirg the history of the district.

Other Commercial Structures

The historic district contains a building related to the livery
business, a stable at 2 West 90th Street built in 1906-07 (now converted to
residential use). A large complex erected in 1900-01 on West 66th and 67th
streets near Central Park West, consisting of a clubhouse and stables (both
now demolished), and the architecturally grand Durland Riding Academy, still
standing at 8 West 67th Street, attests to the recreaticnal aspect of the
horse industry at the turm of the century. One of the largest equestrian
schools in the world and hame of the New-York Riding Club (organized in
1873),51 the riding academy was later converted into a television center.

Another specialized building type found in the district is represented
by the Riverside Memorial Chapel (1925-26), a four-story building in the
Neo-French Renaissance style. Located on Amsterdam Avenue between West 75th
and 76th streets, it contains a mortuary chapel, offices, and residential
space. The six-story Renmaissance Revival edifice erected on the socuthwest
comer of Columbus Averue and 72nd Street for the firm of Park & Tilford,
first-class grocers, was designed by McKim, Mead & White (1892-93); it is

61 King (1893), 297, 569.
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one of the few large buildings in the district intended for purely
commercial use. A six-story dry goods store and warehouse (now converted to
residential use) in the nec~Renaissance style (George H. Griebel, 1902-03)
erected on Columbus Avermie at 73rd Street and the eleven-story Metropolitan
Storage Warehouse, designed in the Beaux-Arts style and built at 471-475
Amsterdam Avernue (1922-23), point to further coamercial activity in the
district. More recently, as part of the American Broadcasting Company
Television Center, a fifteen—story office-and-studio building was erected on-
West 67th Strest (1978-79).

David Breiner
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THE ARCHITECIURE OF RELIGIOUS AND OTHER PUBLIC AND FRIVATE INSTITUTIONS
IN THE UPPER WEST SIDE/CENTRAL PARK WEST HISTORIC DISTRICT

- N i thei hitect

The rich and varied religious architecture in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West  Historic District plays an important role in
defining the district’s character. These buildings are often organized into
camplexes to serve the various needs of a congregation: a house of worship;
a building for congregation functions (called variocusly a parish house,
church house or cammmnity center), a school, and living cuarters for the
nminister, priest or rakbi. These varied buildings for a multiplicity of
dencminations within the Judeo—Christian tradition reflect, in part, the
diverse population of the district during its period of major development. A
nunber of distinguished architects have addressed the challenge of
designing religious buildings for this densely-built residential
neighborhood. Many are located on midblock sites and relate to the
neighboring rowhcuses in scale and materials. Others, on Central Park West,
are grander in scale as befits their more genercus sites and the greater
width of the street. In responding to this challenge, the architects have
employed a broad rarnge of materials in a wide rarge of architectural styles.

Grace and St. Paul’s Iutheran Omirch, originally St. Andrew’s
Methodist Church, at 123-125 West 71st Street, built in 1879-80 and designed
by Stephen D. Hatch, is a unique essay in the district in the High Victorian
Gothic style. Twe Romanesque Revival churches swrvive: St. Andrew’s
Methedist Church, now the West Side Institutional synagogue, at 122-138 West
76th Street, designed by J.C. Cady & Co. and built in 1889-90, and renovated
after a fire in 1966; and the Church of the Third Universalist Society, now
the Mount Pleasant Baptist Church, at 140-144 West 8lst Street, built in
1892-93 and designed by John F. Capen. The West End Synagogue (Congregation
Shaaray Tefila), mow the Ukrainian Autocephalic Orthodox Chwrch of St.
Volodymyr, at 160 West 82nd Street, built in 1893-94 and designed by Brunner
& Tryon, shares many of the same architectural elements of the two
Romanesque Revival buildings, such as the coupled windows and the arcading
at the doors and windows, although Sharaay Tefila was cast in the
Moorish/Byzantine Revival mode considered appropriate for synagogues. The
similarities in form ketween Capen’s church and Brunner & Tryon’s synagogue
are particularly striking. Both have arcades flanked by towers and are
approached by a double flight of steps.

Three religious complexes on Central Park West represent turn-of-
the-century stylistic interpretations that occurred within the classical
canon. Congregation Shearith Israel Synagogue and Rectory at 99 Cemtral
Park West was designed by Bruner & Tryon in the monumental Academic
Classical style and built in 1896-97. Fram colonial times, Congregational
Shearith Israel had built houses of worship in the prevailing classical
style. Nonetheless, the shift in Brumner & Tryon’s work from the
Moorish/Byzantine Revival of the West Erxi Synagogue to the classicism of
Shearith Israel is striking. The Second Church of Christ, Scientist at 77
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Central Park West was desianed by Frederick Camstock in an Academic
Classical mode based on Beaux-Arts principles and built in 1899-1901. It is
likely that the Christian Scientists wished to establish a palpable presence
cn Central Park West. The New York Society for Ethical Culture at 2 West
64th Street was designed by Robert D. Kohn in the Secessionist style, a
variation of the Art Nouveau, and built in 1909-10. Although Kohn scaled
his building to sympathize with the Society’s adjacent school, built in
1902-03 and designed in a variation of the more traditional nee-Renaissance
style by Carrere & Hastings with Kohn as asscociate architect, he chose a
contenporary although classicizing style for the new religious sect.

Four charches and synagogues within the district display different
facets of the Gothic style. The Church of the Fourth Universalist Society
church, at West 76th Street and Central Park West, was built in 1897-98 and
desiomed by William A. Fotter in the style of late English Gothic churches.
The adjacent schocl building is contemporary and integral to the design of
the church. In the design of the Holy Trinity Evangelical Iutheran Church
at Central Park West and West 65th Street, huilt in 1899-1901, Schickel &
Ditmars created a church based on late-thirteenth-century northern European
prototypes. The Roman Catholic Charch o©of the Blessed Sacrament at 146-150
West 71st Street, built in 1916-17, was designed by Custave E. Steinback to
evoke thirteenth—century French Gothic church architecture. It is
constructed of cast stone as are the adjacent rectory and the school,
behind the church at 147-153 West 70th Street, both contemporary with the
church. The two buildirgs of the Stephen Wise Free Synagogue/ Hebrew Union
College-Jewish Institute of Religion at 28-36 and 38-44 West 68th Street,
were begun in 1939-41 and finished in 1948-49. Designed by Bloch & Hesse,
they are unified throuwgh the consistent use of a neoMedieval style with
Gothic elements and executed in Fordham gneiss and limestone.

The architects of this century have tended to organize the components
of the typical religicus camplex as a single structhare. This is seen in
three examples in the district. The Jewish Center at 131-135 West 86th
Street, kuilt in 1917-20, was designed by Louis Allen Abramson to
incorporate a synagogue and educational and recreational facilities within a
ten-story nec-Renaissance style structure. Congregation Rodeph Sholom at
7-21 West 83rd Street incorporates a synagogue, commnity and meeting roams,
and living quarters behind a massive facade with deeply cut arches that
evoke Romanesgue and Byzantine prototypes. Desioned by Charles B. Meyers,
the structure was built in 1928~29. The mast recent religious structure in
the district is the St. Matthew and St. Timothy ¢hurch and Center at 26-32
West 84th Street, built in 1967-68 ard dessigned by Victor Christ-Janer and
Associates. Be-hmd the high, reinforced-concrete street screen reminiscent
of le Corbusier’s late Brutalist work, Christ-Janer has juxtaposed the
sanctuary, parish hall, school and living quarters. The Rodeph Sholom
School at 10-16 West 84th Street, built in 1973-77, as designed by William
Roper echoes this aesthetic.

The changing demographics of a growing metropolis were responsible for
the Upper West Side’s development and religicus institutions both
antlclpated and followed their congregations uptown. The chronology of the
construction of religiocus buildings within the Upper West Side/Central Park
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West Historic District reflects the patterns of development within the area.
The earliest religious buildings were constructed near the intersection of
Broadway and West 72nd Street, the site of old Harserwille, the hamlet that
grew at the intersection of the old Bloomingdale Road (now Broadway) and
Harsernwville Lane (now West 7lst Street) which connected the Bloomingdale
Road to the Boston Post Road on Manhattan’s East Side. These include what
is now Christ ard St. Stephen’s at 124 West 68th Street, first organized in

1879 as the Chapel of the Transfiguration, an uptown branch of the Church .

of the Transfigquration at 1 East 29th Street ("Ihe Little Church Around the
Comexr'); Grace and St. Paul’s Lutheran Gnrch at 123-125% West 71st Street,

originally built as a chapel for a growing comgregation of Methodists by .

that dencmination’s Extension ard Missionary Society in 1880; amd the Raman
Catholic Church of the Blessed Sacrament which established itself at
Broadway and West 71st Street in 1887 in a building which preceded the
present one.

A second wave of religious buildings further to the north followed in
the 1890s. The growing congregation of Methodists on West 71st Street sold
its chapel to Grace Lutheran and moved as St. Andrew’s Methodist Episcepal
Church to 122-138 West 76th Street in 1890. The Third Universalist Society
built its new church at 140-144 West 8lst in 1892-93. A second Episcopalian
congregation left its chapel at Columbus Averme and West 83rd Street to
become the newly organized St. Matthew’s at 26 West 84th Street in 1892-93.
The first synagogue in the district was Congregation Sharaay Tefila, built
1893-94, at 160 West 82nd Street by a congregation that had moved up from
West 44th Street.

As Central Park West was developed later than the side street blocks
with residential structures, this was also the case for religious buildings.
However, in the 1890s ard in the first decade of this century, six religiocus
denoninations built places of worship on Central FPark West., The Scotch

ian Church moved up to Central Park West arnd West 96th Street from
West 14th Street in 1894. The city’s oldest Jewish congregation, Shearith
Israel, moved to Central Park West ard West 70th Strest from West 16th
Street just west of Fifth Avenue in 1897. The Fourth Universalist Society
built its Church of the Divine Paternity at Central Park West amd West 76th
Street in 1896-97. A Iutheran congregation, Holy Trinity Evangelical
Lutheran Church, moved uptown to Central Park West and West 65th Street in
1902. T™wo sects of relatively recent foundation, the Second Church of
Christ, Scientist, and the Mew York Society for Ethical Culture, joined the
more traditional denominations already established on Central Park West; the
Christian Scientists at  Central Park West and West 68th Street, in
1898~1901, and the New York Society for Fthical Culture at Central Park
West ardd West 64th Street in 1910. Comgregation Shearith Israel and the New
York Society for Ethical Culture are designated New York City Iardmarks.

Following World War I, the prosperity of the 1920s was manifested in
the construction of large apartment buildings alang the avenues, especially
Central Park West. Taking advantage of this tremd, in 1928 the Scotch
Presbyterian Church, leased its site to a developer on the condition that
accommodation be provided for the church in a new sixteen-story apartment
buildirg. Other newer hauses of worship were constructed on midblock sites
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on the side streets, Some replaced rowhouses, as in the case of the several
building campaigns of the Stephen Wise Free Synagogue/Jewish Institute of
Religion-Hebrew Union at 28-36 and 38-44 West 68th Street and Corngregation
Rodeph Sholam at 7-21 West 83rd Street. In cother cases, rowhouses were
refaced and interiors adjusted, as with the Society for the Advancement of
Judaism (1937} at 13-1%5 West 86th Street. 1In the case of the Ramanian
Orthodox Church of St. Dumitru at 50 West 89th Street, the interior was
renovated in 1940 to accommodate the church it the facade was left
essentially intact.

Several denominations have chosen to reuse -available religious
buildings now located within the district. At least four examples may be
cited. Grace Iutheran (now Grace and St. Paul’s Lutheran) purchased its
chapel from St. Andrew’s when the latter moved to West 76th Street in 1890;
the West Side Institutional Synagogue purchased this West 76th Street
buildirgy when St. Andrew’s merged with St. Paul’s in 1937. Three
denominations have been housed in the Carch of the Third Universalist
Society: the Disciples of Christ in 1910; the Moxrmons in 1845; and recently
the Mount Pleasant Baptists. In 1958 Conxgregation Sharaay Tefila sold its
building to the Ukrainian Autocephalic Orthodox C(harch of St. Volodymyr.

Other Public and Private Institutions and their Architecture

The Upper West Side’s growing population and increase in residential
development during the late-nineteenth century triggered a parallel increase
in the censtruction of a variety of institutional buildings to serve the
area. later, as transportation improved and the reputations of same of
these institutions spread, services were made available to a much wider
audience. Some have even gained national and intermational significance.
The initial isolation of the area necessitated the oonstruction of schools
and libraries to meet educational needs, clubs to meet social and cultural
aspirations, and fire and police stations to meet citlzens’ requirements for
protective services within their own self-sufficient neighborhoed. The
story of the history and development of the institutions in the district is
a long one ard covers periods of establishment, growth, and reorganization
for same major New York City institutions.

Many of the institutions in the district are housed in buildings
designed by architects specifically for the institution. 1In some cases,
institutions which were originally housed in pre-existing structures were
later moved to such specialized structures. In a few cases pre-existing
structures, typically rowhouses, adequately serve the needs of same smaller
institutions. Institations located on Central Park West, including the
American Museum of Natural History and the New-York Histarical Society, are
typically larger and more grandiose in scale and/cr ornamental treatment
than the instituticnal buildings located on side streets. This character
correspords to that of the larger apartment buildings and religious
institutions located ¢n the avemue. Institutional kuildings on the side
streets are typically smaller in comparison and cften ccoupy two lots rather
than entire blockfronts. In this way they conform to the residential
character of the side streets. There are exceptions, however. The
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buildings housing the Young Men’s Christian Association and the Pythian
Temple, located on side streets, are grand structures with exuberant detail.
These buildirgs were erected during a later phase of development and were
constructed amidst other larger development. These blocks are not primarily
residential in character. Another exception is Junior High School No. 44,
vhose building program called for an umuisually large kuilding on a
residential block.

Most of the architects who designed buildings specifically for
institutions in the district were not involved in any residential design and
development in the area. The only exception is the firm of Iamb & Rich
which designed several rowhouses in addition to their school building. In
addition to their work at the american Museum of Natural Histeory, the
architectural firm of Cady, Berg & See designed St. Andrew’s Methodist
Episcopal Church (now the West Side Institutional Synagogue) within the
district boundaries. Of the architects whose only work in the district was
institutional, many were large, well-established New York City fims like
Trowbridge & Iivingston; Napoleon leBrnun & Sons; York & Sawyer: Babb, Cook &
Willard; and Thomas White lamb. These architects were active throughout the
city designing other residential and institutional structures. For more
information on the architects represented in the district, see the
Architects’ Appendix.

PHASES OF DEVELOPMENT

I) 'The history of institutions in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District began lorng before the first institutional cornerstone
was laid. It camenced in the late—eighteenth century when cultural,
educational, amd service institutions were being organized throughout the
city, Institutions founded during the span between the late-eighteenth and
late-nineteenth centuries represent naticnally-recognized organizations such
at the American Museum of Natural History, the Young Men’s Christian
Association, amd the Knights of Pythias (a fraternal organization), as well
as early educational institutions, such as the Columbia Grammar School and
Sachs Collegiate Academy for Boys. Most of these organizations were
orlglmlly housed elsewhere in the city and later moved into the area of the
district as they expanded or required new facilities.

The first phase of develomment in the district includes the earliest
construction of institutional buildings. The year 1877 saw the campletion
of the first building for the American Museum of Natural History, which was
the first permanent building on Central Park West and the first institution
to be constructed in the district. Wwith little residential development in
the area and the inadequate transportation of the time, the msem’s
exhibits had few visitors in its early years. It would be ancther five
years before substantial residential construction was begun in the area, ard
an additional six years before ancther institution was constructed.

Engine Company No. 74, the second institution built in the district,
was erected in 1888-89 at 120 West 83rd Street. By this time, a boom in
residential construction had occcurred in the area. Numerous rows of houses
ard flats were built and the new residents of the commnity needed

€9

Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003

000880



Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003

www.protectwest70.org

protection from fire. The construction of this fire station symbolizes the
great growth of the period. Educational mneeds of area residents were
addressed by the close of the nineteenth century, as well. The Veltin
School at 160-62 West 74th Street was constructed in 18%3. The school
building would later be occupied by the Baldwin and Calhoun Schools, the
latter established as the Jacdbi School for Girls in 18%96. The St. Ages
Free Circulating Library ({originally located at 121 West 91st Street,
autside the district boundaries), was established in 1893, and the New York
Public Library amd its branch system was established in 1895. The St. Agnes
Branch would later ocaupy a building at 444 2msterdam Averue, within the
district boundaries. Thus, the first phase of institutional development in
the district saw the establishment of several organizations as well as the
first stages of construction for institutional purposes.

II) The second phase of institutional development in the district was
a more inmtense period of construction. The first decade of the twentieth
century saw mixch of this activity. The Progress Club (later occupied by the
Walden School, demolished ©. 1987-88), the Centyal Park West building for
the New-York Historical Society, the Swiss Hame, and the St. Agnes Branch of
the New York Public Library were all constructed early in the decade. Also
built at this time were rowhouses at Nos., 20 through 46 West 74th Street,
same of which would later be converted to institutional use,

The second and third decades of the twentieth century saw contimued
institutional establishment and construction. The Walden School and the
Jewish Guild for the Blind (which would later have a branch of its services
located within district boundaries) were both organized in 1914. The
Frarnklin School, the Pythian Temple (a lodge of the Knights of Pythias), and
the West Side Branch of the YMCA were alsc constructed during this period.

IIT) The third phase, from the 1950s through the 1980s, was a
transitional period for institutions in the district. Many organizations
merged, expanded, or relocated at this time. The Knights of Pythias vacated
its lodge building, the columbia Grammar and Leonard Schools merged, the
Stevenson School moved to West 74th Street, the Twentieth Police Precinct
moved to a new building at West 82nd Street, the Walden School expanded with
its Andrew Goodman Building, the Calhoun School moved to West 81st Street
and then expanded to West 74th Street, the Joselow House oocupied a rowhouse
on West 74th Street, and a new high school building was constructed for the
Columbia Grammar School. Thus, this period saw the continued growth of
institutions and the welcoming of new organizations to the area.

This three-phase development pattern clearly summarizes the general
history of the institutions in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. A long period of establishment, an intense construction
period, and a time of reorganization and expansion has brought to the
district several strong institutions. Same of the organizations have
naticnal repatations and are mornumental in design. Smaller institutions are
nonetheless firmly established in the history of New York City and the Upper
West Side, and continue to serve both city and neighborhood. The huildings
which house the institutions of the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District, through both their functions and their architectural
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design, camplement and enhance the residential character of the area. A
more detailed account of the history and architecture of each institution is
found below.

Religious Complexes
Holy Trinity Evangelical nhitheran chanch, 51-53 Central Park West

The Holy Trinity Evangelical Lutheran Church, designed by Schickel &
Ditmars — William Schickel (1850-1907) and Isaac E. Ditmars (1850-1934) —-
and built in 1902-03, stands on the northwest cormer of Central Park West
and West 65th Street. A neo-Gothic design based on late thirteenth-century
northern Eurcopean prototypes, the church is faced with rusticated limestone
above a rusticated granite base. The stone of the clerestory walls is
supported by a steel frame. The cornice is of limestone and copper and is
surmanted by a peaked roof, covered with slate. A copper fleche rises
above the roof.

The Evangelical Intheran Church of the Holy Trinity was organized in
1868 by a group seceding from St. James ILutheran Church on
Street. Hely Trinity first rented St. Paul’s Dutch Reformed Church at 47
West 21st Street, then purchased it the following year. There the
corngregation remained until relocating to West 65th Street and Central Park
West. St. James remained on Mulberry Street until 1891 when it moved to
East 73rd Street, but in 1938 St. James merged with Holy Trinity.

Secord Chach of Christ, Sciemtist, 77 Central Park West

The Second Church of Christ, Scientist, designed by  Frederick R.
Comstock (1866-1942), was built in 1899-1901 on the southwest corner of
Central Park West and West 68th Street. Comstock’s design for a damed church
is in the Academic Classical mode based on Beaux-Arts principles. The
basement, as well as the other architectural elements at the building’s
base -- the twelve steps and cheek walls at the building’s entrance and the
Tuscan portico at 10 West 68th Street (entrance to the reading and reception
rooms) -~ are of smooth-faced New Hampshire granite ashlar. The torcheres on
the cheek walls are of cast bronze. The walls of the chhwrch are of a
high-grade New York limestone called Scuth Dover marble. The roof is covered
with dark slate; the dome and its cupola are sheathed with copper.

Christian Sciernce was established by Mary Baker Eddy (d. 1910) in 1879.
The First Church of Christ, Scientist, in Boston (or Mother Church) was
dedicated in 1895. (Frederick R. Comstock was an assoclate architect on
this project.) Mrs. BEddy sent two disciples to New York, Mrs. Laura
Iathrop in 1886 and Mrs. Rugusta Stetson in 1888. Mrs. Iathrop and a group
of her adherents, encouraged by Mrs. Eddy, seceded froum the initial
Christian Science congregation in New York and formed the Second Church of
Christ, Scientist, in 1891. As Christian Science was a new sect, an
impressive architectural preserxe was deemed an appropriate way to further
its acceptance. Mrs. Stetson, who had enlarged the initial congregation,
turned to Carerre & Hastings to design the First Church of ¢Christ,
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Scientist, 1898-1903, a designated a New York City Landmark on the
northwest ccrner of Central Park West andd West 96th Street. The Secord
Church of Christ, Scientist, undertock its building at Central Park West and
West 68th Street similtanecusly, choosing as its architect, Comstock, who
had worked on the Mother Church. The building activity of the two New York
congregations inspired Mrs. Bddy to enlarge the Mother Church in Boston
(1906) .

Congregation Shearith Israel Synagogue (Spanish and Fortuguese Synagogue),
99 Central Park West and 8 West 70th Street

The Congregation Shearith Israel synagogue is a striking example in New
York City of the monumental Academic Classical style. Designed by Brunner &
Tryon, it was built in 1896-97 of smocth-faced limestone ashlar. Though a
simqular stylistic departure from more comwentional synagogue architecture
in New York which had adhered, through 1895, to the mid-ninteenth century
Byzantine-Moorish prototype, it was a choice defended by the architect.
Brunner cited as a prototype the Greco-Roman symagogue ruins in Galilee then
recently discovered by the Palestine Excavation Fund, The architecture of
the Chicago World’s Columbian Exposition (1893) was also an inspiration.
The corgregation, with its seventeenth- and eighteenth-century New York
antecedents, had a preference for classical forms as well. The adjacent
Beaux-Arts style rectory to the south of the synagoque is contemporary with
the synagogue and designed by Brunner & Tryon.

Adjacent to the synagogue at 8 West 70th Street is the Folonies Talmud
Torah School. Built in 1949 to the designs of Kaln & Jacocbs, the school
received a new facade designed by Cole & Liehman as part of alterations
carried out in 1953-54.

Shearith Israel is the oldest Jewish congregation in the city, tracing
its history back to the immigration of Spanish and Portuguese Jews to New
York in 1654. 1In 1730 when the bans acainst public assembly were lifted
they held their first public services on Mill Street, in a synagogue which
was rebuilt to accommodate an enlarged congregation in 1816. With each move
uptown, from Mill Street to Crosby Street in 1833 and from Croshy to West
19th Street off Fifth Avenue in 1860, Shearith Israel comissioned a
classical style edifice. And with each move the congregation took with it
classical interior architectural elements from the first synagogue on Mill
Street. (Today they are contained today within the present building.)
Shearith Isrmel is a designated New York City Landmark.

The Scotch Preshwyterian Chanch, 360 Central Park West, 2-10 West 96th
Street, and 3 West 95th Street

The Scotch Presbyterian Church, located at the southwest corner of
Central Park West and West 96th Street, is encompassed within the first four
stories of the sixteen-story apartment building designed by Rosario Cardela
and built in 1928-29. In 1928 the ocongregation, which has owned this
block-through site since 1892, leased the site to Vinross Realties, Inc.,
developers, with the comdition that the new edifice planned for the site
contain a church. The presence of the church on the site is maintained by
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the treatment of the entrance facade at 4 West 96th Street which is
distinguished from and not subsumed within the apartment building’s overall
design. This entrance takes the form of a smooth-faced heavy nec—Gothic
screen of ashlar limestone set along the building line in front of the
apartment house’s fourth-story setback. Four buttresses, offset by the
truncated octagonal tower on the right, artiocilate the facade. The pointed
arch containing the segmentally-tepped portal and the four lancet windows
above are flanked by the center luttresses. Attached to the base of the
buttress to the right of the portal is a bronze plagque, a World War I

memorial removed from the 1893-94 church previously. on the site, which also .

had its entrance on West 96th Street. The Alexander Robertson Scheool,
affiliated with the church, is also located within the apartment building.

Founded in 1756 by a group of Covenanters who seceded from the old
Wall Street Presbyterian Church, the congregation of the Scotch
Presbyterian Church applied to the Associated Presbytery of Scotland and
was sent its first pastor, the Rev. John Mitchell Mason, in 1761. Moving
fram its first hame on Cedar Street to Grand Street in 1837, ard fram Grand
to West 14th Street in 1853, the congregation built its fourth home, a
stone-fronted lecture hall (which included the Alexarxder Robertson School)
at 3 West 95th Street in 1893 and the stone-fronted church on the West 96th
Street corner in 1893-94, both to the designs of william H. Hme
(1834-1899) .

Vinross —— among whose principals was vincent J. Slattery, former

in the architectural firm of Horgan & Slattery — had the church

and lecture hall demolished and commissioned Rosario Candela to design a

building to house the church, a school, a gymnasium, laundry and apartments

for 149 families, erected in 1928-29. This solution, while uusual, was

erployed by several other congregations in the 1920s. Other examples are

the Calvary Baptist Church, 123 West 57th Street, located at the base of

the Salichury Hotel (1929-30, Jardine, Hill & Murdock) ard the Manhattan

Congregational Church, 2162 Broadway, once housed in the base of the former
Towers Hotel (1928-1932, Tillion & Tillion).

New York Society for Ethical CQultimre and School, 2 West 64th Street and 33
Central Park West

The meeting house of the New York Society for Ethical Culture, at the
southwest corner of Central Park West and West 64th Street, was designed in
the Secession style by Robert D. Kohn (1870?-1953) ard built in 1908-10,
adjacent to the Society’s Ethical OQulture School immediately to the south
at the corner of West 63rd Street. The two buildings are compatible in
scale and detail. The Society’s main meeting room is on the first story of
Kohn'’s building; Sunday school rooms and offices are on the stories above.
The building is a strong and unusual architectural statement. The base and
steps are of granite; the walls are of smooth-faced Indiana limestone
ashlar. The entrance facade, with its tall windows of leaded stained glass
in wood frames, is on West 64th Street. Two of the lower panels of the
blind Central Park West facade carry inscriptions. The light fixtures at
the entrance are original. The entrance pediment sculpture is by the
sculptor Estelle Rumbold Kohn, the wife of the architect. The New York
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Scciety for Ethical CQulture Meeting House is a designated New York City
Landmark.

The Ethical Culture School, built in 1902-03, was designed by Carrere &
Hastings with Kohn as associated architect. The juxtaposition of brick and
limestene in this building, a variation of the neo-Renaissarce style, makes
a strong architectural statement. The rusticated brick base is punctuated
by paired wirdow openings and a pedimented entrance. The facades abaove are
organized into three-story window bays flanked by stylized brick piers. A
contimous wrought-iron balcony sets off the fifth story. .

Kohn, like many American architects of his generation, had received
his training at the Ecole des Beaux~Arts in Paris. He was a friend amd
follower of the Society’s founder, Dr. PFelix Adler (1851~1933), amd
President of the Society from 1921 until 1%44. 2Adler, a philosopher,
religicus teacher, educator, and reformer, beliewved in the concept of
functional morality — the sense of duty social and naticnal groups owe one
te ancther. Young Adler was sent to COolumbia University, and the
universities in Berlin ard Heidelberg in his training for the rakbinate (his
father had come to New York from Germany to be rabbi of Temple Emanu—El).
Upon his return in 1873 he taught at Cornell for three years. He founded
the Society for Ethical CQulture in 1876, and two years later the
Workingman’s School (named the Ethical Culture School in 1895) based upon
the principles of Friedrich Froebel, the German educational theorist. In
1927 he founded the Fieldston School in the Riverdale section of the Bronx.
The Society met at a succession of halls (including Carnegie Hall) until it
moved up Central Park West to its present home., Adler was a professcr of
political and sccial ethics at Columbia from 1902 until his death.

The Stephen Wise Free Synagogue and Hehrew Union (ollege — Jewish Institute
of Religion, 28-36 and 38-44 West 68th Street

Bloch & Hesse’s two-part four-story facade alang the south side of
West 68th Street for the Stephen Wise Free Synagogue ard Hebrew Union
College~-Jewish Institute of Religion was begun in 1939-41 ard finished in
1948-439. Although building was interrupted by World War II, any disparity
in appearance is mmlmlzedbyﬂmeaxdutects consistent use of a
neo-Medieval style with Gothic elements and identical materials. The
huildings’ base is granite, the walls of rouwgh—cut, rardom, Fordham gneiss
ard the trim is smooth-faced limestone. Althaugh the pointed entrarnce arch
and projecting bay dominate the otherwise almost blind facade of the
synagogue on the left, and the mullioned reqularity of the casement windows
expresses the seminary on the right, the broad facade is united by the
conmon base, the continmuous lower and upper stringoourses, the continuity of
the fourth story fenestration, ard the buildings’ camparable height. To the
lower right of the arched synagogue entrance is a single stone of different
origin, a stone from the Holy of Holies in Jerusalem presented to the Free
Synagogue in 1922 and censecrated as the new building’s corner stone in
1948,

Wise, the founder of the Free Synagogue, acquired property on
the south side of West 68th Street in 1910 in order to establish a place of
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worship and a seminary, but it was not until 1922 that Wise could cammission
Eisendrath & Horowitz, with Bloch & Hesse as associate architects, to
design the Free Synagogue House (at 26-36 West 68th Street) for his Jewish
Institute of Religion (a training school for rabbis —— Reform, Conservative
and Orthodox). Subsequently the Bloch & Hesse firm was called upon to
renovate and convert the Institute for synagogue use and to extend the
building to the west to house the merged Institute and Hebrew Union College
(38-44 West 68th Street) giving the two buildings their present appearance.
Additional alterations to the ground story of the seminary and its
westermmost bay were carried out in 1960-61.

Stephen Samuel Wise (1874-1948), social liberal, ardent Zionist, and
champion of the idea of a free synagogue (no mandatory membership, no fees)
was a powerful speaker with a campelling presence. He was brought to this
country from Germany at the age of fourteen months when his father was made
rakbi of Congregation Rodeph Sholom. After studying at the City
University, Columbia University, in Viemma, and at Oxford, he retwmned to
New York in 1893 to become rabbi of Congregation B'nai Jeshurun. He went
to Portland, Oregon, as rabbi at Temple Beth-El there; in 1906 he refused
the rabbinate at Temple Emanu-El on Fifth Avenue, but returned to New York
the following year to foud the Free Synagogue. Its congregation met first
at the Hudson Theater, then in 1908-09 rented the Third Universalist Church
on West 8lst Street, and then met at Carnegie Hall until 1940 when services
were moved to the present site. He founded the Jewish Institute for
Religion in 1922 and twenty-six years later realized its merger with the
Hebrew Union College of Cincinnati. Bloch & Hesse’s use of Gothic elements
may have been at Wise’s request; the pleasure he toock in the character of
Oxford University’s medieval quadrangles has been recorded. Also, Wise would
have been aware of the continmuing archaeclogical research then centered upon
the late medieval synagogues in Eurcpe and their interior furnishings.

Christ axd St. Stephen’s Protestant Fpiscopal Charch (former) Chapel of the
Transfiquration and Rectary, 124 and 124 West 69th Street

The design of Christ and St. Stephen’s Church as seen today reflects a
series of changes over time. Initially it was a simple frame building
designed by William H. Day and built in 1879; a porch, supporting a
diminmutive tower, was built against the north side of a western addition in
1387. (The church was widened to the south and a second story built across
the rear to the designs of Sidney V. Stratton the following year.) In 1897,
in conjunction with a change of congregational ownership, the architect John
D. TFouguet charged the shape of the tower ahove the porch to its present
appearance, inserted new dormers, and covered the roof with tiles; it may
have been at this time that the exterior walls were rebuilt of red brick.
Eleven years later the newer components of the little church’s north facade
were stylistically unified through Stratton’s use of the Academic Gothic
idiom. Subseguent additions have broadened the northern transept: in 1914
by Rogers & Zogbaum; in 1950 by Moore & lawdseidel; and in 1960 by Adams &
Woodbridge. The four-story brick rectory at 120 West 69 Street, built in
1883-84, was designed by George Martin Huss (1853~1941) in an American Neo-
Grec style with ornamental brick accents that also reflect the influence of

the Romanesque Revival.
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The site of ¢Christ and Saint Stephen’s Church was purchased in
October 1879 by the Rev, George Houghton, fourding Rector of the Church of
the Transfiguration ("The Little Church Around the Corner”) at 1 East 29th
Street where he presided from 1848 until 1897. A nephew of George Houghton,
the Rev, Edward Clark Houghton, D.D., had organized the uptowm congregation
in 21876. Bay’s frame church was oonsecrated as the Chapel of the
Transfiguration in 1880. Like its parent on East 29th Street, the Chapel of
the Transfiguration, now Christ amd St. Stephen’s, is .a .low huilding
separated from the street by a small garden and greensward.

The history of the Christ and St. Stephen’s congregation is one of
reloccation and consolidation, following the city’s population northward.
St. Stephen’s was organized in 1805 by a group which seceded from the
Erglish Lutheran Church of Zion and joined the Episcopal Church. This
congreciation bought the Chapel of the Transfiguration in 1897 and changed
its name to St. Stephen’s church. Christ Church, organized in 1793, moved
from five homes until it built a buff brick and terra—cotta Romanesque
Revival complex (1889-90) at 211 West 71st Street. Christ Church merged
with its neighbor in 1975.

Grace and St. Paul’s Iutheran Chnch, {(fomer) St. Andrew’s Methodist
Episcopal Church, 123-125 West 71st Street

The building that now houses Grace and St. Paul’s Iutheran Church was
erected in 1880-81 for St. Andrew’s Methodist Episcopal Church by the New
York City Extension and Missicnary Society of the Methodist Episcopal Church
to the designs of architect Stephen D. Hatch (1839-94). Hatch’s design
aemployvs rusticated brownstone ashlar with smocth-faced brownstone sills,
trefoliated lintels, imbrication, copings, and horizontal bands binding the
facade’s vertical elements together. The pointed arches alternate raxhcut
and smooth voussoirs. Asymmetrical and campact, this High Victorian Gothic
style facade contains all of the architectural components ohe would expect
in a church front twice its size. The peaked church and tower roofs were
originally covered with slate shingles.

St. Andrew’s started in 1864 at Amsterdam Averme arxd West 68th Street as
a prayer meeting, becoming the Bloomingdale Mission one year later ard the
Broadway Mission in 1866, the year it was organized as a church Ly the
Methodist Sunday School and Missionary Society. Its new church on West 71st
Street, consecrated in 18382, was constructed using the proceeds of the sale
of the Free Tabernacle Church at West 34th Street and Eighth Avenue.

Grace Lutheran was organized in 1886 ard the comgregation had two
homes == the first at West 50th Street amd Ninth Averme and the second at
West 49th Street and Broadway — before moving to this huilding which was
sold to it by St. Andrew’s in 1890. The congregation was incorporated as
the Evangelishe ILutherishe Gnaden Kirche this same year. 1In 1933 Grace
merged with St. Paul’s Iutheran amd the present name was adopted.

Roman Catholic Chinrch of the Blessed Sacrament, Rectory, and School, 146-150
and 152 West 71st Street and 147-153 West 70th Strest
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The Charch of the Blessed Sacrament, rectory, and schocol, constructed
in 1916-17, were designed by architect Gustave E. Steinback. The church
facade is a thirteenth-century French Gothic tour de force in cast stone
which is molded with a sharpness and intricacy as displayed in the pierced
gables, the tracery, and the mimite details of the niche cancgpies, the
archivolt ornamentation, cusps, and finials, A full program of statuary —
cast stone porch figures, tympanum, as well as figures higher.up the facade
-— conplements the architectural ormamentation. (Those saints who
the doctrine relative to the Sacrament are represented on the facade: st..
John Baptist de la Salle; St. Jahn Vianney; St. Frarncis de Sales; st.
Philip Neri; St. Alphonsus Liquori; St. Francis of Assisi; St. charles
Borromeo; and St. Vincent de Paul. In the kuttresses below the towers are
repregsentations of St. Thomas Acquinas and St. Bonaventure.) The church has
a steel-frame structure, and the roof is supported by Guastavine dames and
arches. Steinback’s design for the four-story rectory, in a domestic Gothic
style appropriate to the adjacent church, is also executed in cast stone.
The six-story cast-stone school facade on West 70th Street employs the
verticality characteristic of the Gothic style to articulate a modern pier
and recessed spandrel system of three bays., It is flanked by two stair
towers. The tracery of the spandrels and central gable of the school facade
remains intact. Most of the terminal pimmacles and finials on the church,

rectory, and school are of copper.

Organized in 1887 in the carriage room of the Havermeyer family's
stable on the north side of 72nd Street, west of Broadway, by Father Matthew
A. Taylor (1853-1914), the Roman Catholic Church of the Blessed Sacrament
dedicated its first home on the cormer of Broadway and West 71st Street the
same year and incorporated the following year. Father Taylor had been sent
by Archbishop Corrigan to establish a new parish in this developing sector
of the city: the nearest Catholic church was the Church of the Sacred Heart
on West 51st Street. The corngregation continued to assemble lots until 1916
when it had achieved a block-through site east of its comer location for
the present-day church and rectory at 146~150 and 152 West 71st Street and
the school at 147-153 West 70th Street, Father Taylor was succeeded by
Father Thomas F. Myhan (1864-1916}, a scholar, wheo initiated the present
building. His successor, Father William J. Guinan, carried Myhan‘’s plans
to completion.

Chnrch of the Fourth Universalist Society (Charch of the Divine Paternity),
4 West 76th Street

Designed by William Appleton Potter (1842-1909), the church and
adjacent school were built in 1897-98 in an academic revival of the late
English Gothic called the Perperdicular style. The design is executed in
smooth-faced 1limestone ashlar. located at the southwest corner of Central
Park West and West 76th Street, the church is dominated by the four-stage
Pinnacled tower. A gabled nave, pointed-arch openings, and large
stained-glass windows with ogival tracery are notable elements of the
design. Prototypes for the design include Gloucester Cathedral and the
Magadalen (bllege tower, Oxford. A cormerstone on the West 76th Street side
bears the dates "1838-1897." ‘The three-story school building on West 76th
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Street continues the design of the church with the storles marked by string
courses and the wirdow openings by drip moldings.

The Fourth Universalist Society was organized in 1838 and had four
different church buildings prior to its move to Central Park West., By 1865,
when it located to Fifth Averme and West 45th Street, it was known as the
¢harch of the Divine Paternity, which name it retained for many years on
Central Park West. The Rev. E.H. Chapin, D.D., pastor.in the last quarter
of the nineteenth century, attracted several loyal members of great wealth,
among whom was Andrew Carmegie. The three-story school building is
cxrently occupied by the Winston Preparatory School. The Fourth
Universalist Society’s c¢hurch and school is included within the baundaries
of the Central Park West - West 76th Street Historic District.

West Side Institutional Symagogue and Rectory, (former) St. Amdrew’s
Methodist Episoopal (harch, 122-138 and 120 West 76th Street

This church building, designed in the Romanesque Revival style by the
architectural firm of J.C. Cady & Co., was constructed in 1889-90 for Saint
Andrew’s Methodist Episcopal Church. As originally designed for this
midblock site, the complex camprised (from east to west) the rectory, tower,
chapel (behind the entrance doors), and church with a gabled front, all
built of roughcut, rusticated limestone ashlar laid in alternating wide and
narrow courses on a bluestone base. Major portions of the camplex were
irreparably destroyed in a fire in 1965, resulting in the loss of the
limestone gable, peaked roof, dome, and tower roof. The consecquent
reconstruction was carried out by Emory S. Taber, a general contractor, and
the changes are reflected on the street facade: a flat roof; altered
sanctbary windows partially filled with bronze-tinted aluminum grilles; and
a new principal entrance marked by a bronze-tinted alumirum screen.

In 1957 the current owners, the West Side Institutional Synagogue,
comnissiocned architect David Moed to reface the rectory and to introduce an
entrance into the tower’s base. The rectory facade is now a aurtain wall of
glass and alumimm trimmed with travertine marble but the original round
corner buttresses of roughcut, rusticated limestone are retained. The added
fifth story is of yellow brick, and iron basement window grilles
incorporate the design of a menorah.

During the course of construction of St. Andrew’s, J.C. Cady & Co.,
founded by Josiah Cleveland Cady (1837-1919), was renamed as Cady, Beryg &
See, with Iouis de Coppett Berg (1856-1913) and Milton See (1854-1920) as
the other partners. The firm is responsible for the impressive complex of
Romanesque Revival buildings at the American Museum of Natural History along
West 77th Street. St. Amndrew’s, previously established at 123-125 West 71st
Street sold that building to the Grace Evangelical Littheran Church in 1890,
the same Yyear this larger church building was dedicated. In 1937 St.
Andrew’s congregation moved up to West B6th Street and West End Avenue to
merge with St. Paul’s Methodist Episcopal Church and sold these buildings to
the West Side Institutional Synagogue.
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Sisters of St. Ursula, (former Sisters of Charity of St. Vincent de Paul),
168-170 West 79th Street

In 1893 the Sisters of Charity of St. Vincent de Paul purchased a
fifty-foot wide lot on West 79th Street and commissioned a pair of four-
story brownstone-fronted houses from the firm of Thom & Wilson. BRuilt in

1894-95, these Renaissance Revival style houses appear to have been designed .

contemporary with the row of houses once to the east of them by the same
firm for William Hall. Each house, a mirror image of the other, has a full
height quarter bow. The principal entrances as well as their stoops are
juxtapesed arxd share a porch with a screen of three Tuscan colums bearingg a
contimicus frieze of classical motifs which runs the full width of both
houses.

Rev. Matthew A. Taylor, the first rector of the Roman Catholic Church
of the Blessed Sacrament on West 71st Street and Broadway, represented the
Sisters of Charity in the purchase of the West 79th Street property. The
Blessed Sacrament School was staffed by the Sisters of Charity. The Sisters
occupied both houses as a single unit where they also ran a school for
girls. The property was enlarged with the purchase in 1902 anxd 1907 of two
houses on West 78th Street immediately behind the house. The Sisters of
Charity sold the school and residence (containing a chapel) to the Sisters
of Saint Ursula of the Blessed Virgin of New York in 1944, who ran the
Notre Dame Schoecl in the buildings. The property has recently been sold to
the Fleming School.

Mount Pleasant Baptist Chanch, (former) Gnrch of the Third Universalist
Society (Church of Etermal Hope), 140~144 West 8lst Street

This Romanesque Revival church building, presently occupied by the
Mount Pleasant Baptist Church, was built for the Third Universalist Society
in 1892-93 to the designs of the architect Jopathan Capen of Newark. Two
square stair towers -- the taller on the left — flank the gabled facade. A
loggia of three arches, protecting the twin flights of entrance S‘l‘aps links
the towers with tile—c:ove.rec'l pyramidal roofs. The basement, the window
surrounds and sills, the loggia arch voussoirs and spandrels, and the lower
stringcourse are of roughcut limestone ashlar; water table, step parapets,
loggia colums, upper stringcourse and cornices are smooth~faced limestone.
The church’s upper walls are of rough-cast buff brick. Wrought-iron gates
cpen at the base of the twin flights of entrance steps.

Of the six Universalist Societies founded in New York between 1794 arxd
1852, the Third was organized in 1834 and met at Bleecker and i
Streets until its move to West 8lst Street in 1893. Since then the building
has charged owners and tenamts several times. The Society leased this
building to Stephen Wise’s fledglirng Free Synagogue in 1908-09, but sold it
to the First Church of the Disciples of Christ in 1910. Thirty-five years
later the Disciples moved to Park Averme amd sold the building to the
Manhattan Ward of the Church of Jesus Christ of latter bDay Saints, its
present owner. Mount Pleasant Baptist Church leases it, in turm, from the
latter Day Saints.
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Ukrainian Autocephalic Orthodox Ctirch of St. Volodmyr, (former) West End
Synagogue (Congregation Shaaray Tefila) and Oommmity House, 160 and 170
West 82rd Street

What is now the Ukrainian Autocephalic Orthodox Church of St. Volodymyr
was built as the West End Synagogue in 1893-94 by Congregation Shaaray

Tefila to the designs of Brurner & Tryon. The buff Raman brick, limestone .

and terra-cotta facade rises above a basement and double staircase whivh
spans the facade arnd is faced with horizontally-charneled smooth-faced
limestone ashlar. The building, designed in a Moorish/Byzantine Revival
style considered appropriate for synagoques in the second half of the
nineteenth century, has a kinship in form and material with con

Romanesque Revival religious structures (see, for example, Mount Pleasant
Baptist Church). The superimposed arcades of the facade’s central bay are
framed by two slightly projecting bays. The walls are laid up so that for
every nine courses of brick there is a band of terra cotta bearing a
contimicus fret design. The columns and arch voussoirs of the lower arcade
are of limestone; the upper arcade is constructed of terra cotta. The

colonnettes, wvoussoirs, tracery, spandrels and arched frieze below the
cormice are also of terra cotta.

In 1937 a fire damaged much of the synagogue’s intericr; S. BRrian
Baylinson was responsible for the renovation. The congregation was able to
purchasethehousejustwestofthesynaqoguethesalmyear; the firm of
Schwartz & Gross was commissioned to rehabilitate it as the congregation’s
Cmmutyl-lmse ¥When Congregation Shaaray Tefila moved to the Upper East
Side in 1958, it so0ld the synagogue and commmnity house to the Ukrainian
Autocephal ic Orthodex Church.

Congregation Shaaray Tefila was organized by a group of English-
speaking Jews who seceded from the German-speaking Congregation B’nai
Jeshurun in 1845. As this congregation moved uptown, it has consistently
erployed renowned architects to design its synagogues: Leopold Eidlitz and
Otto Blesch designed the synagogue (1847) on Wooster Street; and Henry
Fexrmbach was architect for the synagogue (1869) on West 44th Street, also a
Moorish-inspired design. When Armold Brunner (1857-1925) received the
Shaaray Tefila comnission, his work on Temple Beth-El (1891) at Fifth Aveme
and East 76th Street had just been completed, and the comission for
Congregation Shearith Israel’s new home on Central Park West was still to
come.  Brunner was the grandson of a former president and a great-grandson
of a founder and first president of Shaaray Tefila.

st. Volodymyr was organized in 1926, a parish in the Autocephalic
Ukrainian Orthodox Church of the United States of America and Canada, with a
gister church in Toronto. Its first hame was a neo-Gothic chmrch at 334
East 14th Street, vwhich is now a synagogue.

Corngregation Rodeph Sholan Synagogue, Commmity House, and School, 7-21 West
83rd Street and 10-16 West 84th Streect

The five-story building of Congregation Rodeph Sholom, built in 1928-
30, was designed by Charles B. Meyers to comtain an auditorium, reception
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and dining rooms, offices, classrooms, a board room, and a caretaker’s
apartment. The symnetry and mass of the smooth-faced limestone ashlar
facade, emphasized by three mommental and deeply-cut arches, are expressive
of the academic neo-Romanesque/Byzantine style, and may be inspired by
contemporary synagoque excavations at Tiberias, known today in modern Israel
as Natanya, The arches contain tall windows with limestone mllions and
leaded glass; they are flanked by the arched entrances. The eastern
entrance, leading to the synagogque and commnity rooms, is the more
elaborate; the arch is supported by flat archiwlts of polished pirk and
gray granite. The western entrance leads to the private quarters above.

The polychromy of the main entrance is repeated higher on the facade in the .

polished granite colomnettes of the diminutive fifth-story arcades. Every
colonnette in each series has a different capital. The Shield of David
motifs in the romdels and the decorative lozernges are made up of pink, gray,
and blue granite. Prior to the synagogue cammission, Meyers had carried out
buildings for Yeshiva University in Washington Heights.

The Rodeph Sholam Day School, located through the block on West 84th
Street, was designed by the architect William Roper and built in 1973-77.
The congregation purchased four rowhouses for renovation as a school. The
houses, huilt in pairs, differed in the mmber of stories -and ceiling
heights. Roper kept the existing floor levels but attempted to dewnplay the
disparity by employing the contemporary Brutalist aesthetic, superimposing
an asymmetrical pattern of fenestration as well as a system of sympathetic
angulation -~ seen in the entrance stoop, window sills ard parapet -—— to the
facade. A reddish-brown brick with joints tinted the same color gives
hamogeneity across the whole facade and a common parapet is suggested by the
white sheet metal sheathing the upper portion of the school’s facade.

Congregation Rodeph Sholam organized by seceding from Congregation
Anshe Chesed —— which had seceded from B/nmai Jeshurun -- in 1842, From
1853 until 1858 the compregation worshipped on Clinton Street. In 1891 it
moved to the former Temple Beth-F1 at Iexington and East 63rd Street, ard
then to West 83rd Street in 1930.

St. Matthew and St. Timothy Ctarch and Center, 2632 West 84th Street

In 1967 Victor christ-Janer and Associates was comuissioned by the
parish of St. Matthew and St. Timothy to design a new building to contain
not only a charch but also a fellowship hall, meeting and reading rooms,
offices, residential units, and a gymasium to replace the church building
that had been severely damaged by fire. Christ-Janer, known for Brutalist
designs inspired by the later work of the Swiss-French architect ILe
Corbusier (1887-1966), erected a massive reinforced concrete screen along
the uilding line of the site. Even the belfry is masked by a wide, upward
extension of this screen wall. (The open-air roof was constructed to permit
public assembly and recreation.) While horizontal channeling and vertical
joints articulate this facade, it is the residual pattern of the wood forms
in which the concrete was cast that give the facade its texture. 1In this
broad, windowless and asymmetrical screen there is but one break (the fire
doors at the extreme emds excepted). Within this rectangular brick-paved
recess other wall planes became apparent: vertically-channeled limestone and
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behind it pink brick, as well as the entrance to the charch to the left in
the eastern soffit, the raised entrance to the commnity house, and a
horizontal range of second-story windows. Only the raised entrance’s stocp
parapet restates the original plane of the large screen. The rough planar
surface not only unifies the several functicns of this wrban church complex
but dramstizes a space arbitrarily defined by the building lines of the
city’s grid pattern. The resulting monolithic quality of St. Matthew and
St. Timothy’s places this building amonxy the finest examples of the
architecture of the late 1960z in New York City.

The history of this parish is one of many mergers. St. Matthew’'s
Protestant Episcopal Church, organized in 1887, began as Bethlehem Chapel in
1870 at West 83rd Street and Columbus Avere, a place of worship for German
speaking people wder the care of St. Michael’s Protestant Episcopal CGwrch.
St. Matthew’s purchased its site on West 84th Street in 1892 and 1893, ard
commmissioned William Halsey Wood (1855-1897) to design a Romanescue Revival
style church, executed in limestone. This building was demolished in 1966,
after a severe fire. In 1897, the year of its incorporaticn, St. Matthew’'s
abscorbed St. Ann’s Charch for Deaf Mutes, a congregation founded by the Rev.
Thomas Gallaudet in 1852, The parish of 2ion and St. Timothy‘s, merged
since 1890, joined St. Matthew’s in 1922.

The Society for the Advancement of Judaism, 13~15 West 86th Street

The Society for the Advancement of Judaism purchased two houses at 13
and 15 West 86th Street in 1920 froam the Alouin School. Altered in 1925 by
architects Deutsch & Schneider, the bkuildings were given a new facade
designed by architect Albert Goldhammer in 1937, Although the arch
Goldhammer inscribed at the building‘’s entrance is an allusion to the
earlier Moorish/Byzantine Revival style often used for synagoques, his
facade derives its character from the warm tones of brick — red, yellow and
orange — and cast stone, resting on a base of concrete-limestone aggregate,
producing a statement in the Modern Semitic style.

The Society for the Advancement of Judaism was organized by Dr.
Mordecal Kaplan (1883-1947), a religiocus teacher and philosopher concerned
with religion and its application in modern life. He emergyed from the ranks
of Reformed Judaism to become a founding member of the Federation of
American Zionists. Dr. Kaplan was on the faculties of the Jewish
Theological Seminary, the Teachers’ Institute and Seminary College for
Jewish Stidies, and the Hebrew University, Jerusalem.

The Jewish Qenter, 131-135 West 86th Street

The ten-story building of the Jewish Center, built in 1917-20, was
designed by ILouis Allen Abramson to contain a variety of uses and spaces:
synagogue, educational and recreational center, auditorium, meeting rooms,
gyrmnasium, and pool. Occupying a midbloeck site, the neo-Renaissance style
structure was designed to express this multiplicity of functions and to be
carpatible with its residential neighbors. The rusticated stone base
supports a major Jonic order of two stories, The staries above are faced
with brick. However the repetition of window shapes and the use of the

82

000893



www.protectwest70.org

stone for the window surrourds and quoins unite the upper and lower portions
of this facade. A large tablet bearing the name of this institution is
flanked by escutcheons bearing the building’s date in both the Gregorian and
Jewish calendars.

Remanian Orthodox Ctarch of St, Dumitru, 50 West 89th Street

Originally one of five rowhouses designed by Thom & Wilson and bullt
for Patrick Farley in 1892, the Romanian Orthodox Church of St. Dumitru was

altered for church use by architects John H. - Kmbel and John' Solaomon in.

1940, A four-story brownstone-fronted rowhouse with a raised basement, the
building largely retains is original damestic exterior appearance.

ted in 1939, this was the third Romanian congregation to be
crganized in New York City but was the only one under the jurisdiction of
the National Church of Romanja. In a letter to the then Building
Comissioner William wilson, dated March 6, 1940, Andrei Popovici, Consul
General at the Royal Consulate of Romania, described St. Dumitru’s, "...a
charitable organization to enable these no longer Ramanians but not yet
Americans to have spiritual and cultural development; to became good
citizens of this country.”

Museims
The American Muaseuam of Natural History, 175 Central Park West

The Arerican Museum of Natural History is one of the world’s finest and
largest institutions devoted to the study of the natural sciences and one of
New York City’s largest cultural structures, The Museum was founded in 1869
for the purpose of establishing in the city a museum and library of natural
history and to encourage the study of natural science. Its founders include
distinguished New Yorkers such as J.P. Morgan, Adrian Iselin, Henry Parish,
Joseph A. Choate, Charles A. Dana, Morris Ketchum Jessup, and Theodore
Roosevelt (father of the President). A gateway to the stuly of natural
history, the mseum exhibits more than 2,300 habitat groups, mounted
specimens, showcases, dioramas, and scientific eshibits. Subjects covered
in these exhibits include birds, reptiles, dinosaurs, fish, geology,
metecrites, mammals, and man. The museum is also a research laboratery, a
school for advanced study, a publishing house for scientific mamuscripts,
and a sponsoring agency for field exploration expeditions. The institution
contains one of the world’s finest natural history libraries consisting of
175,000 volumes. Over three million pecple from all parts of the world
visit the museum annually.

The Museum first ocoupied two floors of the Arsenal in Central Park and
remained there for eight years. However, within a year of its founding, it
had outgrown this space. The Department of Public Parks offered Manhattan
Square, an eighteen-acre plot of land bounded by 77th and 8lst Streets,
Eighth and Ninth Avenues (now Central Park West and Columbus Avenue), to the
Museum Trustees for the site of a new, larger uilding to house their
collections and exhibits. The cornerstone of the first building was laid on
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this site on June 22, 1874. Designed by Calvert Vaux and Jaccb Wrey Mould
in the Victorian Gothic style, the five-story red brick amd stone structure
is now barely visible amornyy the later museunm additions. As the museum’s
collections contimued to grow, plans for expansion were prepared. The
architectural firm of Cady, Berg & See presented a master plan in which the
mseum building was laid out to form a quadrangle with four peripheral
structures joined to a central pavilion by four central wings. Initial
construction followed this scheme, including the West 77th Street wing
designedbythefim, however, the plan was later discarded. The West 77th
Street wing, constructed between 1890 and 1899, is today one of the most
u@resslveexanplesofﬂdemdsmlaanaresquestyle in the country.

The firm of Trowbridge & Livingston became involved in the Museunm’s
expansion early in the twentieth century. Most of the remaining buildings
were constructed according to their designs and include buildings in the
interior courtyards, the Hayden Planetarium, and a Central Park West wing.
(Other btuildings were designed by architect charles Volz.) The Trowbridge &
Livingston design for the Central Park West wing called for a morumental
entrance section facirng the Park. Illustrating an Academic Classical style
based on Beaux-Arts principles, the design of the entrance building, the
central portion of the Central Park West wing, was the work of John Russell
Pope, based on a winning competition entry in 1924, The hkuilding
(containing a designated New York City Interior Iandmark) memorializes
Thecdore Roosevelt. The 26th President of the United States, Roosevelt was
a miseum trustee, participated in museun expeditions, and donated his
natural science collections to the museum.

Today, the American Museum of Natural History is not a single building
but consists of seventeen interconnected units. Nearly a century of
development and expansion is reflected in its growth and in the several
architectural styles manifested in its facades. The original Vaux & Mould
building, the West 77th Street wing, the Central Park West wing, the
Colunbus Avernue wing, and the Hayden Planetarium were designated New York
City Landmarks in 1967. The museum complex was listed on the National
Register of Historic Places on June 24, 1976.

The New-York Historical Scciety, 170 Central Park West

The New-York Historical Society (a designated New York City landmark),
the secorsd oldest historical society in the Unitexd States, was organized in
1804 and incorporated in 1809. The Society’s founders were prominent New
Yorkers including: BEgbert Benson, a Judge and the Society’s first
president; DeWitt Clinton, then Mayor of New York; Samel Miller, a
clergyman and educator; David Hosack, a physician and later president of the
society; Samuel Bayard, a lawyer and jurist; and John Pintard, a merchant
and philanthropist and the Scciety’s first secretary. Over the years, other
prominent individuals have occupied seats in the Society’s governing body.
Among them were: the artist, Jochn Trumbull; Daniel D. Tompkins, Governcr of
New York; cCadwallader D. Coclden, Mayor of New York City; William Cullen
Bryant, poet; J.P. Morgan, banker; and Cornelius Vanderbilt, steamship and
railroad promoter and financier. Notable members of the Society have
included individuals such as John Adams, Thomas Jefferscon, Noah Webster,
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Washington Irving, and James Fenimore Cocper. The Society was organized to
collect and preserve material pertaining to the history of the United States
in general, and New York in particular, and today includes extensive
collections ©of seventeenth- through nineteenth-century paintings, prints,
furniture, silver, amd folk art pertaining to New York. The Society’s
research library was created in 1807 with a gift from Jochn Pintard. By 1813
the Society possessed over 4,000 books, doaments, almanacs, newspapers, amd .
maps,

The Society’s present building at 170 Central Park West is its elghth.
hame, FPrevious sites included Federal Hall (1804-09, Wall and Nassau
Streets), the CQustoms House at Bowling Green (1809-16), the New York
Institution (1816-32, formerly the city almshouse in City Hall Park),
Remsen’s Building at Broadway and Chambers Street (1832-37), the Stuyvesant
Institbrte at 659 Broadway (1837-41), New York University at Washington
Square (1841-57), and 170 Secord Avenue, a building constructed specifically
for the Scciety and occupied from 1857 to 1908. The Secord Averue building
had grown inadequate by the late nineteenth century amd the Soclety began to
plan for a new home. They had been offered free land in Central Park, where
the Metropolitan Museum of Art now stands, but that plan was abandoned. In
1891 the Society acguired the plot of land along Central Park West between
76th amd 77th Streets. As the avenue closest to the park, Central Park West
had long been considered a desirable location. With the construction of the
American Museum of Natural History several years earlier, the early
character of the avenue wWas established as an acceptable location for
institutional structures. The museum’s great rise in success since its
opening further encouraged the society to build on Central Park West.

The central section of the society’s present huilding was designed by
the architectural firm of York & Sawyer and was constructed in 1903-1908. A
rusticated granite basement supports a colomnade of three-quarter engaged
Tonic columns which, together with the pedimented entrance portal, create a
noble, formal composition for this distinguished scciety. Its monumental
design illustrates an Academic Classical style based on Beaux-Arts
principles. As the soclety’s collections continued to expand, the north and
south wings, viewed as austere end pavilions flanking the mommental
cclomnade, were added in 1937 by the architectural firm of Walker &
Gillette. Their design was so skillfully integrated with the original
building that the whole structure appears to have been erected in one
campaign.

Fhilanthropic Institutions
The Jewish Guild For the Blind — The Joselow House, 46 West 74th Street

The Jewish Guild for the Blind was Organized in 1914 to provide care
for blind armd visually impaired persons, and has been a leader in this field
since its inception., At its headquarters at 15 West 6€5th Street (outside
the bourndaries of the district), the Guild provides a variety of programs
and services to meet the needs of persons Of all ages with a variety of
handicaps. 'The Joselow House, ohe of the Guild’s services, was organized in
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1977 as a hostel for mentally retarded, visually impaired, and blind adults.
It provides care and services for fifteen residents. The hostel is located
at 45 West 74th Street, a building originally constructed as a Georgian
Revival style rowhouse in 19202-04 according to the design of architect Percy
Griffin. The Joselow House first occupied this building in 1977,

The Swiss Town House, 35-37 West 67th Street

The Swiss Town House located at 35-37 West 67th Street is a divisicon
of, and serves as the headquarters for, the Swiss Benevolent Society of New.
York, a not-for-profit organization. Built in 1904-05 according to the
design of John E. Scharsmith, the building was designed to resemble the town
hall in Basle, Switzerland. Its steeply pitched rvof, gabled dormers, brick
facade, and stone trim are characteristics of its Northern Renaissarce
Revival style. The structure was built on a street which was not primarily
residential in nmature. Rather, its buildings were larger in scale than the
Town House and included primarily studio buildings, but also a factory amd
warehouses (later replaced), and a riding academy. The Swiss Home, as it
was criginally called, is samewhat smaller than its immediate neighbors, and
its design and detail reflect its distinct function.

The initial purpose of the Swiss Home was to house the elderly. A
newspaper article written at the time of its construction indicated that the
new structure was equipped "with the latest improvements for the treatment
and convenience of the irmates." The building could house eighty
individuals. In 1923 the home was rededicated as a residence for girls and
women who had recently immigrated from Switzerland and remained in that
capacity for approximately fifty years. The 1970s saw a sharp decrease in
Swiss immigraticn, and a new use was fourd for the building. At that time
the society began to offer room and board to local female students, most of
whom attended the Julliard School of Music or the Tobe Coburn School of
Fashicn. The Swiss Benevolent Society cperates a social service office on
the building’s grourd floor, and offers these services to its residents.
Various Swiss organizations also use the building for their regular
meetings. A gallery on the main floor is maintained by the Swiss Institute,
a not-for-profit organization separate from the Society, and is used for art
exhibits and cther social events.

The Pythian Temple, 135-145 West 70th Street

The Knights of Pythias is a fraternal and charitable organization which
wasorgaruzedeashux;ton D.C. in 1864 with Justus Henry Rathbone as its
head and is the only fratermal organization chartered by the U.S. Congress.
Believing that friendship is the strongest bond of union among men, Knights
hold it along with charity and benevolence as their cardinal principles.
The organization takes its name from Pythlas, a mythological character whose
story represents true friendship, The order first came to New York shortly
after the Civil War.

Attheheadoftheoxganlzatlmlstheswremelodgemmhhas
jurisdiction over the entire order in the United States and Canada. Each
state or district has a Grand Iodge, under which are established Subordinate
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lodges in cities or towns. The bullding at 135-145 West 70th Street, once
known as the Pythian Temple, was one of 120 Subordinate Lodges in New York
City at the time of its construction. (Total membership in the organization
was nearly one million at that time.) The Temple included thirteen lodge
rooms, an auditorium, a gymasium, bowling alleys and billiard rooms. The
building’s cornerstone was laid on November 20, 1926, and was dedicated "on
behalf of the greatest and oldest patriotic order in the United States."
Today, the cormmerstone is still inscribed with the phrase, "Dedicated to
Pythianism." (An inscription abcove the doorway reads "If fraternal love
held all men bound how beautiful this world would be."). .The -structure was
campleted in 1926-27 according to the design of Thamas White Lamb, best
xnown for his theater desions, and displays an exotic neo-Rabylonjan style
that incorporates imaginative, polychrocmatic ornmamental details inspired by
ancient sources. This site no longer functioned as a Subordinate Lodge of
the Knights of Pythias by the 1950s. The building was converted to a
residential condominium in 1979 at which time a substantial amount of glass
was inserted into the masomry facade as part of the alteration.

The YMCA arnd the McBumey School, 3-11 West 63rd Street amd 13-15 West 63rd
Street:

The Young Men’s Christian Association was first organized in London in
1844 for the purposes of improving the spiritual cordition of young men
through religion. American visitors to London were impressed by the growp
and returmed to the United States urging the creation of a similar
organization. 'The first American association was created in Boston in 1851.
The first New York Association was arganized one year later but, by 1862, it
was on the verge of dissolution. At that time Robert McBurney (1837~1898),
a young man with an interest in Christian service and religious work, joined
the organization and with his efforts the New York YMCA prospered. McBurnmey
worked with the "Y" for forty years and concentrated on developing the
spiritual, intellectual, social, and physical character of youny men.

McBurney realized that in order to offer a substantial “counter-
attraction to the vices of the industrial city" the Association regquired
"large, attractive, and specially designed huildings." The first building
constructed under McBuarney’s aegis appeared at 23rd Street and Fourth Avernue
in 1869. For many years McBurney had emphasized the need for a branch to
benefit yourxyy men on the West Side. His final building effort was the West
Side branch located on West 57th Street between Eighth and Ninth Averues
which opened in 1896.

A new West Side branch of the YMCA began canstruction in 1928 and was
completed in 1930. Located at 3-11 West 63rd Street, the building was
designed to house various social and recreational facilities and provide
room and board for young men. Designed by architect Dwight James Baum, it
extends through the block to 64th Street and rises fourteen stories in
height. Its bkrick amd stone facade, an abundance of towers and carbel
tables, ard window arnd door openings in rounded arches conbine to form a
bold neo-Romanesque design. In 1931 a high school was built adjacent to the
main building, designed by Baum to complement the existing structure. Named
the McBurney School, it honored the man whose efforts helped the New York
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YMCA flourish in its early vyears. While the scale of the combined
structures correspords with that of the religious structures located to the
east and apartment buildings to the south, the YMCA dominates the short
block between Central Park West and Broadway.

¥When the West 63rd Street huildings were constructed, the West 57th
Street branch ceased to function for the organization. The McBurmey Schocl
(for a time Jjoined with the Baldwin School) vacated its.structure around
1985, at which time the YMCA exparded its facilities to the former school
building. 'The West 63rd Street building is currently the only branch of the
YMCA on the Upper West Side.

Engine Campany No. 74, 120 West 83rd Street

New York City’s paid, professional Fire Department was established in
1865 as the Metropolitan Fire District, serving Marhattan and Brooklyn. At
this time, volunteer companies, which were first organized into a department
by the colonial legislature in 1783 and to which the responsibility for fire
fighting previously fell, were replaced by paid, professional oampanies
below 86th Street. This came about as a result of the rapid urban expansion
of the city and the increasing frequency of fires.

In 1853, Marrictt Field published City Architecture, a bock which
advocated a hervic architecture and appropriate symbolic ornament for fire
stations so as to architecturally differentiate the firehouse from other
huilding types, particularly the conventional urban stable. The city’s Fire
Department. contracted with the noted architectural firm of Napcleon IeBrun &
Son(s) to design firehouses from 1880 to 1895, The firmm’s typical
straightforward use of materials -- brick, stone, iron, and terra cotta—
and sparsely integrated ormnament did elevate the basic stable facade and
make it more consistent with the purposes of the professicnal fire company
within. The firm’s consistent designs also helped to produce a recognizable
idiom for this building type. Ergine Company No. 74 was one of the fim's
many New York City firehouses and was built at 120 West 83rd Street in 1888-
89. While some fire stations were designed with more esuberant detail, this
building exhibits a simple IeBrun design based on Renaissance and Romanesque
Revival detailing. The recognizable design elements of a fire station are
all wvisible: symmetrical organization, materials of two colors and
textures, a large ground-story vehicular doorway topped by a simple molding,
intermediate floors exhibiting tripartite double-hing window arrangement,
and a roofline with greater detail, here a round-headed window topped by a
decorative molding and a gable dormer in a pitched rcof. All these elements
clearly characterized the structyre as a fire station, an important
institution in the district., One of the earliest institutions in the area,
Engine Company No. 74 (previocusly known as Engine Campany No. 56) symbolizes
the increased construction and rapid urban growth of the Upper West Side in
the late nineteenth century.
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St. Aqnes Branch, New York Public Library, 444-446 Amsterdam Avenue

The New York Public Library, today one of the leading research
institutions in the world, was formed in 1895 by the consolidation of three
corporations: The Astor Library, the private library of James LenoX, and
the Tilden Trust. In order to benefit from a $5,200,000 gift to the city
made by Andrew Carnegie for library buildings, the New York Free Circulating
Library (organized 1in 1887 with eleven branches) joined the Astor-Lenox-
Tilden consolidation in 1901. It formed the Circulation Department of the

New York Public Library — now the Branch Library System. _The Carmegie .

Grant, a philanthropic effort on behalf of popular education in New York
City, resulted in the large-scale oconstruction of neighborhood branch
libraries during the early twentieth century and is largely responsible for
the New York Public Library System as it exists today.

The St. Agnes Free Library was formed in 1893. Trinity Church allowed
the library to be located in the parish house of its St. Mmes Chapel at 121
West 91st Street (a designated New York City landmark). At that time the
nearest public libraries were found on West 42nd Street and EBast 125th
Strect. (Today, the nearest branches are on West 65th arnd West 100th
Streets, both outside the district boundaries.) In 1897, Trinity dissolved
its ties with the library. The collections were moved to other locations an
the Upper West Side, generally around Amsterdam Avemie, settling temporarily
at West 82rd Street and Broadway.

The building at 444 Amsterdam Averme was conceived as one of the branch
libraries made possible with Carnegie Grant funds. Opened on March 28,
1906, the Renaissance Revival style building began construction in 190S.
Built according to the design of Babb, Cook & Willard, its three-story
granite and limestone facade displays symmetrical ordering of members and
restrained classically-inspired ormament. The use of neo—Classicism in
library design was encouraged by McKim, Mead & White’s designs for Low
Library at Columbia University (1893), Gould Memorial Library at the Bronx
campus of New York University (1893-94), and the Boston Public Library
(1888-92). The grard style of these mommental kuildings was interpreted on
a smaller scale for midblock city sites, such as those cccupied by the St.
Agnes Branch and the earlier Yorkville Branch Library (222 East 79th Street,
1902, a designated New York City Landmark). The Yorkville Branch, designed
by James Brown Lord, may have been used as a prototype for the urban branch
library and, therefore, influenced the St. Agnes design of Babb, Coock &
Willard. This architectural firm was also active in other branch library
designs under the Carnegie expansion.

The Twentieth Precinct Station House of the New York City Police Department,
110-124 wWest 82nd Street

The first police office In New York City was established in 1798 at
Federal Hall at Wall and Nassau Streets. In 1844 the State Ilegislature
passed an act which established the Police Department of the City of New
York. This law called for the division of the city into precincts. The
seventeen wards of Manhattan and portions of the present-day Bronx were thus
divided and each patrel district =-- or precinct =— was equipped with a

89

Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003

000900



Document From NYC LPC To Sugarman July 10 2003

www.protectwest70.org

station house, captain, ard sergeant. Before 1970, the Twentieth Precinct
served the Upper West Side from 66th to 86th Street amd had its station
house at 150-152 West 68th Street (cutside the boundaries of the district).
In the late 1960s the Police Department began closing its older stations and
moving to newly-built structures. The Twentieth Precinct was one of
fourteen precincts that received new station houses. The precinct currently
serves the area from 59th to 86th Streets, from the Hudson River to the
western edge of Central Park, and coccupies a station house at 120 West 82nd
Street. (The northern section of the district is served by the Twenty-

fourth Precinct Station House at West 100th Street, outside the district.

boundaries.) The building was oonstructed in 1970-72 according to the
designs of architects Ifill & Johnson. The severe, unormamented concrete
facade illustrates the kuilding’s modern style. The station house was
officially opened at 12:10 p.m. on March 29, 1972, is currently assigned 140
officers, and is one of seventy-three station houses in the five boroughs.

Schools

The Anglo-American Intermational School (Formerly the Framnklin School), 18-
20 West 89th Street

In 1872, the Sachs Collegiate Academy for Boys was founded by Dr.
Julius Sachs (1849-1934), a prominent educator whoe held positions in the
Schoolmasters’ BAssociation of New York and the American Philological
Association, and a professor of secoddary education at Teachers College,
Columbia University. The Academy prepared its students for attendance at
Ivy lLeague colleges by following a classic Furopean curriculum. The school
charnged its name to the Franklin School in 1912, the vear in which its
current home at 18-20 West 89%th Strest was constructed. The school was
designed by the architectural firm of Demnison, Hirons & Darbyshire. The
functional style of the kuilding is reflected in its sparse ornament and
large expanses of glass.

The Franklin School became co-educational in 1958. In 1977, it became
associated with the Internmational School of Lordon and a curriculum to meet
both American amxd International requirements was developed. ‘Two years
later, the school’s Board of Trustees was reorganized, a non-profit
corporation was begun, and a new name was taken. Today, the Anglo-American
Intermational School continues as a college preparatory school with classes
from kindergarten through twelfth grade. There are approximately 5,000
living graduates of the Franklin School and approximately 300 currently in
attendance. The school sponsors "The Red and Blue," a literary magazine
founded in 1872 which is one of the oldest of its kird in the United States.

The Calhoun School (Farmerly the Baldwin School, Formerly the Veltin
School), 160-162 West 74th Street

In 1896, the Jacobl School for Girls was founded. Mary Edward Calhoun
became the headmistress of the School in 1915, and retained that position
for twenty-six years. One year later, the school honored its headmistress
by formally changing its name to The Calhoun School. In 1957 a oo
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educational lower school was added to the institution, and the middle and
upper schoeols turned co-educational in 1971.

In 1989, the Calhoun School increased its facilities to include the
uilding at 160-162 West 74th Street. (Previous leocations were also on the
Upper West Side.) This building was previously occupied by the Baldwin
School (which later Jjoined with the McBumey School) and was originally
built as the Veltin School, designed by the firm of Iamb & Rich in the
Georgian Revival style. While the kuilding is larger than the neighboring
rovhouses, its detail is restrained amd the design corresponds to the
residential context of 74th Street.

The Veltin School, originally established in 1886, formally opened in
its West 74th Street home on February 10, 1893, Its purpose was to
"establish a permanent West Side private day school affording girls every
ocpportunity for a thorough education from Rindergarten to college
preparatories.” The New York Times reported that the school building was
the "largest ard most thoroughly-equipped private educational institution
for young ladies" in New York City.

The Calhoun School currently accepts children from pre-kindergarten
through high school and enrolls approximately 400 students. Its cxnrriculum
is based on progressive educaticnal principles. Its main building, located
at 433 West End Avenie (outside the district boundaries), will by 1992 house
grades two through twelve. The West 74th Street building will by that time
house the pre-school children and the first grade.

The Columbia Grammar and Preparatory School, 4-8 West 93rd Street

The Columbia Grammar and Preparatory School was fourded in 1764 as The
Columbia Grammar School, a boys’ preparatory school for Kings College (later
Columbia University). Early instructors at the College complained that its
entering students were poorly prepared for their college courses, In 1763
they called for a grammar school amnex to the College to remedy this
problem. The success of the school was almost immediate; it scon supplied
the College with half of its entering freshman class. The Grammar School
remained under the College’s care for 100 years until, in 1864, Columbia
College (as it was then known) terminated the relationship. The school
continued to prosper wxder private care and has been located on the Upper
West Side since 1907. In 1909-1¢ a new building for the school was
constructed at 5 West 93rd Street (outside the district bourndaries).

In 194], Columbia Grammar School became a nocn-profit institution. In
1956, the school meryed with the Lecnard School, a girls’ school founded in
1937 by Florence Leonard and housed in several intercormected rowhouses on
West 94th Street which back onto the existing Columbia Grammar School
building. With this merger, the institution turned co—educational for the
first time. Today, the Columbia Grammar and Preparatory School is a co-
educational college preparatory school with an emphasis on art, music, ard
drama.
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The converted rovhouse at 20 West 94th Street, constructed in 1889-90
as a single-family dwelling according to the dee*.lgn of Edward Wenz in the
Renaissance Revival style, and those at 22 through 28 West 94th Street, also
designed as single family dwellings and constructed in 1888 according to the
design of Increase M. Grenell in the Queen Amme style, now serve the lower
grades from kindergarten through fourth grade. The building at 5 West 93rd
Street is now occupied by the middle schocl. The high school is located in
a recent building at 4 West 93rd Street, constructed in 1987-88 according to
the design of Pasanella & Klein.

Junior High School No. 44 -— William J. 0’Shea Junior High School, 131-149
West 76th Street

Junior High School No. 44 occupies the eastern half of the city block
bounded by 76th and 77th Streets, and Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues. The
school is named for William J. O’Shea, a lawyer who was sworm in as a member
of the New York City Board of Education on Jaruary 6, 1955. His father (of
the same name) was previously the Superintendent of Schools in New York
City. In the late 1940s and ’50s the New York City School Board found
itself short of classroom space. The forces behind this shortage were: a
growing birth rate, a large influx of immigrants and refugees, ard a
shifting of the city’s popalation. Acknowledging that momumental school
designs were a thing of the past, the school board boldly confronted these
conplex social, financial, and educational problems. Forced to devise a new
means of econamic building and design without campramising structural
safety, aesthetic qualities, or educational adeguacy, the board set upon a
new design strategy: the introduction of sparse, functional designs with
simple lines amd straightforward planning, assisted by modern building
materials includirgy steel, concrete, alumimm, and glass. Additionally,
ceiling heights were lowered, stairways reduced, and elevators installed. A
focus on functional design was found to be the answer. Constructed in 1955,
the modern design of Junior High School No. 44 created by the architectural
firm of Gehron & Seltzer, reflects this period of reform in American school
desiqgn.

The New Walden Lincoln School (Fomwerly the Walden School), 11-15 West 88th
Strect

The Walden School was fomnded in 1914 by Margaret Naumberg. Naumberg
was considered an imnovator in the field of education and utilized

progressive educational principles. By 1933 the school was located at 1
West 88th Street, in a Beaw-Arts building originally constructed for the
Progress Club in 1904 according to the design of Nathan Korn. (The Progress
Club was a prominent German-Jewish club organized in 1864. Tts Central Park
home was the third club built in the area. While the trustees thought that
a move to the West Side would increase membership, this eventually proved
ineffective and the club dissolved in 1932.) The Walden School expanded in
1958 by adding a floor to this structure.

The Ardrew Goodman Building at 11-15 West 88th Street was constructed
adjacent to the main school building in 1967. The design was by architect
Edgar Tafel, a former Walden student. The modern style of the building is
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reflected in its unornamented concrete, brick, amd dlass facade. The
structure honors Andrew Goodman, a civil rights activist who attended the
Walden School and was murdered in 1964 while seeking to further the cause cf
votirg rights in Mississippi.

The school made plans in 1984 to renovate the former club building and
erect a seventeen-story apartment house above it. when this proved
unsuccessful, the school trustees decided to demolish the club building and
replace it with an apartment tower which would also contain space for the

‘school. The Walden School vacated the club building by the fall of 1987 and ..

a new 23-story apartment building is now nearing conpletion.

The Lincoln School of Teachars College was founded in 1917 by abraham
Flexner. Like Walden, it was progressive in its aariculum. It was located
at West 100th Street and later at 210 East 77th Street, a former YMCA
uilding. Lincoln became independent from Teachers College in 1948 and in
1949 adopted the name New Lincoln. The Walden and New Lincoln Schools
merged in 1989 to cambat rising costs and shrinking enrcllment, forming the
New Walden Lincoln School, a co-educational school accepting students from
pre-kindergarten through the twelfth grade.

The Robert Iouis Stevenson School, 22 West 74th Street

The Robert louis Stevenson School was established in 1908 by [Dr.
William Whitney as a school for dirls from the elementary grades through
high schopl. The name, that of a famous author of children’s stories, was
chosen for the popular association of his works with children. The school
tumed co-educaticonal in the 1940s. Wwhen the current director, lucille
Rhodes, arrived at the school in 1960, the aim of the school then became the
education of "pramising adolescents with unrealized potential." Previously
located elsewhere on the Upper West Side, the Stevenson School moved into
its current hame at 22 West 74th Street in the early 1960s. The building
was originally constructed in 1902-04 in the Georgian Revival style
according to the design of Percy Griffin as one of a row of eighteen houses.
Currently, the Stevenson School is a co-educational high school chartered as
a not-for-profit institution and enrolls approximately 100 students.

The Stephen Gaynor School, 22 West 74th Street

The Stephen Gaynor School was organized in 1962. It is a non-profit,
co—educational school for children of pre-school age through thirteen years.
At the school, children with learning disabilities receive an education
based on milti-sensory teaching. In the mid-1960s, the school moved from
its home on the Upper East Side to the Georgian Revival style rowhouse at 22
West 74th Street. Designed by Percy Griffin, the huilding is one of a row
of eighteen houses constructed in 1902-04.

Margaret M. Pickart
Charles Savade
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CENTRAL PARK WEST
Between West 67th Street and West 68th Street [West Side]

71-75 Central Park West

Tax Map Block/lot: 1120/29
Bee: 75 Central Park West

75 Central Park West
Tax Map Block/Iot: 1120/29

CRIGINAL BUILDING DATA
DATE: 1928-29 [NB 531-1928]
TYPE: Apartment Building
ARCHITECT: Rosario Candela
OWNER/DEVELOPER: 75 Central Park West Corp.
STYLE/CRNAMENT: Neo-Renaissance
Facade(s}: Brick, limestone, and terra cotta
Number of Stories: 15
Window Type/Material: Three-aver-three double-hung/Metal
Method of Construction: Steel frame construction
Fireproof
Site formerly occupied by: One seven-story brick structure
ALTERATION (s)

Mascnry removed from window bays to enlarge openimgs in some locations.
Aluminum replacement windows installed.
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CENTRAL PARK WEST
Between West 67th Street and West 68th Street [West Side]

77 Central Park West [a/kK/a 2-10 West 68th Street)
Tax Map Block/Iot: 1120/33

ORIGINAL BUIIDING DATA
BUILDING NAME(s): The Secord Chairch of christ, Scientist
DATE: 189%%-19Q01 [NB $58~1B898]
TYPE: Church
ARCHITECT: Frederick R. Comstock
OWNER/CEVELOPER: Secord Church of Christ, Scientist
STYLE/CRNAMENT: Academic Classical
Facade(s): Marble and granite
Number of Stories: 4
Window Type/Material: Multipane arched windows/Metal

Roof Type/Material: DPeaked ard domed/Slate and copper
Method of Construction: Steel frame construction

CENTRAL PARK WEST
Between West 68th Street and West 69th Street [West Side}

BO Central Park West [a/K/a 1-13 West 68th Street)
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1121/2%

ORTGINAT, -BUTIDTNG DATA
BUIIDING NAME(s}: Qentral Park West Apartments
DATE: 1965-67 [NB 103-1965]
TYPE: Apartment Building
ARCHTTECTS: Paul Resnick and Harry F. Green
OWNER/DEVELOPER: ILondon 68 Co.

STYIE/CRNAMENT: Modern
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CENTRAL PARK WEST
Between West 68th Street ard West 69th Street {West Side)

80 Central Park West [a/k/a 1-13 West 68th Street]
Tax Map Block/Iot: 1121/29

ORIGINAL BUILDING DATA (continmied)

Facade{s): Brick and concrete
Number of Stories: 24
Window Type/Material: Tripartite single-pane/Aluminmum
(with one-over-one sidelights)
Method of Construction: Steel frame construction
Fireproof
Site formerly occupied by: Four brick~faced buildings of five, six, and
seven stories and a vacant lot

80=-81 Central Park West
Tax Map Block/lot: 1121/29
See: 80 Central Park West

88 Central Park West [a/K/a 2-10 West 68th Street]
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1121/36 in part

ORTIGINAL BUTLDING DATA
BUIIDING NAME(s): Brentmore
DATE:  1909-10 [NB 446-1809)
TYPE: Apartment Building
ARCHITECT: Schwartz & Gross
CWNER/DEVELOPER: Akron Building Co.
STYLE/ORNAMENT: Beaux-Arts/Neco-Renaissance
Facade(s): BEBrick, stone, terra cotta, and ivormork
Number of Stories: 12
Window Type/Material: Tripartite one-over-cne double-hung/Wood

Method of Construction: Steel frame construction
Fireproof
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CENTRAL PARK WEST
Between West 69th Street and Wect 70th Street [West Side)

91 Central Park West [a/kK/a 1-7 West 69th Street)
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1122/29

ORIGINAL, BUTIDING DATA

CATE: 1928-29 [NB 590-1928]

TYPE: Apartment Building

ARCHITECT: Schwartz & Gross

OWNER/DEVELOPER: Caul Realty Corp.

STYILE/ORNAMENT: Neo-Renaissance with Beaux-Arts elements

Facade(s): Brick, stone, and terra cotta

Murber of Stories: 15

Method of Construction: Steel frame construction
Fireproof

Site formerly occupied by: Two seven-story huildings including "The
Catherine® and three rowhouses

99 Central Park West [a/kK/a 2~4 West 70th Street)
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1122/36
Individual lLandmark (Synagogue only)
ORIGINAL BUTIIDING DATA
BUILDING MAME(s): Corngregation Shearith Israel Synagogue & Rectory
DATE: 1B96-97 [NB 104~1896]
TYPE: Synagogue and Rectory
ARCHTTECT: Brumner & Tryon
OWNER/DEVELOPER: Congregaticn Shearith Israel

STYLE/CRNAMENT: Academic Classical and Beaux-Arts
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CENTRAL FARK WEST
Between West 6%th Street and West 70th Street (West Side]

99 Central Park West [a/k/a 2-4 West 70th Street)
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1122/36
Individual Landmark (Synagoque only)

ORIGINAL BUTIDING DATA (continued)

Facade(s): Limestone

Number of Stories: 1 and 3 with basement

Window Type/Material: Multipane stained glass/Wood
One—over-che double-hung/Wood

Basement Type: Raised (rectory)

Stoop Type: St:;aight (rectory) .

Roof Type/Material: Peaked & mansard/Tin & copper

Method of Construction: Masonry bearing walls

ALTERATION (s)

Rectory raised from two to three stories and mansard roof added.
1902: Alt 1140-1902 [Source: Alteration Application]

Architect -~ William H. Hume & Son Owner -- Congregation Shearith Israel

CENTRAL PARK WEST
Between West 70th Street and West 71st Street [West Side]

101 central Park West [as/k/a 1-7 West 70th Street

2-4 West 71st Street]
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1123/29

CORIGINAT, BULILDING DATA

DATE: 1929-30 [NB 574-1929]
TYPE: Apartment Building
ARCHITECT: sSchwartz & Gross
OWNER/DEVELOPER: 1081 Park avemue, Inc.

STYIE/ORNAMENT: HNec-Renaissance

11
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CENTRAL. PARK WEST
Between West 70th Streest and West 71st Street [West Side)

101 Central Park West [a/kK/a 1-7 West 70th Street
2-4 West 7lst Street}
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1123/29

ORIGINAL BUTEDING DATA (continued)

Facade(s): Brick, stone, and terra cotta
Number of Stories: 17
Windoew Type/Material: Six-over-one double-hung/Wood
Paired siv-over-one double-hung/Wood
Method of Construction: Steel frame construction
Fireproof

Site formerly occaupied by: Two brick-fronted buildings of ten and twelve

stories with basements

101-105 Central Park West
Tax Map Block/Lot: 1123/29
See: 101 Central Park West

CENTRAL PARK WEST
Between West 71st Street and West 72nd Street {West Side)

115 Central Park West [a/k/a 1-15 West 71st Street
2-10 West 72rd Streest)
Tax Map Block/ILot: 1124/27
Individual Landmark
ORTGINAL, BUTLDING DATA
BUILDING NAME(s): The Majestic
DATE: 1930-31 [NB 215-1930)
TYPE: Apartment Building
ARCHITECT: Irwin S. Chanin
OWNER/DEVELOPER: Majestic Hotel Corp.

STYLE/CRNAMENT: Art Deco
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GEORGE LITTON

™
91 CENTRAL PARK WEST r E .
NEW YORK, N.Y. 10023 . ' : 3
March 31, 1982 P
b i082

n L o
The Board ©f Trusteoes “‘"NﬂiRkAr
Congreqation Shearith Israel COMMISS ION lon

The ©panish 3 Portugese Synagoqu» *
8 Wesc 70th Stroeat
New York City, NY 10023

Gentlomen:

On Mareh 9, 1982, Mr, Jules Mayoer, President of
91 Central Park West Corporation wrote Mr. Edgar J. Nathan, 3rd,
President of the Spanish & Portugesce Synagoauc expressing concern
o behall o!f our tenant-shareholders respecting the impact on our
adjeining building and community of your high-rise developmoent
wlons as reported in the press. Mr. Mayer requested confirmation
of our understanding that you will consult with us and with other
community aroups prior to any implerentation of such plans.
Mr. Mayer rosorts receiving informal assurances in this regard,
but to date we have received no official communication Or
information from the Synagoque.

Tor th. sake of accd orxder, I confirm the readiness of Lhe
Central Park West Advisory Commiittee upon reasonable advance
ot ice to neet with reopresentatives of the Synagoque .nd with
a1l other intrrested community garoups, of ficials, and governmental
cocnceies having jurisdiction in ordo r to begin discuscion of your
S lonment plans. We are incroasingly concerned by continuing
prass raporkts of very specific development plans of which we have
f knowleda.

i

we should appreciate your advice regarding a proposed date
and place for our first meeting ot which we could anticipate
receiving needed information., Thank you for your coasideration.

Very truly yours,

31 CENTRAL
ADVISORY

por: G
o Chairman
GiTica of the Mayor
hoew York City Coungil
Cityry Planning Commission
Conmunity Board 7 / Manhattan Borough President
".5. Congrogssmen
tew York State Senatars & Representalives
I udrmoarks Preservation Commission:
I'embers, 91 Central Park West Advisory Committec
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